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August 11 , 2016 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

This is in response to your Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request dated May 25, 
2016 in which you asked for a copy of 17 VA OIG reports. Your request was received in 
this office on May 25, 2016. 

We have assigned FOIA Tracking Number 16-00299-FOIA to your request. Please 
refer to it whenever communicating with VA about your request. 

We have enclosed a copy of the requested records. However, all inter-agency or intra­
agency memorandums or letters which would not be available by law to a party other 
than an agency in litigation with the agency have been withheld under FOIA Exemption 
5, 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(5). A total of 5 pages have been withheld in their entirety under 
FOIA Exemption 5 as cited above. 

We are also withholding all information which , if disclosed, would constitute a clearly 
unwarranted invasion of an individual's personal privacy under FOIA Exemption 6, 5 
U.S.C. § 552 (b)(6) , and Exemption 7C, 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(7)(C). Specifically, names, 
job titles and other information which could reveal the identity of individuals mentioned 
in the records have been withheld . We do not find any public interest that outweighs the 
privacy interests of the individuals. 

You may appeal this decision within 60 calendar days of the date of this determination 
by submitting a signed , written statement by mail , fax, or email. You may submit your 
appeal by using either of the following addresses or fax number: 

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
Office of Inspector General 
Office of the Counselor (50C) 
810 Vermont Avenue, N.W. 
Washington , DC 20420 



VAOIGFOIA-Appeals@va.gov 

(Fax) 202.495.5859 

The appeal should include: 

1. The name of the FOIA Officer 
2. The date of the determination, if any 
3. The precise subject matter of the appeal 

If you choose to appeal only a portion of the determination, you must specify which part 
of the determination you are appealing. · 

The appeal should include a copy of the request and VA's response, if any. The appeal 
should be marked "Freedom of Information Act Appeal". 

Sincerely, 

'>--.. 

Enclosures 

of Information Office 
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To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations: 
Telephone: 1-800-488-8244 

E-Mail: Hvaoiqhotllne@va.gov 
(Hotline Information: Hhttp://www.va.gov/olg/contacts/hotline.asplI) 



Department of 
Veteran Affairs 

Dact: March 4, 20 IO 

Memorandum 

From: Assistant Inspector General for Audits and Evaluations (52) 

subJ: Final Report - Independent Review ofVA's Fiscal Year 2009 Perfonnance 
Summary Report to the Office of National Drug Control Policy 

ro: Deputy Chief Patient Care Services, Veterans Health Administration (116) 
Chief Research and Development Officer, Veterans Health Administration(12) 

I. The Office oflnspector General is required to review the Department of Veterans 
Affairs' (VA) Fiscal Year (FY) 2009 Performance Summary Report to the Director, 
Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), pursuant to ONDCP Circular: Drug 
Control Accounting (Circular), dated May l, 2007, and as authorized by 21 U.S.C. 
§ 1703( d)(7 ). The Performance Summary Report is the responsibility of VA' s 
management and is included in this report as Attachment A (Patient Care) and 
Attachment B (Research and Development). The Circular is included as 
Attachment C. 

2. W,e have reviewed, according to the Circular's criteria and requirements. whether 
VA has a system to capture performance information accurately and whetht:r that 
system was properly applied to generate the perfonnance data reported in the 
Perfonnance Summary Rep01t. We have also reviewed whether VA offered a 
reasonable explanation for failing to meet a performance target and for any 
recommendations concerning plans and schedules for meeting foture targets or for 
revising or eliminating performance targets; whether the methodology described in the 
Performance Summary Report and used to establish performance targets for the current 
year is reasonable given past performance and available resources; and whether VA 
has established at least one acceptable performance measure for each Drug Control 
Decision Unit, as defined by the Circular, for which a significant amount of 
obligations were incurred. 

3. Our rt:view was conduc:h:d in accordance with attestation standards established by 
the American Institute of Certifkd Public Accountants, and the applicable standards 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. An attestation review is substantially less in scope than an examination, 



4. Based upon our review and the criteria of the Circular: 

)- Nothing crune to our attention that caused us to believe that VA does not have 
a system to capture performance information accurately and the system was 
not properly applied to generate the performance data reported in the 
Performance Summary Report in all material respects; 

)- Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that VA did not meet 
its FY 2009 target for the "Continuity of Care" performance measure (Patient 
Care) and the substance abuse disorder on-going studies pcrfonnance measure 
(Research and Development), in all material respects. As a result, VA is not 
required to offer an explanation for failing to meet a performance target, for 
recommendations concerning plans and schedules for meeting future targets, or 
for revising or eliminating perfonnancc targets; 

}'> Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the methodology 
described in the Perfonnance Summary Reports establishing performance 
targets for the current year is not reasonable given past performance and 
available resources, in all material respects; and 

;.. Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that VA did not 
establish at least one acceptable performance measure for each Drug Control 
Decision Unit~ as defined by the Circular, for which a significant amount of 
obligations were incurred in the previous fiscal year, in all material respects. 

5. We provided you our draft report for review. You concurred with our report 
without further comments. 

6. This report is intended solely for the information and use of the U.S. Congress, the 
ONDCP, and VA management. This report is not intended to be and should not be 
used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

(original signed by:) 
Belinda J. Finn 

Attachments 
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Independent Review of VA's Fiscal Year 2009 Performance Summary Report 
--------------------'t-=-o-=-t'-'-hec__;:_O.;..:m::::c=-=e_:co::_:_f ~~tlonal Drug Control Policy 

Attachment A 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
Veterans Health Administration 

FY 2009 Performance Summary Report 

I. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Decision Unit l: Veterans Health Administration 

Measure 1: Continuity of Care 

Table I 
FY 2005 rv 2006 FY 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY2009 
Actual Actual Actual Actual Tarnet Actual 
35% 37% 44% 48% 47% 52% 

FY 2010 
Tar!let 
47% 

(a) This measure was established to promote better substance use disorder (SUD) 
treatment outcomes. Jt applies to patients entering specialty treatment for SUD in 
inpatient. residential, domiciliary or outpatient programs, but not opioid substitution, to 
determine if they are staying in treatment for at least 90 days. Research has shown that 
good addiction treatment outcomes are contingent on adequate lengths of treatment. 
Many patients drop out during the initial 90 days of trealmt:nt with limited clinical benefit 
and high rates of relapse. While two contacts per month for at least three months would 
rarely be sutlicicnt, most patients with chronic conditions require ongoing treatment for 
at least this duration to establish early remission. Note: SUD includes patients with an 
alcohol or drug use disorder diagnosis or both. 

Indicator: Percent of patients beginning a new episode of treatment for SUD who 
maintain continuous treatment involvement for at least 90 days after qualifying date 
Numerator: Veterans beginning a new episode of treatment for SUD who maintain 
continuous treatment involvement for at leas! 90 days as demonstrated by at least 2 days 
with visits every 30 days for a total of 90 days in any of the outpatient specialty SUD 
clinics. 
Denominator: Veterans beginning a new episode of specialty treatment for SUD 

(b) In FY 2009, 52% of VA patients in a specialized SUD program successfully met the 
measure, exceeding the target of 4 7%. 

{c) Performance results are updated monthly on a VA intranet site and discussed on semi­
monthly national conference calls. In addition to establishing standards and providing 
feedback, pay incentives of leaders at the network, facility, service. and program level are 
directly linked to these quality metrics. Expansion funding over the past several years has 
been used to improve the continuum of care in order to promote retention. This includes 
efforts to arrange accessible transitional housing to facilitate program attendance and 
establishing telemental health services capability at additional locations. Consultation is 
offered through national resources including the Subsrance Use Disorder Quality 
Enhancement Re.search Initiative and the Centers of Excellence in Substance Abuse 
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Attachment A 

Treatment and Education. Informatics tools are shared within and across VIS"t\s to 
promote active patient tracking and outreach. 

(d) Performance Measures are maintained by the VHA Office of Quality and 
Performance. In the case oflhc SUD measure, workload data generated at the facility is 
transmitted to the VHA Austin Information Technology Center. The extraction 
methodology uses the appropriate DSS identifier codes (stop codes) to select the patients 
who meet the criteria for inclusion in the measure. The patient data is then extracted 
from the Austin PTF files and is maintained by the Office of Quality and Performance. A 
copy of the FY 2009 Office of Quality and Performance, Substance Use Disorder, 
Continuity of Care Technical Manual Chapter is attached. 

II. MANAGEMENT'S ASSERTIONS 

(I) Performance reporting systems a)lpropriate and applied. 
Perfonnance Measures are maintained by the VHA Oflicc of Quality and Performance. 
In the case of the SUD m..:asure, workload data generated at the facility is transmitted to 
the VHA Austin Data Center. The extraction methodology uses the appropriate DSS 
identifier codes (stop codes) to select the patients who meet the criteria for inclusion in 
the measure. The patient data is then extracted from the Austin PTF files and is 
maintained by the Office of Quality and Performance. The system was properly applied 
to generate the performance data. 

(2) Explanations for not meeting performance targets are reasonable. 
Jn fY 2009 the target or 47% was exceeded with an actual rate of 52%. 

(3) Methodology to establish performance targets is reasonable and applied. The 
target measures are set by the VHA Office of Quality Performance in conjunction with 
the Office of Patient Care Services and for FY 10 the target will remain at 47%. 

(4) Adequate performance measures exist for all significant drug control activities 
VHA is measuring the identification and treatment of lhose having a SUD issue. 
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Attachment 

FY 2009, Q4vl 
TECHNICAL MANUAL 

for the 

VHA 
Performance Measurement 

System 

Office of Quality and Performance (lOQ) 

July 15, 2009 
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Independent Review of VA's Fiscal Year 2009 Performance Summary Report 
to the Office of National Drug Control Polley 

Attachment A 

Performance Measure 19: Mental Health Measure 
19a Substance Use Disorder- Continuity of Care 

VHA Performance Measure (mnemonic saS) 

Rationale: 
This measure applies to patients entering specialty treatment for substance use disorders 
(inpatient, residential, domiciliary or outpatient, but not opioid substitution), to determine if 
they are staying In treatment for at least 90 days. It involves 100% review of administrative 
databases using clinic stop codes to determine specialty care of substance use disorders 
(SUD). The performance period applies to patients completing their 90-day retention period 
from October 08 through August 09. Research has shown that good addiction treatment 
outcomes are contingent on adequate lengths of treatment. There is no predetermined 
length of addiction treatment that assures success, but duration of treatment is the factor 
most consistently associated with successful addiction treatment outcome1

•
2

'
3

·
4

• Many 
patients drop out during the initial 90 days of treatment with Hmited clinical benefit and high 
rates of relapse. Wh!le two contacts per month for three months would rarely be sufficient, 
most patients require ongoing treatment for at least this duration to establish early 
remission. 

Various patient, provider and program level interventions have been associated with 
improved treatment retention5l•.7, The initial intensity of treatment should be considered 
primarily as a means to promote treatment retention, e.g., severely dependent patients 
typically may require multiple treatment contacts per week in order to stabilize early 
remission. However, for many patients following initial stabilization, it may be appropriate to 
provide a lower intensity of addiction-focused treatment extending over a longer duration 
with superior remission rates for those who remain engaged ln treatment for 6-12 
monthsM. Available evidence supports the effectiveness of telephone follow-up for patients 
after they have stabilized during the initial weeks of outpatient treatment10•11 • Many 
individuals continue to benefit from treatment (e.g., methadone maintenance) over a period 
of years. · 

Consistent with the VHA/DoD Guideline for Treatment of Substance Use Disorder12
, 

this performance measure is intended to emphasize the importance of early treatment 
retention as an essential condition of quality care for addiction. Treatment duration beyond 
3 months presents important opportunities to individualize treatment plans consistent with 
treatment response over time by adjusting the intensity of psychosocial interventions (e.g., 
frequency of group sessions), pharmacotherapy (e.g., dose amount and monitoring 
frequency), community recovery support (e.g., promoting Twelve-Step program 
Involvement), and management of co-morbid conditions. 

References & Resources: 
1Crits-Cristoph, P., & Slqueland, L (1996). Psychosocial treatment for drug abuse: selected 
review and recommendations for national health care. Archives of General Psychiatry, 53, 
749-756. 
2McKay, J.R., Lynch, K.G., Shepard, D.S., Pettinati, H. (2005). The Effectiveness of 
Telephone-Based Continuing Care for Alcohol and Cocaine Dependence: 24 Month 
Outcomes. Archives of General Psychiatry, 62,199·207. 

3Simpson, D.0., Joe, G.W., & Brown, B.S. (1997). Treatment retention and follow-up 
outcomes in the Drug Abuse Treatment Outcome Study (DATOS). Psychology of Addictive 
Behaviors, 11, 294-307. 
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1Zhang, Z., Friedmann, P.D., Gerstein, D.R. (2003). Does retention matter? Treatment 
duration and improvement in drug use. Addiction, 98, 673-684. 
5Lash, S.J., Stephens, R.S., Burden, J.L., et al. (2007). Contracting, prompting, and 
reinforcing substance use disorder continuing care: A randomized clinical trial. Psychology of 
Addictive Behaviors. 21, 387-97. 
5Schaefer, J.A., Ingudomnukul, E., Harris, A.H.S., & Cronkite, R.C. (2005). Continuity of 
care practices and substance use disorder patients' engagement In continuing care. Medical 
Care, 43, 1234-1241. 
7Shepard, D.S., Calabro, J.A.B., Love, C.T., McKay, J.R., Tetreault, J., & Yeom, H.S. (2006). 
Counselor incentives to improve client retention in an outpatient substance abuse aftercare 
program. Administration and Policy in Mental Health, 33, 629-635. 
8Flnney, J. W ., & Moos, R. H. {2002). Psychosocial treatments for alcohol use disorders. rn 
P. E. Nathan & J. M. Gorman (Eds.), A Guide to Treatments That Work (2nd ed.; pp. 157-
168.), New York: Oxford University Press. 
9Ritsher, J.B., Moos, R.H., Finney, J. W. (2002). Relationship of treatment orientation and 
continuing care to remission among substance abuse patients. Psychiatric Services, 53, 
595-601. 
10McKay, J.R., Lynch, K.G., Shepard, D.S., Ratichek, S., Morrison, R., Koppenhaver, J., & 
Pettinati, H. (2004) The effectiveness of telephone-based continuing care In the clinical 
management of alcohol and cocaine use disorders: 12 month outcomes. Journal of 
Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 72, 967-79. 
11McKay, J.R. (2005). Is there a case for extended interventions for alcohol and drug use 
disorders? Addiction, 100, 1594-1610 
12The VHA/DoD SUD Guideline (especially Module R Annotation H) 
http://www.ogp.med.va.gov/cpg/SUD/SUD Base.htm 
Moos, R. H., Finney, J. W., Ouimette, P. C., & Suchlnsky, R. T. (1999). A comparative 
evaluation of substance abuse treatment: Treatment orient;:ition, amount of care, and 1-
year outcomes. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 23, 529-536 
• Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment A Research-Based Guide 

http://www.nlda.nih.gov/PODAT/PODATS.html#FAQS 

Indicator Statement: Percent of patients beginning a new episode of treatment for SUD 
who maintain continuous treatment involvement for at least 90 days after qualifying date 

Numerator: Veterans beginning treatment for SUD who maintain continuous treatment 
involvement for at least 90 days as demonstrated by at least 2 days with visits every 30 
days for a total of 90 days in any of the outpatient specialty SUD clinics. 

Denominator: Veterans beginning specialty treatment for SUD 

Exclusions: 
Non veterans are excluded from this measure. They are identified by either a means 
test response of "n", "no" (zero) which represents a "non-vet", or by eligibility status 
indicating non veteran. 

• Patients without an Initial enrollment date 
• Patients discharged dead or deceased during the 90-day retention period. To be 

captured for this measure, data must be in AITC or Beneficiary Identification Record 
Locator System (BIRLS). 

• Smoking cessation visits are excluded. When stop code 707 is paired with any SUD 
code, the SUD visit is not used in this measure 

Note: Clinic visits to outpatient SUD clinic stops 513 SA-IND or 514 SA-Home or 519 
SA/PTSD or 547 inter-SA TRT, or 560 SA GRP are included in this measure. For discussion 
on the use of telephone stop code 545, see Table C below. Therefore all other clinic visits, 
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including non SUD clinic visits and Opioid Substitution visits (Clinic code 523) are not 
considered In this measure. 

Cohort: Universe Includes all veterans with an SUD outpatient encounter or inpatient 
discharge from SUD specialty bed section In VHA. 

Definitions: 
• There are 3 events in time analyzed in this measure: 

o Negative SUD Treatment History also called Dormancy . 
o New SUD treatment episode through outpatient or Inpatient qualification 
o Continuous treatment Involvement during the retention period of three 30 day 

Intervals 
TABLE A - Events in Time 

Event Negative SUD Qualification as New SUD Episode Continuous Treatment Involvement 

Event 
Description 

Outpatient 
Qualified 
Event. in Time 

Inpatient 
Qualified 
Events in Time 

Treatment (Retention Period) 90 Total Days 
History 
(Dormancy) 
90 day period Inpatient or Outpatient 
of no SUD Qualification Data -= T 
treatment in 
the 90 days 
priorto the l st 
outpatient 
qualifying 
event date 
(T ·90) minus 
total days 
from 1st to 3rd 
outpatient 
qualifying 
event 

None required 
for inpatient 
qualification 

1st 
Qualifyi 
ng 
Event 
Date 
Not 
earlier 
than T-
29 

2rid 
Qualifying 
Event 
Date 
Not 

earlier 
than T-28 

3rd 
Qualifying 
Event 
Date 
T 

1st and only Qualifying event 
T = Date Qf any Inpatient 
discharge or transfer from a SUD 
bed-sec:tion 

1st 30 
days of 
retention 

2 SUD 
visits in 
period 
greater 
than T but 
not later 
than T+30 

2 SUD 
visits in 
period 
greater 
than T but 
not later 
than T+30 

2nd 30 
days of 
retention 

2 SUD 
visits in 
period 
greater 
than T+30 
but not 
later than 
T+60 

2 SUD 
visits in 
period 
greater 
than Tt30 
but not 
later than 
T+60 

3rd 30 
days of 
retention 

2 SUD 
visits in 
period 
greater 
than T+60 
t>ut not 
rater than 
T+90 

2 SUD 
visits i11 
period 
greater 
than T+50 
but not 
later than 
T+90 

• Veterans beginning new SUD treatment episode: To qualify as a New SUD Outpatient 
Episode, two criteria must be met: 

o A 90-day Negative SUD outpatient or Inpatient treatment history (no SUD 
outpatient visit, telephone 545, specialty SUD Inpatient admission or discharge or 
inpatient SUD encounters} before the date of the 1st of three qualifying SUD 
outpatient visits and 

Three visits within 30 days to outpatient SUD clinic stops 513 SA-IND or 514 SA-Home or 
519 SA/PTSD or 547 inter-SA TRT, or 560 SA GRP. listed 

o stops are Included if paired with other stops as primary or secondary except 
smoking cessation 707 OR opioid substitution 523. SUD Telephone visits (Stop 
Code 545) wll/ NOT be used to qualify new SUD treatment episodes. 

The date of the 3rd SUD visit In 30 days is the "qualifying" date for the outpatient track. 
The retention period begins the next day. 
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Patients who accrue outpatient workload while in an inpatient SUD bed section will not 
"qualify" for the measure via the outpatient track. Since inpatient workload may not be 
available L1ntil after discharge, the patient may be "picked up" as new and tracked for a 
period of time. However, upon SUD specialty inpatient discharge or transfer, the outpatient 
track will be dropped and the patient will be qualified in the inpatient track. 

To qualify as a New SUD lnpatient Episode, a single criterion must be met: 
• a discharge or transfer from SUD Inpatient bed section (PTF Discharge Specialty 27 SA 

Res Rehab or 74 SA Hl INT, 86 DOM SA with a length of stay at least 4 calendar days. 

The SUD bed section discharge or transfer date is the "qualifying" date for the Inpatient 
track. The retention period begins the next day. 
• Continuous Treatment Cnvolvement (Retention period): Continuous treatment 

Involvement for at least 90 days is defined as visits on at least 2 days during every 30 
day retention interval for a total of 90 days (three discrete 30 day intervals) in any of 
the outpatient specialty SUD clinics. The continuous SUD treatment retention period 
begins the day a~er the qualifying date and ends the 90th day from the beginning of the 
continuous treatment involvement retention period. 

• Telephone care: Substance use disorder dlnical care by telephone which meets the 
same standard as face·to-face visits (e.g. staff qualificatfons, time spent with the 
veteran, etc.) will be accepted for continuity of care for visits during the 2nd and 3rd 30-
day retention intervals. Stop code 545 (telephone Substance Abuse) will be used for the 
measure. Telephone visits will not be used to "qualify" new veterans into the measure. 

• Admission during the retention period: If a veteran has already qualffied for the 
measure (from the inpatient or the outpatient tracks) and, during the retention period 
has an admission to or a discharge from one of the SUD inpatient bed sections listed 
above, and LOS 

o < 4 calendar days will have no effect on the measure. 
o At least 4 calendar days, the veteran will be dropped from the previous qualifying 

track. Upon discharge or transfer from the SUD bed section, he will re-qualify for 
the measure. 

Scoring: N/0*100 =Percent 

Veterans seen in multiple facilities will be attributed to the facility where the last retention 
visit occurred in order to promote coordinated transitions between facilities. 
• If the veteran is .o.Ql: seen in any substance abuse clinic ill VHA during the 1st 30 days of 

the retention period, he fails the measure. The failure will be attributed to the facility 
where the 'qualifying' event occurred (i.e. where the 3rd visit occurred that qualified the 
veteran as beginning a new episode of care or where the veteran was discharged from 
inpatient SUD care). 
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• If the veteran is seen for a 1st retention visit In a substance abuse clinic during the 1st 

30-day retention period but is not seen again, the patient fails the measure. The failure 
will be attributed to the facility where the first retention visit occurred. 

• If the patient passed the first 30-day retention interval requirement but failed to meet 
the 2nd 30-day retention interval requirement, the patient falls the measure and the 
failure is attributed to the facility where the latest retention visit occurred. 

• If the patient passed the first and second 30-day retention interval requirement but 
failed to meet the 3rd 30-day retention interval requirement, the patient falls the 
measure and the failure Is attributed to the facility where the latest retention visit 
occurred. 

Time frame issues; Reports include patients who have completed the retention period 
during the report month or quarter selected. The performance period ls consistent with 
EPRP quarters. 

TABLE B: Substance Use Disorder R1morting Tlmellnes and Workload Inclusion Information 
EPRP Months OQP Oormam:y Index Index Index Index 
Lagged included in Executive Check Range Episode 1st Episode Episode Episode 
Quarter quarter= Briefing {T- days to Qualification Qualifir;atlo Retention Retention 

Patients Book first Visit Date n Date (T) Start Date Completio 
completing RePortln qualification Range for Range (T+l) n Date 
their retention g Date visit date - 01Jtpatient Range (T+90} 
oerlod in: 90) nualification Ranae 
Oct, Nov First 03/06/0B - 06/04/08 - 07/03/08 - 07/04/08- 10/01/08 -

1 Friday 05/05/08 06/30/08 09/01/08 09/02/08 11/30/08 
February ' 
09 

2 Oc:t, Nov, Dec, First 03/06/08 - 06/04/08 - 07/03/0S • 07/04/08- l0/01/08· 
Jan, Feb Friday 08/31/08 11/29/08 12/01/08 12/02/08 02/29/09 

Mav 09 
3 Oct, Nov, Dec:, First 03/06/08 - 06/04/08- 07/03/08 - 07/04/08- 10/01/08 

Jan, Feb, Mar, Friday 12/01/08 02/29/09 03/02/09 03/03/09 05/31/09 
Apr, May Au91Jst 

09 
4 Oct, Nov, Dec:, Mid· 03/06/08 - 06/04/08 - 07/03/08 - .. 0·7 /04/08- 10/01/08-

Jan, Feb, Mar, O<::tober 03/02/09 05/31/09 06/02/09 06/03/09 08/31/09 
Apr, May, Jun, 09 
Jul Aua 

Data 
• Origin: Workload generated in VlstA and sent to AITC. Data submitted after the 

quarterly report has been coHected pertaining to veteran care already reported will be 
updated during the following quarterly run. 

• Sample size & Extraction: 100% from AITC database by OQP. 
• Repository: Monthly, facility, VISN, VHA and SSN specific data are available for trouble 

shooting and understanding local patterns retrospectively after the completion of a 
retention period; however this is not sufficiently dose to 'real time' data to provide 
prospective tracking during the retention period. See VSSC Web 
htto: //yssc. med. va .gov /PM/SUD.asp 

Will these sources be used to contribute Information for soeclfied oeriod/event? 
TABLE C Events/ Data Source Use Durina Dormancv, Ouallflcation. and Retention Determination 

Dormant ouallfvlna Retention 
SUD Clinic I Yes. SUD clinic stops are used to Yes. SUD clinic stops wfll be used Yes. SUD clinic stops 
stops evaluate the dormant period. E.g. to qualify a veteran. For will be used to 

It the patient has SUD clinic stops, example, if a veteran has 3 visits determine retention 
they will be considered "NOT in 30 days, he q1Jalifles in the compli;mce. 
d~mant" and do not newly qualify measure. 
for the measure for at least 90 
more davs. 
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TABL! C Events I Data Source Use Durlno Dorman..., Oualification and Retention Determination 

Telephone 
stop 545 

Inpatient 
SUD Oischg 
w/ LOS~ 4 
calendar 
days 

Inpatient w/ 
SUD 
Encounters 1 

Census on 
SUD bed 
section w/ 
LOS 2 4 
calendar days 

Dormant Ouallfvlna 
Yes. Telephone clinic stop 545 will 
l:>e used to evaluate the dormant 
period. For example, Pt is 
receiving SUD 'maintenance' 
telephone care (545) so will 
'show-up' in a search for 'donnant 
time' and 'count' as SUD visits, 
therefore the patient will not be 
'dormant' if 545 visits are present. 

Yes. Discharge data will be 
evaluated and considered as 
active SUD workload when 
evaluating the dormant period. 
Therefore, if a patient has an 
admission or diGCharge during the 
dorma11t period, it wUI not be 
considered 'dormant'. 

No. SUD encounters provided on 
inpatients will NOT be used to 
evaluate for a dormant period. 
Therefore if a patjent has received 
SUO consult while an inpatient (on 
any bed section), it will not be 
considered when evaluating for a 
dormant period. If the patient 
had ONLY Inpatient encounters for 
90 days, he will be considered as 
havin<1 a 'dormant' oeriod. 
No. SUD census data will not be 
used to evaluate a dormant period 
(when the patient Is discharged, 
the measure will pick-up the 
discharge Information) 

No. 545 will NOT be used to 
evaluate for qualifying events. 
E.g. pt has a true dormant period 
(no SUD workload in 90 days) 
then 3 telephone visits in 30 
days. This workload will NOT be 

, used to determine a 'qualifying' 
event. The patient will not be 
considered newly 'qualified' based 
on 545 workload. 
Yes. Oischarge data from an inpt 
SUD bed section will be used as a 
qualifying event. Such a 
discharge will 'discom1ectjdrop' 1.1 
veteran from any previous 
qualifying track ANO will re­
qualify a patient with a new 
qualifying date. 

No. SUD encounters provided on 
inpatients will NOT be used to 
evaluate for qualifying events 

No. SUD census data will not be 
used to evaluate for a qualifying 
event (when the patient is 
discharged, the measure will pick-

' up the discharge information) 

Retention 
Yes. 545 clinic stops 
will be used to 
determine retention 
compliance In the 
2nd & 3rd period only 

Yes. rr a patient was 
ADMITTED to a SUD 
Bed Section d urlng 
the retention period, 
those data will be 
used to 'djsconnect' 
him from the 
previous qualifying 
track. He will be re­
qualified upon 
discharge or transfer 
from the SUD Bed 
sec. 
Yes. SUD encounters 
provided on 
inpatients will be 
used to evaluatf! 
retention compliance 

Yes (partially}. SUD 
census data will be 
used to evalu.,te 
whether to 
'disconnect' a vet 
from previous 
qualifying track. But 
it will not be used to 
meet retention visit 
requirements. The 
patient will be re­
qualified upon 
discharge from the 
SUD Bed Section. 

: TbtS< ""''oncountcr fonns' genorRted while a poticn! is ad1nincd lo"" iopatient bed ucction. Pri<ittu 2005. ·""':i'"i""!' workload fur 'inpa\iontt' was '_bl""hd' at 
tht factllty ;and n(lt &Ubmdrttd co tbc Au.sliD Au•om.1t.tlor1 CenltL In 200S. VllA rcnm'itd lhi:s block Md alkil'·! ~oc;o1.mters for profes:;.1011.:it ~ciTld-0.ad pro1ndcd tV. 
inpa1ients to be ceflf to Ai.tStin. Sec DJR"ctive 20fJ6--t)26 a< bttL'Lilyaw». I \:?. g.o\·iyhanuhh~l1iOJ1!.:pµbl~.!tiQn1 ctm""t::L.:b-J A1tacllrnt"~i A. 
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Attachm&nt B 

Office of Research and Development, 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

Fiscal Year 2009 Performance Summary Report 
To the Office of National Drug Control Policy 

l. Performance Information 

Performance Measure: Each fiscal year the Office of Research and Development 
(ORD) will have at least l 0 ongoing studies directly related to substance abuse disorder: 
5 ongoing studies related to alcohol abuse and 5 ongoing studies related to other 
substance abuse. 

How the measure is used in the program: Most ORD-funded studies are investigator­
initiated. Many clinicians who treat patients also perform research, so their research is 
targeted at diseases and disorders that they treat. Investigators will be encouraged to 
undertake research in this important area. 

Performance results for the previous fiscal years: Jn fiscal year (FY) 2008, ORD 
funded 17 studies related to substance abuse disorder, 3R related to alcohol abuse, and 14 
that were related to both substance abuse disorder and alcohol abuse. 

Comparison of the most recent fiscal year to its target: The targets for FY 2009 were 
exceeded. See Table I. 

Target for the current fiscal year: Although the actual values (number of studies) 
exceeded the target for FY 2009, we have not increased the target for FY 20 I 0. This is 
because there is wide variation in the amount of funding per pr~ject. The more expensive 
studies are usually multisite clinical trials. Leaving the target at its present leve1 would 
allow flexibility in the types of studies that are funded. 

Procedures used to ensure that the performance data is accurate, complete, and 
unbiased. The data is obtained from the Ofiice of Research and Development's (ORD's) 
database that lists all of its funded projects. A report is produced that list<> all funds sent to 
the VA medical centers for projects on drug and alcohol dependence for the four ORD 
services for a given fiscal year. The number of projects in the list is counted. 

12 



Independent Review ofVA's Fiscal Year 2009 Performance Summary Report 
to the Office of National Drug Control Policy 

Attachment B 

Table I 

Measure 
FY 2008 FY2009 FY2009 FYlOIO 
Actual Target Actua1 Target 

Number of ongoing research studies 
17 5 20 5 

related to substance abuse disorder 
Number of ongoing research studies 

38 s 45 5 related to alcohol abuse 
Number of ongoing research studies 
related to both substance abuse 14 lO 
disorder and alcohol abuse 

2. Management Assertions 

Performance reporting system is appropriate and applied. 

The VA Office of Research and Development (ORD) consists of four main divisions: 

Biomedical Laboratory: Supports preclinical research to understand life processes 
from the molecular, genomic, and physiological level in regard to diseases affecting 
Veterans. 

Clinical Science: Administers investigations, inc1uding human subject research, to 
determine feasibility or effectiveness of new treatments (e.g., drugs, therapy, or 
devices) in small clinical trials or multi-center cooperative studies, aimed at learning 
more about the causes of disease and developing more effective clinical care. 

The Cooperative Studies Program (CSP) is a major division within Clinical Science 
R&D that specializes in designing, conducting, and managing national and 
international multi-site clinical trials and epidemiological research. 

Health Services: Supports studies to idcntily and promote effective and efficient 
strategies to improve the organization, cosl~effectiveness, and delivery of quality 
heal th care to Veterans. 

Rehabilitation: Develops novel approaches lo restore Veterans with traumatic 
amputation, central nervous system injuries, Joss of sight and/or hearing, or other 
physical and cognitive impairment~ to full and productive lives. 
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lri order for funds to be allocated to a project, they must he entered into the 
Research Analysis Forecasting Tool (RAFT) database. 

Starting in FY 2009, all Merit Review proposals (our major funding mechanism) were 
submitted electronically via the eRA Commons system, and projects that were approved 
for funding were identified. Funding data for these projects were transferred 
electronically to RAFT. A fow Career Development proposals are included in the list of 
projects. These proposals are not yet submitted via the eRA Commons system, so they 
are tracked via spreadsheets and uploaded into RAFT manually (HSR&D and RR&D) or 
electronically (BLR&D and CSR&D). The capability to submit Career Development 
proposals electronically via eRA Commons is expected to he in place near the end of FY 
2010. 

Preparation of the list of projects: 

The BLR&D/CSR&D administrative officer extracted all funded projects for the fiscal 
year from RAFT and exported the data into an Excel spreadsheet. The alcohol and drug 
abuse projects were identified by reviewing the title. Any questionable projects were 
verified as relevant or not relevant upon review of the abstract. In some cases, the title 
listed was the type of investigator award. For those, the title was obtained from the 
abstract. There were multiple rows in the spread.sheet for some projects (for example, if 
there were multiple researchers on the same project). When that occurred, the rows were 
combined so that there was just one entry (dollars allocated were summed) per project. 
Project start and end dates were included in the spreadsheet. If there were multiple 
researchers or a researcher with multip1e fonds for the same project (e.g., salary award 
plus Merit Review award), then the earliest start date and latest end date were used. 
Although great care is taken to provide an inclusive list of projects, our database 
management system does not have robust reporting capabilities, so some projects may 
have been omitted. 

For FY 2009, no RR&D projects related to drug or alcohol abuse were identified. 

Explanations for not meeting performance targets are reasonable. 
Not applicable. The targets were met. 

Methodology to establish performance targets is reasonable and applied. 
VA Research and Development focuses on research on the special healthcare needs of 
Veterans and strives to balance the discovery of new knowledge and the application of 
these discoveries to Veterans' healthcare. VA Research and Development's mission is to 
"discover knowledge and create innovations that advance the health and care of Veterans 
and the Nation." ORD supports preclinical, clinical, health services 1 and rehabilitation 
research. This research ranges from studies relevant to our aging Veterans (e.g., cancer, 
heart disease, Alzheimer's disease) to those relevant to younger Veterans returning from 
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the current conflicts (e.g., PTSD, spinal cord injury). The targets were set at that level to 
allow tlexibility in the projects funded in terms of both subject (e.g .• cancer, addiction, 
hean disease) and type (e.g., preclinical, clinical trials). 

Adequate performance measures exist for all significant drug control activities. 
Since many of the projects do nut involve direct interaction with patients~ the measure 
looks at the number of projects rather than specific activities. 
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ONDCP Circular: Drug Control Accounting 
May 1, 2007 

Attachment C 

TO THE HEADS OF EXECCTIVE DEPART'1ENTS AND ESTABLISHMENTS 

SUBJECT: Annual Accounting and Auth~ntication of Drug Control Funds and Related Performance 

l. Purpost. This circular provides the policies and procedures to be used by National Drug 
Control Program agencies in conducting a detailed accounting and authentication of all funds 
expended on National Drug Control Program activities and the performance measures, targets, and 
results associated with those activities. 

2. Rescission. This circular rescinds and replaces the ONDCP Circular, Annual Accouming of 
Drug Control Funds, dated April 18, 2003. 

3. Authority. 

a. 21U.S.C.§1704(d) provides: "The Director [ONDCP] shall-

(A) require the National Drug Control Program agencies to submit to the Director not later 
than February I of each year a detailed accounting of all funds expended by the agencies for 
National Drug Control Program activities during the previous fiscal year, and require such 
accounting to be authenticated by the Inspector General of each agency prior to submission to 
the Oircctor; and 

(B) suhmit to Congress not later than April I of each year the information submitted to the 
Director under subparagraph (A)." 

h. 21 U.S.C. § l703(d)(7) authorizes the Director of National Drug Control Policy to" ... monitor 
implemcnlation of the National Drug Control Program, including - (A) conducting program and 
performance audits and evaluatiuns; and (B) requesting assistance of the Inspector General of the 
relevant agency in such audits and evaluations ... " 

4. Definitions. As used in this circular, key tenns related to the National Drng Control Program 
and budget are defined in Section 4 of the ONDCP Circular, Budger Formulation, dated May I, 
2007. These terms include: National Drug Control Program. National Drug Control Program 
agency, Bureau, Drug Methodology, Drug Control Functions, and Budget Decision Units. Further, 
Reprogrammings and fund Control Notices referenced in Section 6 of this circular are defined in 
Section 6 and Section 8 ofthc ONDCP Circular, Budget Execurion, dared May l, 2007. 

5. Coverage. The provisions of this circular apply to all National Drug Control Program 
agencies. 

6. Detailed Accounting Submission. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of each agency. or 
other accountable senior level senior executive, shall prepare a Detailed Accounting Submission to 
the Director, ONDCP. For agencies with no bureaus, this submission shall be a single report, as 
defo1ed by this section. For agencies with bureaus, the Detailed Accounting Submission shall consist 
of rcpons, as defined by this section, from the agency's bureaus. The CFO of each bureau, or 
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accountable senior level executive, shall prepare reports. Each report must include (a) a table 
highlighting prior year drug control obligation::; data, and (b) a narrative section making assertions 
regarding the prior year obligations data. Report elements are further detailed below: 

a. Table of Prior Year Drug Control Obligations - For the most recently completed fiscal 
year, each report shall include a table of obligations of drug control budgetary resources 
appropriated and available during the year being reported.~ Such table shall present 
obligations by Drug Control Function and Budget Decision l!nit, as these categories are 
displayed for the agency or bureau in the National Drug Control Straregy Budget 
Summary. Further, this table shall be accompanied by the following disclosures: 

(I) Dru~ Methodology - The drug methodology shall be specified in a separate exhibit. 
For obligations calcu1ated pursuant to a drug methodology, this presentation shall 
include sufficient detail to explain fully the derivation of all obligations data presented 
in the table. 

(a) Obligations by Drug Control .Function - All bureaus employ a drug 
methodology to report obligations by Drug Control Function. 

(b) Obligations by Budget Decision Unit - For certain multi-mission bureaus 
Customs and Border Protection (CBP), Coast Guard, Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE), Indian Health Service (IHS), Bureau oflndian Affairs (BIA), 
and the Veterans Health Administration (VIIA) - obligations reported by Budget 
Decision Unit shall be calculated pursuant to an approved drug methodology. For 
all other bureaus, drug control obligations reported by Budget Decision Unit shall 
represent l 00 percent of the actual obligations of the bureau for those Rudget 
Decision Units, as they are defined for the 1\ational Drug Control Budget. (See 
Attachment B of the ONDCP Circular, Budge1 Formu/atlon, dated May I, 2007.) 

(2) Methodology Modifications - Consistent with ONDCP's prior approval, if the drug 
methodology has been modified from the previous year, then the changes, their 
purpose, and the quantitative differences in the amount(s) reported using the new 
method versus the amount(s) that would have been reported under the old mcthoo 
shall be disclosed. 3 

(3) Material Weaknesses or Other Findings -Any material weakness or other findings 
by independent sources, or other known weaknesses, including those identified in the 
Agency's Annual Statement of Assurance, which may affect the prcsi;:ntation of prior 

2 Consistent with reporting requirements of the O'\/OCP Circular, Budget Form11/alion, dated May I, 2007, 
resources received from the rollowing accounts are excluded from obligation estimates: (I) ONDCP - High 
Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HIDTA) and (2} DOJ - Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Force Program. 
Obligations against these resources shall be excluded from table required by this section but shall be reported on a 
consolidated basis by these bureaus. Generally, lo prevent doublc·counting agencies should not report obligations 
against budgel resources received as a reimbursement. An agency that is the source of the budget authority for such 
reimbursements shall be the reporting entity under this circular. 

} For changes that did not receive prior appro11al, 1he agency or bureau shall submit such changes to ONDCP for 
approval under separate cover. 
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year drug-related obligations data, shall be highlighted. This may be accomplished by 
either providing a brief written summary, or by referencing and attaching relevant 
portions of existing assurance reports. For each material weakness or other finding, 
corrective actions currently underway or contemplated shall be identified. 

( 4) Reprogrammings or Transfers - All prior year reprogrammings or transfers that 
affected dmg-related budgetary resources shall be identified; for each such 
reprogramming or transfer, the effect on drug-related obligations reported in the table 
required by this section also shall be identified. 

(5) Other Disclosures - Agenci~ may make such other disclosures as they feel are 
necessary to clarify any issues regarding the data reported under this circular. 

b. Assertions - At a minimum, each report shall include a narrative section where the 
following assertions are made regarding the obligation data presented in the table required 
by Section 6a: 

(I) Obligations by Budget Decision Unit With the exception of the multi-mission 
bureaus noted in Section 6a(l)(b), reports under this section shall include an assertion 
that obligations reported by budget decision unit am the actual obligations from the 
bureau's accounting system of record for these Budget 11ccision Units. 

(2) Drug Methodology - An assertion shall be made regarding the reasonableness and 
accuracy of the drug methodology used 10 calculate obligations of prior year budgetary 
resources by function for all bureaus and by budget decision unit for the CBP, Coast 
Guard, ICE, IHS, BIA, and VHA. The criteria associated with this assertion are as 
follows: 

(a) Data ·If workload or other statistical information supports the drug methodology, 
then the source of these data and the current connection to drug control obligations 
should be well documented. If these data are periodically collected, then the data 
used in the drug methodology must be clearly identified and will be the most 
recently available. 

(b) Other Estimation Methods If professional judgment or other estimation 
methods arc used as part of the drug methodology, then the association between 
tl1ese assumptions and the drug control obligations being estimated must be 
thoroughly explained and documented. These assumptions should be subjected to 
periodic review, in order to confirm their continued validity. 

(c) Financial Systems - Financial systems supporting the drug methodology should 
yield data that fairly present, in all material respects, aggregate obligations from 
which drug-related obligation estimates are derived. 

(3) Application of Drug Methodology - Each report shall include an assertion that the 
drug methodology disclosed in this section was the actual methodology used to 
generate the table required by Section 6a. Calculations must be sufficiently well 
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documented to independently reproduce these data. Calculations should also provide a 
means to ensure consistency of data between reporting years. 

(4) Reprogrammings or Transfers - Further, each report shall include an assertion that 
the data presented are associated with obligations against a financial plan that, if 
revised during the fiscal year, properly reflects those changes, including ONDCP's 
approval of reprogrammings or transfers affecting drug-related resources in excess of 
$ l million. 

(5) Fund Control Notices - Each report shall also include an assertion that the data 
presented arc associated with obligations against a financial plan tha1 fully complied 
with all Fund Control Notices issued by the Director under 21 U.S.C. § l 703(f) and 
Section 8 of the ONDCP Circular, Budget Execution. 

7. Performance Summary Report. The CFO, or other accountable senior level senior 
executive, of each agency for which a DetaHed Accounting Submission is required, shalt provide a 
Performance Summary Report to the Director of National Drug Control Policy. Each report must 
include performance-related information for National Drug Control Program activities, and the 
official is required to make cenain assertions regarding that infommtion. The required elements of 
the report are detailed below. 

a. Performance Reporting- The agency's Performance Summary Report must include each of 
the following components: 

(1) Performance Measures - The report must describe the performance measures used 
by the agency to assess the National Drug Control Program activities it carried out in 
the most recently completed fiscal year and provide a clear justification for why those 
measures are appropriate for the associated National Drug Control Program activities. 
The performance report must explain how the measures: reflect the purpose of the 
program; contribute to the National Drug Control Strategy; an<l are used in the 
management of the program. The description must include sufficient detail to permit 
non-experts to understand what is being measured and why it is relevant to those 
activities. 

(2) Prior Years Performance Targets and Results for each performance measure, the 
report must provide actual perfonnance information for the previous four fiscal years 
and compare the results of the most recent fiscal year with the projected (target) levels 
of performance established in the agency's annual performance budget for that year. If 
any performance target for the most recently completed fiscal year was not met the 
report must explain why that target was not met and describe the agency's plans and 
schedules for meeting future targets. Alternatively, if the agency has concluded it is 
not possible to achieve the established target with available resources, the report 
should include recommendations concerning revising or eliminating the target. 

(3) Current Year Performance Targets ·- Each report must specify the performance 
targcls established for National Drug Control Program activities in the agency's 
performance budget for the current fiscal year and describe the methodology used to 
establish those targets. 
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(4) Quality of Performance Data-The agency must state the procedures used to ensure 
the performance data described in this n:port are accurate, complete, and unbiased in 
presentation and substance. 

(b) Assertions - Each report shall include a letter in which an accountable agency official 
makes the following assertions arc made regarding the information presented in Section 
7a: 

(1) Performance reporting system is appropriate and applied - The agency has a 
system to capture performance information accurately and that system was properly 
applied to generate the performance data. 

(2) Explanations for not meeting performance targets are reasonable - An assertion 
shall be made regarding the reasonableness of any explanation offered for failing to 
meet a performance target and for any recommendations concerning plans and 
schedules for meeting future targets or for revising or eliminating performance 
targets. 

(3) Methodology to establish performa'1ce targets is reasonable and applied - An 
assertion that the methodology described above to estab I ish performance targets for 
the current year is reasonable given past pcrfol'mance and available resources. 

(4} Adequate performance measures exist for all significant drug control activities • 
Each Report shall include an assertion that the agency has established at least one 
acceptable performance measure for each Drug Control Decision Llnit identified in 
reports required by section 6a(I )(A) for which a significant amount of obligations 
($ L000,000 or 50 percent of the agency drug budget, whichever is Jess) were 
incurred in the previous fiscal year. Each performance measure must consider the 
intended purpose of the National Drug Control Program activity. The crikria 
associated with these assertions are as follows: 

(a) Data -. If workload, participant, or other quantitative information supports these 
assertions, the sources of these data should be well documented. If these data arc 
periodically collected, the data used in the report must be clearly identified and will be 
the most recently available. 

(b) Other Estimation Methods - If professional judgment or other estimation methods 
are used to make the.se assertions, the objectivity and strength of these estimation 
methods must be thoroughly explained and documented. These estimation methods 
should be subjected to periodic review to confirm their continued validity. 

(c) Reporting Systems - Reporting systems supporting the assertions should be current, 
reliable, and an integral part of the agency's bud gel and management processes. 

8. lm1pector General Authentication. Each report defined in Sections 6 and 7 shall be 
provided to 1he agency's Inspector General (JG) for the purpose of expressing a conclusion about the 
reliability of each assertion made in the report. ONDCP anticipates that this engagement will be an 
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attestation review, consistent with the Statements for Standards of Attestation Engagements, 
promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

9. Unreasonable Burden, Unless a detailed report, as specified in Section 6, is specifically 
requested by ONDCP. an agency or bureau included in the National Drug Control Budget with prior 
year drug~relatcd obligations of less than $50 milHon may submit through its CFO, or its accountable 
senior level cx.ccutive, an alternative report to ONDCP, consisting of only the table highlighted in 
Section 6a., omitting all other disclosures. Such a report will be accompanied by statements from the 
CFO, or accountable senior level executive, and the agency IG attesting that full compliance with this 
Circular would constitute an unreasonable reporting burden. In those instances, obligations reported 
under this section will be considered as constituting th~ statutorily required detailed accounting, 
unless ONDCP notifies the agency that greater detail is required. 

10. Point of Contact and Due Dates. Each agency CFO, or accountable senior level executive, 
shall transmit a Detailed Accounting Submission, consisting of the r~port(s) defined in Sections 6 
and 7, along with the JG's authcntication(s) defined in Section 8, to the attention of the Associate 
Di1·ector for Performance and Budget, Office of National !Jrug Control Policy, Washington, DC 
20503. Detailed Accounting Submissions, with the accompanying JG authentication(s), are due to 
ONDCP by February I of each year. Agency management must submit reports to their Office of 
Inspector General (OIG) in sufficient time to allow for review and IO authentication under Section !! 
of this Circular. ONDCP recommends a 31 December due date for agencies to provide their 
respective OIG with the required reports and information. 
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Report Distribution 
VA Distribution 

Office of the Secretary 
Veterans Health Administration 
Office of General Counsel 
Chief Patient Care Services Officer, Veterans Health Administration 
Chief Quality and Performance Officer, Veteran Health Administration 
Chief Research and Development Officer, Veterans Health Administration 
Chief Financial Officer, Veterans Health Administration 
Deputy Chief, Patient Care Services Officer for Mental Health, Veterans Health 

Administration 
Director, Management Review Service, Veterans Health Administration 
Director of Performance Management. Veterans Health Administration 

Non-VA Distribution 

House Committee on Veterans' Affairs 
House Appropriations Subcommittee on Military Construction, Veterans Affairs, 

and Related Agencies 
House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform 
Senate Committee on Veterans' Affairs 
Senate Appropriations Subcommittee on Military Construction, Veterans Affairs, 

and Related Agencies 
Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs 
Office of National Drug Control Policy 
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To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations: 
Telephone: 1-800-488-8244 

E-mail: vaoighotfine@va.gov 
(Hotline Information: http://www.va.gov/oig/contacts/hotline.asp) 



Department of 
Veteran Affairs 

D11c: March 4, 2010 

Memorandum 

From: Assistant Inspector General for Audits and Evaluations (52) 

Subiftt: Final Report Independent Review of VA's Fiscal Year 2009 Detailed 
Accounting Submission to the Office of 1\'ationat Drug Control Policy 

To: Chief Financial" Officer, V cterans Health Administration ( 17) 

L The Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) requires the Department of 
Veterans Affairs (VA) lo submit an annual Detailed Accounting Submission 
(Submission), as authorized by 21 U.S.C. ~1704(d) and ONDCP Circular, Drug 
Control Accounting (Circular), date May 1, 2007, to ONDCP. The Submission, 
including the assertions made, is the responsibility of VA's management and it is 
included in this report as Attachment A. The Circular is included as Attachment B. 

2. We reviewed VA management's assertions as required by the Circular concerning its 
drug methodology, reprogrammings and transfers, and fund control notices. The 
assertions are found in the Submission on page 7. 

3. Our review was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by 
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountant'\, and the applicable standards 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued hy the Comptroller General of the 
United States. An attestation review is substantially less in scope than an examination, 
the objective of which is the expression of an opinion on the assertions in the 
Submission. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 

4. Our report, Audit of VA 's Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal Years 
2009 and 2008 (Report No. 09-00976-25, November 16, 2009), identified four material 
weaknesses. Three of the four material weaknesses were repeat conditions from the 
prior year audit and identified as (i) financial management system fW1ctionality, 



(ii) infonnation technology security controls and (iii) financial management oversight. 
'!be fourth material weakness, compensation, pension, and burial liabilities, was 
identified during the fiscal year 2009 audit. 

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant 
deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of 
the financial statements will not be prevented or detected. A significant deficiency is a 
control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the 
entity's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a 
remote likelihood that a misstatement of the entity's financial statements that is more 
than inconsequential will not he prevented or detected. 

5. Based upon our review, except for the effects, if any, of the material weaknesses 
discussed in the fourth paragraph of this report, nothing came to our attention that 
caused us to believe that management's assertions included in the accompanying 
Submission of this report are not fairly stated in all material respects based on the 
criteria set forth in the Circular. 

6. We provided you our draft report for review. You concmTed with our report without 
further comments. 

7. This report is intended solely for the information and use of the U.S. Congressi the 
ONDCP, and VA management. This report is not intended to be and should not be used 
by anyone other than these specified parties. 

(original signed by:) 

Belinda J. Finn 

Attachments 

2 



Independent Review of VA's Fiscal Year 2009 Detailed Accounting Submission 
to the Office of National Drug Control P~licy 

Attachment A 

Stlltemant of Dl11cloaures and A.98&rtion• for FY 2009 Drug Control bpendltUl'e$ 
Submitted to Office of National Drug Control Polfcy (ONDCP) for FY Ending 
September 30, 2009 

In a"ordam:e with ONDCP's Circular. Drug Cootrol Ar::countlng, dated May 1. 2007, lhe 
Veterans Health Administratior. a$$Ell18 that the VHA system of accounting, use of aauals, and 
$ystems of 1,1temal contrors provide reasonable assurance that: 

Expendlures and Obligations are baaed upon Ire adua! expendtturM as rep0f1ec by the 
Decision Support System (DSS). 

The methodology used to calculate expenditures o1 bU<IGetary resources is reasonable and 
accurate In a!I material respects and as described herein was lhe ac\u al methodology used to 
generate the costs. 

Accounting changes are as i;hown In the di11clc11ures that follow. 
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OEPARTMENT OF VET£RANS AFFAIRS 
VETERANS HEAL TH ADMINISTRATION 

Annual Reporting of FY 2C09 Drug Control Funtls 

DE.TAILED ACCOUNTING SUBMISSION 

A. Table of FY 2009 Drug ContrQI Obligation• 

(In Millioos) 

Otug Control R••ovrees by Function: 
Treatment..... . ........... . 
Researc;h .S Development .. 
Total... ................ . 

Drug Control Resources by Bvdget Decision UM: 
Medical Care ........................................................ . 
Research & Devt!lopment ...... .. 
Total ...................... . 

1. Drug Contu?I MetllodolQgy 

Decision Supp0rt System 

FY 2009 
Final 

$377.751 
$15.034 

$392.185 

$377.75t 
$15.034 

,392 785 

The 2009 actuals are based on cast& U$ing the Decision Support System (OS$) which is tne 
official Managerial Cor;t Accounting System for VA. DSS maps cost to departments. wnlc'i are 
then assigned to one of 56,000 intanmediate product!J using Relative Value Unit$ (RYU). 
Relative Value Units are defined as ttie determining factor of how much re-sources it takes to 
produce an intermediate product Each Cost Categ1Jry, lor example Fixed Direct Labor or 
Variable Labor, has an RVU 1or eac/1 interrnedlllt• procluct. All intermediate products are 
auigned to an actual patient encounter, eilher inpatient or OLi!patient. U$ing lhe pa1ient care 
data bases. Jn OSS. the eost1 are not awira9ed; rather thlty are reponed by the total of the 
encounteni am:I can be drHled down to a specific patient. Also, OSS includes au 0•1erhead costs 
a11ign1td to a facility to include Headquarters, National programs and Network Coals. OSS 
does not include the co11t1 of capital expenditures; however. it does account for depreciation 
costs. 

VHA has in place a national &ystem of performance monitoring that uses social, professional, 
and financial incentives to encourage facilr!les to provide the highest qualily Malth care. This 
system lncorpe>rate1 performanee measure$ ~lated to substance use disorder treatment 

Efforts to assist programs e.xperiencing diffl<:u1ty in achieving their pe'formance qoars conli'iue 
through the Centera of Excellence in Substam:;e Abuse Treatment and Ed~cation, the Program 
Evaluation and Relll!larch Center and the Office of the Asaooiate Chief Consuttant far Addic1l11e 
Disorder& 
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According to the 2008 Drog and Alcohol Prcgram SuNey (DAPSJ at the end of Fi~ Year 
2006, the DeP'lf1menl of Veterans Affan operated a nalional network of 260 substance use 
disorder trealment programs located in the Department's medical centerG. mental health 
residential rehabilitation treatment programa and outpatient clinics. Current programs consist o' 
2 medical inpatient programs, 73 residential rehabiHlation programs. 112 intenwe ouloatient 
programs, and 73 st11ndard outpatient programs, (It should be noted that 1C1entification of these 
programs involves a 'ro'I up" procedure. Lower intensity progra'Tie are oot counted separately 
lrom a higher intensity le11el program ii lhe lower revel intensity program functions n an 
Integrated component of thl! higher in1ersity program.) Baced on on-going assessment 
activities, as ol lhe end of 2009, 12 additional intensive ou1patient sl.lbsta!'lce use disorder 
programs have been added since th.e 2008 OAPS. 

VA provides three types of 24 hour a day care to patients ha11il'g particular1y severe &ubstance 
use disoraers. Two inpa1:enl programs offer acute care, detoxification, and lnilial mbili.zation 
HIYices. Svcil epeciaUzed inpatient trealment for substance use disorcten; has becorne rare in 
VA, just as ti hH in other parts cf the healthcare system. and the remaining &ubstan<» use 
d'csorder inpatient programa in the VA are cJrrently in Ille procass ol transitioning into realdenttal 
rehabilitation programs These join the large set of 24 hour care settings already classified as 
residential rehabilitation treatrrient prografl'l!l, Finally. 24 hour care is provided !or detoxilication 
in numeroU$ Inpatient medical and general mental '1eallh units throughout the VA systitm 

Most Veteran& With aubstan:e use disoroers are treatel:t in outpatient programs. lntensi11e 
substance uae disorder outpatient programs provide more than three hours of service per day to 
each palienf, and patients attend tharn three or more dayi per week. Standard ol.llpatient 
programs typically !real patients for 311 hour or two per treatment day. 11nd patitnts altend one or 
two d&)'$ a wit11k. 

· In keeping with modem medical practice, the Veterans Health AdministraUon (VHA) continue& lo 
improve service delivery and efficiency by integrating se<ViCH for mental health disorders, 
including substanc:a uae disorder, into primary care settings, Likewise, treatment of substance 
use disordera hlils been coordinated more closely with traalment of other mental hea~h 
caridiiomt For example, substance use disorders specialist positions ha11e been funded to 
direcdy aug.'Tient care for patients receiving care through post traumatic stress disorder teamPJ or 
services at each of the VA medical centers. 

VA h11 implemented a major initiative to create primary care-oriented buprenorphine Clinics to 
increa5e access lo care for opiate·dl!pendern 11ete:ant ind i1 implementing initiat1ve1 ta expand 
access to intensive outp111ianl 1ervic&1 and to include subStance use disorder 1peciali1:s in 
large community bHad outpatient elinic1, mental Health resider~al raflabilltallon programs, and 
sel'\llces for hOmeless Ve1er;ms. 

Th11 VA inve&tment in health care and specialized treatment al veterans with drug abuse 
probte11s, funded by the resource11 in Medical Care appropriation. helps a-.oid future heal!h. 
welfare and crime costs associa:ed with illegal drug use. 

In FY 2009, VHA provided specia ty substance abuse treatment to 114,457 veterans who had a 
diagnosed problem with illicit drug!, a substantial increase over FY 2008. The most prevalent 
drug used was cocaine, followed by heroin, camabis and amphetamines, respectively. A.bout 
two-thirds of VA drug abuse patients were in Meam1 Test Category A. refleclln;i very low 
income. About cme-fourth of these patients had a servic&-co11ne<:ted di1&bllity (the term 
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•aervlce-c1mnected" rerers lo injuries sustained in militar.v service, especia!fy those injunes 
occurring as a resull of military action). 

The accompan~lng Department of Veterans Affair$ Resource Summary waa prepated in 
accordance with the fi>Uowing Offioe of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) circulars (a) 
Annual Accounting of Drug Control Funds, dated May 1. 2:>07, (b) Budget Instructions and 
Certifleation Procedures, dated May 1, 2007. and (c) Budget Execution, dated May 1, 2007. In 
accordance with the guidance provided in the Office of National Drug Con1rol PoMcy's letter o1 
September 7, 2004, VA's methodology onry incorporates Specialized Treatment costs. 

VA consider& 11ubstanc:e abuse to include both alcohol abuse and drug abuse Both conditions 
are treated in VA substance abuee clinics. ONDCP haa requested that VA provide infomlation 
only on drug 11buH patients. To thal end, VA h8S detetmlned the percelllage or p11~ients treated 
in ad:lstance abuse settings for residential rehabilitation and trealment substance abuse 
programs, inpatient traatmetits in spec1alize<l 11ubstance abuse programs, and outpatient 
substance abuse ollnlc&. 

VA consid1r1 Special Treatment C'Osts to be al costs generated by lhe treatment of patients wi~h 
drug use disotder& treated in specialized substance abue treatment programs. For the 
specialized auost11nce abuse treatment programs and clinlca, VA used Oeci11ion Support 
System {OSS) data. 

Speeializ&Q Treatment Obligations Drug Control 
: 

F'TE 
(Million) Related 

>--~-· 
Peref!nt 

!J!!llallem $15.!>37 619% ·- -
. ----e7 

RHidtntial Rehabi~ta.tion & Tmatinen.!. . $137.364 S5.<1% - , 085 
Ouloatient S224.830 89.2%: '.612 
Total $377.751 2.764 --· ---"' ... _ 

DSS data ill used to determine C011l11 in various bed sect ons and crinical aettings. All expenses 
fer specialized inpatient, outpatient care. and extended care are incorporated in the spendin51 
mode. 

VA doea not !rack ol>ligatiOl1s and expenditures by ONOCP function. In the absence of such 
capability, aciuals have bffn furnished, as indicted. 

1 Perce11tof all SJbslance Use Oisorder lnpatJents see~ in a Spei;;ialzed Sub!l'lince Use Oisor:Jer Unit 
wilh a drug dl8gno111& 
a Pereent 01 all Substan;e Us11 Disorder Eldenoed Care Pat1el'lls seen in a Sl)ttialized Substance Use 
Dlsordu Unit with a drug diagnosis. 
l Perc:ent of al I Substance Use Disorde1 Clir ic Stops mace by dfug patlent11. 
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RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT 

The dollars elCpended in Vl1A research help to acquire new knowledge to improve the 
prevention, dia!:Jnosi& and treatment of <lisea&e, and generale new knowledge lo improve the 
effectiveness, efficiency, accessibility and quality of veterans' health care. 

Speciali.ted Function · ---+--O""o"'1ig"'a1:;.;io.;;;;ris,__--i--'-'-'-6'::.ru=g=-C:_o"'ntr""o""I ""------'~---F··NITdE Milions Related Pereent . 
Research & Oe~e!O~me=ri.:..'r _ __,_ ___ ::.,1.:..:5"'.o,,,34:::...i._ NIA 

2. Mefhodo!ooy M9difi91tign1 - In aa:ordance with the gLJidam:e provided rri the Office of 
National Drug Control Policy's letter of September 7, 2004, VA's m<rthodolllgy only 
incorporates Specialized Trealmllnt costs and no lon11er tai«ls into consideration other 
Reta led Trealment costs. Drug control methodology detailed in A .1 was tr e act1.1al 
meltlct!ology used to generale lhe Resource Summa~ 

3. Material Weaknesses or Other Findings - Deloitte and Touche LLP provided an unqualified 
oplr,,on on VA's fiscal year 2009 and 2006 consolidated financial slatemenls. They also 
identified four material wtiakneeses. Three of the four material weaknestes are repeat 
conditions from the pnor year aud.t and identl~ed as ii) flnan:ial managernen: system 
f\Jnctionality (Ii) Information technology security controls arid (iii) linancial man8vvmen1 
oversight The fourth material weakness, compentation, pem;•on. and burial liabilities, was 
identified during the fiscal ~ear 2009 audit There were no material weakneSJett or other 
findings by independent sources. or other k:nown weaknesses, which may afMlct the 
prenntalion of prior year drug-related obligatio'ls data. 

4. Beprogramminge orTronstm- Ttiere WH no reprogramming of funds or transfers that 
adjusted drug control-related funding beeause drug co'1!rol 11ii:penditure1 are reported on the 
bas.ie of patients served in various VA Clinical settings •or specialized substance abuse 
treatment program$. 

5. Other Disclosures - Thi& oudget accounle for drug control-related costs for VHA Mewcal 
Care arid Re&eari;h. II does no! include all drug-related eostso 'or the agency. VA ir.cu'S 
com related to accounting and security of nll 'COtics and other conUolled substance$ and 
costs cf law enfon::ement related to illegal drug actl11ity; however. these costs 11re assumed to 
be ralativaly smau and would not have a material effect on lhe reported costs 

B. Aasertlons 

1. prug Methodology- VA 8$Serts that tne methodology used to estimate FY 2009 drug control 
obligations by function and budget decision unil is reasomable and acc1.1rate based on the 
criteria set forth in the ONOCP Cireula· dated May 1. 2007. 

2. Application or Methodglogy - The methodology described in Section A.1 above was used lo 
prepare the estimales containad in this report 

:). Recrcgrammmgs or Transfers - No char,ge1 were made to VA's Financial Plan that required 
ONDCP approval per the ONOCP Circular dated May 1, 2007. 

4. Fund 9ontrol Notk;e! - The <Jata presented are asa«iated with obligations 11gain1t a 
financial plan that was based upon a methodology in accordance with all Fund Control 
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Medlc:al Cam: 
Specillllizecl Treatment 

Department ofV&te-ans Affairs 
Resource SUmmary 

Obligaliora (In Mlll•OOS) 

Residential Rehabilitation & TreatmenL . 
Inpatient... . .............. . 
Outpatient ................................. . 

Specialized "'." reatment. .... . . . .. . ... .. .. . ... .. .. .. .. ... . . . .. 

2009 
Final 

$137.384 
$15.537 

$224.630 
$377.751 

Research & Development...... . . .. ..... .............. .. ......... __ _,,,s,.,1.;,$.;,.0~l4,,... 
Drug Control Reaource$ bV Function & Ociciston Unit, Total .. $392.786 

Drug Control Resources Personnel Summary 
Total FTE ...................................................... .. 

TOlal Enactecl Approprlalionl 
Dr1J9 Control Percentage ........ .. 
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2 764 

$9Q,793.Cll5 
0.39% 
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ONDCP Circular: Drug Control Accounting 

May 1,2007 

TO THE HEADS OF EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENTS AND ESTABLISHMENTS 

SUIJ,JF.CT: Annual Accounting and Authentication of Drug Control Funds and Related Performance 

I. Purpose. This circular provides the polices and procedures to be used by National Drug 
Control Program agencies i]) conducting a detailed accounting and authentication of all funds 
expended on National Drug Control Program activities and the performance measures, targets, and 
results associated with those activities. 

2. Rescission. This circular n:seinds and replaces the O:'.'JDCP Circular, Annual Accounting of 
Dl'ug Control Funds, dated April 18, 2003. 

3. Authority. 

a. 21 U.S.C. § l 704(d) provides: "The Director fO~DCP] shall -

(A) require the National Drug Control Program agencies to submit to the Director t\Ot later 
than February 1 of each year a detailed accounting of all funds expended by the agencies for 
National Drug Control Program activities during the previous fiscal year. and require such 
accounting to be authenticatoo by the Inspector General of each agency prior to submission to 
the Director; and 

(B) submit to Congress not later than April I of each year the infonnation submitted to the 
Director under subparagraph (A)." 

b. 2 l U.S.C. § 1703(dX7) authori:.i:cs the Director of National Drug Control Policy to " ... monitor 
implementation of the National Orug Control Program, including (A) conducting program and 
performance audits and evaluations; and (8) requesting assistance of the Inspector General of the 
relevant agency in such audits and evaluations ... " 

4. Definitions. As used in this circular, key terms related to the National Drug Control Program 
and budget are defined in Section 4 of the ONDCP Circular, Budget Formulation, dated May I, 
2007. These terms include: National Drug Control Program, Nalional Drug Control 
Program a~ency, Bureau, Drug Methodology, Drug Control Functions, and Budget D.tcision Units. 
Further, Reprogrnmmings and Fund Control Notices referenced in Section 6 of this circular are 
defined in Section 6 and Section 8 of the ONDCP Circular, Budget Execution, dated May l, 2()07. 

S. Coverage. The provisions of this circular apply to all National Drug Control Program 
agencies. 

6. Detailed Accounting Submission. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of each agency, or 
other accountable senior level senior executive. sha11 prepare a Detailed Accounting Submission to 
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the Director, ONDCP. For agencies with no bureaus, this submission shall be a single report, as 
defined by this section. For agencies with bureaus, the Detailed Accounting Submission shall consist 
of reports, as defined hy this section, from the agency's bureaus. The CFO of each bureau, or 
accountable senior level executive, shall prepare reports. Each report must include (a) a table 
highlighting prior year drug control obligations data, and (b) a narrative section making assertions 
regarding the prior year obligations data. Report clements are further detailed below: 

a. Table of Prior Year Drug Control Obligations - For che most recently completed fiscal 
year, each report shall include a table of obligations of drug control budgetary resources 
appropriated and available during the year being reported. 1 Such table shal I present 
obligations by Drug Control Function and Budget Decision Unit, as these categories are 
displayed for the agency or bureau in the lVationul Drug Control Strategy Budget 
Summary. Further, this table shall be accompanied by the following disclosures: 

(1) Drug Methodology - The drug methodology shall be specified in a separate exhibit. 
For obligations calculated pursuant to a drug methodology, this presentation shall 
include ~ufticicnt detail to explain fully the derivation of all obligations data presented 
in the table. 

(a) Obligations by Drug Control Function All bureaus employ a drug 
methodology to report obligations by Drug Control Function. 

(b) Obligations by Budget Decision Unit - For certain multi-mission bureaus -
Customs and Border Protection (CBP), Coast Guard, Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (lCE), Indian Health Service (IHS), Bureau oflndian Affairs (BIA), 
and the Veterans Health Administration (VHA) obligations reported by Budget 
Decision Unit shall be calculated pursuant to an approved drug methodology. For 
all other bureaus, drug control obligations reported by Oudget Decision Unit shall 
represent I 00 percent of the actual obligations of the bureau for those Budget 
Decision Units, as they are defined for the National Drug Control Budget. (See 
Attachment B of the ONDCP Circular, Budget Formuhltion, dated May I, 2007.) 

(2) Methodology Modifications - Consistent with ONDCP's prior approval, if the drug 
methodology has been modified from the previous year, then the changes, their 
purpose, and the quantitative differences in the amount(s) reported using the new 

1 Consistent with reporting requirements of the 01\DCP Circular, Budget Formulation, dated May I, 2007, 
resources received from the following accounts are e.'Ccluded from obligation estimates: (I) ONDCP - High 
Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HlDTA) and (2) OOJ - Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Force Program. 
Obligations against these resources shall be excluded from table required by this section bul shall be reported on a 
consolidated basis by these bureaus. Generally, to prevent doublc·counting agencies should not report obligations 
against budget rewurces received as a reimbursement. An agency that is the source of the budget authority for such 
reimbursements shall be the reporting entity under this circular. 
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method versus the amount(s) that would have been reported under the old method shall be 
disclosed.2 

(3) Material Weaknesses or Other fi'indings Any material weakness or other findings 
by independent sources, or other known weaknesses, including those identified in the 
Agency's Annual Statement of Assurance, which may affect the presentation of prior 
year drug-related obligations data, shall be highlighted. This may be accomplished by 
either providing a brief written summary, or by referencing and attaching relevant 
portions of existing assurance reports. fQr each material weakness or other finding, 
corrective actions currently underway or contemplated shalt be identified. 

(4) Reprogrammings or Transfers - All prior year reprogrammings or transfers that 
affected drug-related budgetary resources: shall be identified; for each such 
reprogramming or transfer, the effoct on drug-related obligations reportec in the table 
required by this section also shall be identified. 

(5) Other Disclosure.'! - Agencies may make such other disclosures as they feel are 
necessary to clarify any issues regarding the data reported under th is circular. 

b. Assertions At a minimum, each report shall include a narrative section where the 
following assertions are made regarding the obligation data presented in the table required 

by Section 6a: 

(1) Obligations by Budget Decision Unit - With the exception of the multi-mission 
bureaus noted in Section 6a( I )(h). reports under this section shall include an assertion 
that obligations reported by budget decision unit arc the actual obligations from the 
bureau's accounting system of record for these Budget Decision Units. 

(2) Drug Methodology - An assertion shall be made regarding the reasonableness and 
accuracy of the drug methodology used to calculate obligations of prior year budgetary 
resources by function for all bureaus and by budget decision unit for the CBP, Coast 
Guard, ICE, IHS, BIA, and VHA. The criteria associated with this assertion arc as 
follows: 

(a) Data - If workload or other statistical infonnation supports the drug methodology, 
then the source of these data and the current connection to drug control obligations 
should be well documented. If these data are periodically collected, then the data 
used in the drug methodology must be clearly identified and will be the most 
recently available. 

2 For changes that did not receive prior approval, the agency or bureau shall submit such 1,;hangcs to QNJ)CP for 
approval under separate cover. 
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(b) Other Estimation Methods - lf professional judgment or ocher estimation 
methods are used as part of the drug methodology. then the association between 
these assumptions and the drug control obligations being estimated must be 
thoroughly exp]ained and documented. These assumptions should be subjected to 
periodic review, in order to confirm their continued validity. 

(c) Financial Systems - Financial systems supporting the drug methodology should 
yield data that fairly present, in all material respects, aggregate obligations from 
which drug-related obligation estimates are derived. 

(3) Application of Drug Methodology - Each report shall include an assertion that the 
drug methodology disclosed in this section was the actual methodology used to 
generate the table required by Section 6a. C1:1lculations must be sufficiently well 
documented to independently reproduce these data. Calculations should also provide a 
means to ensure consistency of data between reporting years. 

(4) Reprogrammings or Transfers - Further, each report shall include an assertion that 
the data presented arc associated with obligations against a financial plan that, if 
revised during the fiscal year, properly reflects those changes. including ONDCP's 
approval of reprogrammings or transfers affecting drug-related resources in excess of 
$1 million. 

(5) Fund Control Notices - Each repo1t shall also include an assertion that the data 
presented are associated with obligations against a financial plan that fully complied 
with all Fund Control Notices issued by the Director under 21 U.S.C. § l 703(f) and 
Section 8 of the ONDCP Circular, Budget Execu1io11. 

7. Performance Summary Report. The CFO, or other accountable senior level senior 
executive, of each agency for which a Detailed Accounting Submission is required, shall provide a 
Pcrfonnance Summary Report to the Director of National Drug Control Policy. Each report must 
include performance-related infonnation for National Drug Control Program activities, and the 
official is required to make certain assertions regarding that information. The required elements of 
the report are detailed below. 

a. Performance Reporting- The agency's Performance Summary Report must include each of 
the following components: 

(I) Performance Measures The report must describe the performance measures used 
by the agency to assess the National Drug Control Program activities it carried out in 
the most recently completed fiscal year and provide a clear justification for why those 
measures are appropriate for the associated ~ationaf Drug Control Program activities. 
The performance report must explain how the measures: retlcct the purpose of the 
program; contribute to the National Drug Control Strategy; and arc used in the 
management of the program. The description must include sufficient detail to permit 
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non-experts to understand what is being measured and why it is relevant to those 
activities. 

(2) Prior Years Performance Targets and Results For each perfom1ance measure, the 
report must provide actual performance information for the previous four fiscal years 
and compare the results of the most recent fiscal year with.the projected (target) levels 
of pcrfonnance established in the agency's annual performance budget for that year. !f 
any performance target for the most recently completed fiscal year was not met, the 
report must explain why that target was not met and describe the agency's plans and 
schedules for meeting future targets. Alternatively, if the agency has concluded it is 
not possible to achieve the established target with available resources, the report 
should include recommendations concerning revising or eliminating the target. 

(3) Current Year Performance Targets ~ Each report must specify the perfonnance 
targets established for National Drug Control Program activities in the agency's 
performance budget for the current fiscal year and describe the methodology used to 
establish those targels. 

(4) Quality of Performance Data The agency must state the procedures used to ensure 
the perfonnance data described in this report are accurate, complete, and unbiased in 
presentation and substance. 

(b) Assertions - Each repol1 shall include a letter in which an accountable agency official 
makes the following assertions arc made regarding the infonnation presented in Section 
7a: 

(I) Performance reporting system is appropriate and applied - The agency has a 
system to capture perfonnance information accurately and that system was properly 
applied to generate the performance data. 

(2) Explanations for not meeting performance targets are reasonable · An assertion 
shall he made regarding the reasonableness of any explanation offered for failing to 
meet a performance target and for any recommendations concerning plans and 
schedules for meeting future targets or for revising or clim inating performance 
targets. 

(3) Methodology to establish performance targets is reasonable and applied - An 
assertion that the methodology described above to establish performance targets for 
the current year is reasonable given past performance and available resources. 

(4) Adequate performance measures exist for all significant drug control activities -
Each Report shall include an assertion that the agency has established at least one 
.acceptable performance measure for each Drug Control Decision Unit identified in 
reports requirctl by section 6a( I XA) for which a significant mount of obligations 
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($1,000,000 or 50 percent of the agency drug budget, whichever is less) were incurred in 
the previous fiscal year. Each performance measure must consider the intended 
purpose of the National Drug Control Program activity. 

The criteria associated with these assertions are as follows: 

(a) Data If workload, participant, or other quantitative information supports these 
assertions, the sources of these data should be well documented. If these data are 
periodically collected, the data used in the report must be clearly identified and will be 
the most recently available. 

(b) Other Estimation Methods - lf professional judgment m· other estimation methods 
are used to make these assertions, the objectivity and strength of these estimation 
methods must be thoroughly explained and documented. The5e estimation methods 
should be subjected to periodic review to confirm their continued validity. 

(c) Reporting Systems - Reporting systems supporting the assertions should be current, 
reliahle, and an integral part of the agency's budget and management processes. 

8. Inspector General Authentication, Each report defined in Sections 6 and 7 shall be 
provided to the agency's Inspector General (lG) for the purpose of ex.pressing a conclusion about the 
reliability of each assertion made in the report. ONDCP anticipates that this engagement will be an 
attestation review, consistent with the Statements fur Standards of Attestatinn f7ngagements, 
promulgated by the American Institute of Certi fled Public Accountants. 

9. Unreasonable Burden. Unless a detailed report, as specified in Section 6, is specifically 
requested by ONDCP, an agency or bureau included in che National Orug Control Budget with prior 
year drug-related obligations of less than $50 million may submit through iLc; CFO, or its accountable 
senior level executive, an alternative report to ONDCP, consisting of only the table highlighted in 
Section 6a., omitting all other disclosures. Such a report will be accompanied by statements from the 
CFO, or accountable senior level executive, and the agency IG attesting that full compliance with this 
Circular would constitute an unreasonable reporting burden. In those instances, obligations reported 
under this section will be considered as constituting the statutorily required detailed accounting, 
unless ONDCP notifies the agency that greater detail is required. 

10. Point of Contact and Due Dates. Each agency CFO, or accountable senior level executive, 
shall transmit a Detailed Accounting Submission, consisting of the report(s) defined, in Sections 6 
and 7, along with the IG's authentication(s) defined in Section 8, to the attention of the Associate 
Director for Performance and Budget, Office of National Drug Control Policy, Washington, DC 
20503. Detailed Accounting Submissions, with the accompanying IG authentication(s), arc due to 
ONDCP by February 1 of each year. Agency management must submit reports to their Office of 
Inspector General (OIG) in sufficient time to allow for review and IG authentication under Section 8 
of this Cin:ular. ONDCP recommends a 31 December due date for agencies to provide their 
respective OIG with the required reports and information. 
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Report Distribution 
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Office of the Secretary 
V ctcrans I Iea]th Administration 
Office of Genera) Counsel 
Assistant Secretary for Management 
Chief Financial Officer for Veterans Health Administration 

Non~VA Distribution 

House Committee on V cterans' Affairs 
House Appropriations Subcommittee on Military Construction> Veterans Affairs, and 

Related Agencies 
House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform 
Senate Committee on Veterans' Affairs 
Senate Appropriations Subcommittee on Military Construction, Veterans Affairs. and 

Related Agencies 
Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs 
Office of National Drug Control Policy 
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DEPARTMENT OF Vt:TERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Chief Financial Officer, Veterans Health Administration (17) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation - Improper Funding of College Degrees, 
Failure to Administer and Follow Po1icy, and Misuse of Government 
Resources, VHA Office of Finance, Washington, DC 
(2007-00429-IQ-003 5) 

Summary 

We substantiated that the !Mt:kc) 

improperly authorized the expenditure of $86,807.48 in VA funds to pay for academic 
(undergraduate and graduate) degrees for two employees and that he failed to administer 
VA policy. We also substantiated that a jl6)(7>161 .. I misused his 
Govemment~issued purchase card~ that he violated and directed a new employee at a 
lower grade to violate Federal acquisition regulations; and that he misused VA-owned 
computer systems to access sexually explicit or sexually oriented material. In addition, 
we substantiated that the j(t>)(7XC) !misrepresented 
facts and displayed a lack of candor to the VHA CFO, to a VHA Auditor, and to VA 
Office of Inspector General (OIG) investigators. Furthennore, we found two $2,400 
purchase card payments which were not applied as intended or properly refunded to VA. 

Introduction 

The VA OIG Administrative Investigations Division investigated allegations that 
1'?7XC> I improperly approved the expenditure of 
$86,807.48 to pay for academic degrees for two employees and that he failed to properly 
administer VA policy pertaining to training and to Government-issued purchase cards. 
We also investigated whether j<6)(7)(c) I and a 
fonner VA Analyst improperly received their academic degrees at VA expense. Further, 
we investigated whether !M(t)(C) !misused his Government-issued purchase card; 
violated, and directed a new employee at a lower grade to violate, Federal Acquisition 
Regulations and VA purchase card policies; and whether he misused VA computer 
systems to access sexually explicit or sexually oriented materials. Finally, we 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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investigated whether !l6)(7XC> !misrepresented facts and displayed a 
lack of candor to the VHA CFO, to a VHA Auditor, and to VA OIG. 

To assess these allegations, we interviewed fbxtxci I and the former 
Analyst. We also interviewed the former and current VHA Chief Financial Officers and 
other VA personnel in Washington, DC; Boston, Massachusetts; Denver, Colorado; and 
Austin, Texas. We reviewed academic and financial records; VA purchase card 
transaction records; various VHA Office. of Finance internal documents, to include a 
Purchase Card program audit report, policy statements. and VA contracting documents; 
email records, and applicable Federal laws, regulations, and VA poJicy. 

Results 

Issue 1: Whether Mr. Strong Authorized Improper Funding of Academic Degrees 
and Improperly Administered VA Training Policy 

Legal and Policy Requirements 

The Government Employee's Training Act of 1958 prohibits the use of training funds for 
the sole purpose of providing an employee with an academic degree, whether or not the 
degree was needed to qualify for a job, unless the training was needed to assist in the 
recruitment or retention of employees in shortage occupations. Public Law 85·507, 
5 USC§ 4107 (2002), 5 CFR § 410.308 (2002). The Homeland Security Act of2002 
amended the training Act by expanding an agency's authority to pay or reimburse an 
employee for the costs of academic degree training, if the training contributed to meeting 
an identified training need, resolved an identified staffing problem, or accompHshed 
goals in the strategic plan of the agency. The amended statute continued to prohibit an 
agency from paying for academic degrees for employees for the sole purpose of 
providing an employee with an academic degree or qualifying the employee for an 
appointment to a position for which the academic degree is a basic requirement. 5 USC 
§ 4107 (2003). 

In November 2003, VA revised its Employee Development policy to authorize payment 
for academic degrees as provided by the Homeland Security Act. VA Directive 5015, 
Paragraph 2b (9), (November 13, 2003). The policy delegates the authority to approve 
academic degree training, from the VA Secretary to Under .Secretaries, Assistant 
Secretaries, other Key Officials, and Deputy Assistant Secretaries or their designees. 
This authority may be further delegated to VISN, MSM, and VBA area directors, but it 
may not be delegated any further. Id., (9) (d}. 

Before 2003, VA training policy delegated the authority to approve training by, in, or 
through a non-Government training facility to Administration Heads, Assistant 
Secretaries, Other Key Officials and their designees and requires that the authorization 
for non~Govemment training must be in writing and obtained in advance of the course. 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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VA Handbook 5015, Paragraph 8c1 (2002). The training policy further required that 
before training through a non-Government source was approved, the authorizing official 
must have first determined that the training was related to the perfonnance of the 
employee's official duties and that it benefited VA. Funhermore$ VA needs must be 
specifically identified in determining the benefit to VA, and it was not sufficient that an 
employee had a high interest in the training or had a background related to the subject of 
the training. Id., Paragraph 8c (a). The 2002 policy which required the authorizing 
official to dctennine that adequate training was not reasonably available by1 in, or 
through a Government facility; that the training was the most practical and least costly to 
the Government; and that the prohibitions, limitations, and requirements, as stated in Part 
410 of Title 5 of the Federal Code of Regulations was satisfied as to these three 
requirements. Id., Paragraph 8c (b}-(e). 

Furthermore, policy required that whenever training involved more than 80 hours of non­
Govemment training, an agreement to continue in service (continued service agreement) 
must be obtained from the employee before training began, with a copy maintained in the 
employee's official personnel file. VA Handbook SO 15, Paragraph 8c (2), (2002). The 
2003 revision of the training policy set the minimum Departmental standard requiring 
service agreements for courses that are 40 hours in length and cost a.t least $500. Finally, 
policy required that the selection process of employees for training, which may give a 
competitive edge in applying for future openings, must be done in accordance with merit 
system principles. VA Handbook 501 S, Paragraph 3a (2), (2002). 

VHA Office of Finance (OF) training policy states that final approval for all training for 
OF employees will be made by the CFO and requires the use of Standard 
form 182 (SF-182) Request, Authorization, and Certification of Training for college 
courses. VHA Office of Finance Training and Development Policy Guide, Chapter II, 
Paragraph 3, (June 2003). In addition, OF policy ranks college courses as the lowest 
priority in terms of determining whether the training would be provided to an employee 
within mission and budgetary constraints and requires the employee to submit 
documentation of the grade earned upon completion of the course. Id., Chapter III, 
Paragraphs 2(a) and (b). OF policy also requires that whenever "long-term, high-cost, 
and highly desired training opportunities" (more than 120 hours and/or a cost exceeding 
$2,500) occurs that may result in increased opportunity for advancement, all eligible OF 
employees are to be notified and provided an opportunity to apply for the training with 
final selection made by the VHA CFO. Id., Chapter Ill, Paragraph 5. 

Background 

l{6)('7)1cl I became the < >< in .... llD_><7_><_C>_· ____ I and after being 
appointed to the Senior Executive Service in b)(Z)(C) he was permanent! appointed to the 
~~,..:..:....---.-:-:---'began working in DSO as a staff assistant in and he became 
----~direct report in 1(6)(7J<C> I In tb l< > obtained a 
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Bachelors of Science Degree in Business Management, and inl(bRfxc> I he obtained 
a Masters of Management Degree ..... l<6_~_1n_:_> _____________ _,! 

The former Analyst began working in the VHA Office of Finance as a college intern in 
September 2001; was converted to a fuU·time Management Analyst in December 200 \ ; 
and subsequently became a direct report to 1<6X7

><6> ·. ·. ·I In Aug~ 2004, the yer 
Analyst obtained a Masters of Business Administrat~· o Degree from The ~eo_r~e 
Washington University (CiVf>, Washington, DC; and in July 05, she resigned :fiom VA 
to pursue employme~ th~ private sector. (She died in tember 2007.) 

Academic Degree Ftmdingfo~(b)(i){C) I 
1<
6X7X0

> ·I educational records showed thatl<bX?.·xc!. · !enrolled in their Business M. an.·· agement 
Undergraduate Degree Program in ~b)17}{i >I and that between L..l(b_X7_x_e; _____ _.,,,. _ _... 

ll6)(7j{c) · f he took the 21 courses required to earn an undergraduate degree. He 
then enroUed in tbeE]Masters of Management Degree Program, and bctween[<bX7XC> 

fQ:)(c) .·· ·. ··. · > > · lhe took an additional l~aduate level courses to obtain a 
graduate degree. According to purchase card andLJrecords, l(~){ixc) I and another 
employee, a Program Analyst assigned to DSO in Bedford, Massachusetts, used their 
respective Government-1ssued urchase cards to pay for all 34 college courses. In total, 
VA paid $43,318.96 to0for <0 < > undergraduate llfld graduate degrees. 

l(b)(f>(c) I told us that ltbX7l<e> !verbally approved each of the 34 courses, prior to his 
taking them, but he said that he never submitted a written request for training. He said 
thaqtB><:~l · · · ·· !reviewed each course description, gave his verbal approval, and after 
completing each course, l<bX7l<Cl · · . ·I sbowedl(b)#')(C) ·• ·.· I the grade he earned . ._1<6_)(7_·~-c) ___ _, 

said that he asked the Program Analyst to use her purchase card to pay for some of his 
courses, because he was also using his purchase card to pay for tuition at GW for the 
fonner Analyst. He said he was also concerned about the spending limits on his purchase 
card. However, the Program Analyst told us that r6xt)(c) I requested that she use her 
card, because he said that his was not working properly. She said that she received a 
memorandum signed byl<b)(7){c} !authorizing the expenditure of funds to pay for nine 

CJcollege courses and that she received verbal authorization from her purchase card 
approving official to use the card to pay for these college courses. 

l(b)(7)(C) I told us that one of hls career goals was to become a manager and a member 
of the Senior Executive Service, and that he believed doing so would be an extension of 
his current position as al<hJ(7J(CJ I He said that at the time he began pursuing his 
undergraduate degree. he spoke with someone at VHA Health Administration Center 
Human Resources Office in Denver, Colorado, to ask if it was appropriate for VA to pay 
for the courses. He said that this person told him that it was permissible, as along as the 
courses were relevant to his job and his supervisor .approved them. f6)(7kc) I said that 
he did not document this conversation and could not remember the name of the person 
with whom he spoke. 

VA Office of Inspector General 4 
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l(b)(i){C) . · I to)d us that l(b}(t)(c) · ·.· · · !reviewed severaJ different graduate degree programs 
for him, discussed the pros and cons of each, and recommended that he pursue thel ""(b"""x-1)(-:-s .... 

Masters of Management Degree Program. 1Cb)(7)(¢) !said that he discussed each course 
with l<b)(7){cJ · .· Ito ensure that it was applicable to his job and that be approved each one 
individuaH&, on a course by course basis, and that he authorized the use of VA funds for 

1(6)(7){c) Jto obtain his academic de ees. However,IC6)(7)(c} ltold us that he did not 
use a c.ompetitive process to select l. for a degree program. He said that he 
authorized this expenditure so as to help (b)( >< better perform his job; because 
he expressed a desire to improve himself professionally;. and. sol(6)(!)(Cj. · I could pursue 
a higher education. ltbx7)(C1 .. j .acknowledged that ptil7)(c) ·.· · · • I position was not one 
that was hard to fill or that required special recruitment or retention incentives, and 
records indicated that a degree was not required for the position. 

1<6l<f)(C) ltold us that he never requiredl(&)(t)(c> ho submit a written request for this 
trainmg, and he said that, at the time, he was not familiar with a requirement to do so. 
!<ti){t){c) · I also said that he never required l<b}(7){c) · · Ito sign a continued service 
agreement, because he believed that the only time one was required was if the 
coursework was completed on Government time. Although l(b}('t)(~l;= -Ian~~~> · · 
said that each .course wasindividually reviewed and ver-baHy ap~ro.ved by .. @X!?; •. .jwe 
found anJb)(t;\(ct ... ·.. . .. . . I memorandum, College Funding for IIO'><pr · ..... ·. . --signed 

by j{b)('f)() ·. · .· I wherein he ~ved the expenditure of fun ... ds .. t. o.· .. p.a··. y for nine. 
undergraduate courses through LJover a 1-year period from 1(6)(7)(¢} 

l(b)(7)(c1 · I To the contrary, the memorandum listed o'"'"n-ly_th_e_co_u_r_se-ti-tle_s_and __ 

provided no detail on the content of each course, that there was an independent review of 
each, or that they were individually approved. 

l(b!<!~~l hold us that senior leadership within VHA Office of Finance, to include the 
form.er VHA CFO and his Executive Assistant, were aware that the VA paid for 

j(1if(f)(C} !education and that no one ever questioned it until ~b)(f)(Cl · · · !when 
allegations againstfb)(7)(C) . !surfaced that he improperly used his purchase card to pay 
for his college courses. l(l))(i)(c) I recalled a conversation that occurred during an 

1<6k7)(~) I performance awards meeting, attended by senior managers, and someone 
asked why the award proposed for lcb>ttxc> · I was lower than his contcm_poraries. 
fbl<txc) · . !said he told them that given the amount of money VA paid forl1&)(7'){C) · · 1 
college courses be believed that the lower award amount was sufficient. = I also said that he discussed the entire scope of Government funding for 
L j !education with the: former VHA CFO's Executive Assistant on other 
occasions, and he believed that the former VHA CFO should have known bow many 
courses were paid for by VA. In an Fbx7){cf .· .·· ·· Jemail message, the former VHA 
CFO' s Executive Assistant wrote to l(b)dxo) . · ·. I that l<~Rt)(c) . · . · ·.·· I courses and a ward 
were discussed the previous year during the award vetting process; however, he said that 
it was "not a hot topic discussion." The former CFO's Executive Assistant told us that be 
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recalled that a meeting took place in either j(b){t)(C} I when both the current and 
fonner VHA CFO were present, and someone asked whyjCtiK7)(C) !annual bonus was 
less than his contemporaries. He said that l<b)(7)(c) · I stated that the VHA Office of 
Finance paid for courses forl!bX7lCC> I and that the premise ofl<bX7)(c) · I statement 
was that in setting the award amount to be given to 1<6)(7)(c) I he had taken into 
consideration the amount spent on his college courses. The former CFO's Executive 
Assistant said he did not recall whether l<b><7)(c) I specified the number of courses 

!Cb)(i~c) I took at VA expense and that IC6><7><C> I response satisfied the original 
question. 

The former VHA CFO told us that he had no knowledge that the VA paid for college 
courses for~6)(7~ · .· Jor that he obtained a co1lege degree at VA expense. He said that 
in fbX7)(cJ . · after learning that l<bX7><c> I used a Government purchase card to pay 
for numerous college courses for himself, he asked~~~xc) I why they spent so much 
money forl<6X7XC) · !education. He said thatl<b)(; ; j responded by saying that it 
was to improve his job performance. 

{b)( c told us 
'"":'-~~~~~~~~~-..."'1!'!!!~----..-~~~~~~~~~~~~-' 

that he was not aware that (bX7><C> took college courses at VA expense until 
j(b)(7)(c) I purchase card expenditures were called into question. He said that when 
the allegations against j(b)(7)(c) I first surfaced, a meeting took place to discuss the 
matter, and the former VHA CFO askedl<6X7xc) . pf he authorized j(b)(7)(c) I to take 
college courses at VA expense. The VHA CFO told us that l<bl£X7> !acknowledged 
that he gave his approval for IM(7)(CJ Ito take the courses. He further said that both he 
and the fonner VHA CFO were "shocked" to learn thatl{b)(1)(c) japprovedl(b)(7)(C) I 
to take so many courses.at VA expense. 

Academic Degree Funding/or the Former Analyst 

According to GW records, the fonncr Analyst applied for admission to GW's Masters of 
Business Administration (MBA) degree progrnm in March 2002. In August of that year, 
she cancelled a student loan she obtained, indicating on the cancellation fonn "employer 
funding" as the reason. Between September 2002 and August 2004, the former Analyst 
took 19 graduate level courses to obtain an MBA degree at GW, which was recognized as 
one of the 10 most expensive private colleges in 2004. According to purchase card 
records,l<b>(i)(C) land four other VHA employees used their respective purchase cards 
to pay for the courses. In total, the VA spent $43,488.52 for the fonner Analyst's GW 
MBA education. Records further reflected that some of the expenditures to GW included 
items not normally allowed, such as interest, late payment fees, a graduation fee, and 
tuition for a course that was never completed. The participation by each of the other four 
card holders was limited in scope, independent of each other, and we found no evidence 
that any of them knew the full extent of expenditures made to GW on behalf of the 
fonner Analyst. A11 the card holders used their respective purchase carf,is only after 
receiving authorization, which in each case u1timately came from p>R7X0> I 
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l(b~)(C) I told us that be approved funding for the former Analyst to obtain her MBA, 
but he said that the initial approval came from the former (retired) VHA Deputy CFO. 

j(&)(7xc> . I said that he was left "out of the loop" and was not involved in the former 
Analyst's decision to attend GW. but she instead discussed her education plans with the 
former Deputy CFO. l(b)(7}(C) · . Jinitially said that he could not recaH how he came to 

believe that the former Deputy CFO approved the funding, only that he believed, at that 
time, that he did. He further said that when hel(b)('f)(c) · · I authorized the expenditures 
for the fonner Analyst, he believed he was only carrying out the former Deputy CFO's 
wishes. However. li6)('t)(?> pater told us that the former Analyst told him that the 
former Deputy CFO authorized the expenditure of funds to pay for her education, but he 
never verified this information with the former Deputy CFO directly nor did he have any 
documents showing that the former Deputy CFO approved the funding. Furthennore, 

l<bJ(7)(c) lsaid that he never required the fonner Analyst to submit written requests for 
training, to sign a continued service agreement, nor did he consider other training that 
would have been adequate but less expensive. 

lnitially, l<6K7~61 ··. I told us that only l<bi(txc} · . I authorized the expenditures of VA 
funds for the former Analyst's GW coursework and that herx1xc> . · I took care of 
payments. He later said that the former Deputy CFO also authorized the funding. To the 
contrary, the former Deputy CFO told us that when he was in that position, he and the 
former Analyst never discussed her education prior to her starting the GW degree 
program, and he said that he never authorized the expenditure of VA funds to pay for any 
of her education. In addition, he said that he did not know that jl6)(7)(C)'. I approved 
funding to pay for the former Analyst's education. 

Prior to her death, the former Analyst said thatf11><:xe> ltold her that VA would pay 
for her education. She also confirmed that before she knew this, she previously obtained 
approval for financial aid through GW. The fonner Analyst told us that l ..... ~_xt_)<c_> __ __. 
handled all the detai1s of paying for the courses and that she personally did not have to 
pay for any part of her GW educational expenses. She said that her conversations with 
the fonner Deputy CFO were informal and that they never talked about VA paying for 
her education. She also said that she never discussed her course work with _p~_X7_)(_c> ___ _. 

because he was utoo busy." The former Analyst provided us copies of training request 
forms and continued service agreements for 6 of the 19 graduate courses she took, and all 
contained l{bj(7)(c} .. < I signature. 

Conclusion 

We concluded thatj<6X7>CC) I improperly authorized the expenditure of .$86,807.48 in 
VA funds to pay for academic degrees. His actions were an abuse of his authority in that 
the~ were arbitrary and capricious; resulted in personal gain, or advantage. being afforded 
to ICXf~:> .· land the former Analyst, over any other employee; and that final approval 
for all training for Office of Finance employees should have been made by the CFO. A 
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key component to any education program sponsored by the agency is that a competitive 
process be used to select who will be given an educational opportunity at Government 
expense. The scope and magnitude of the education offered to these two employees far 
exceeded any normal training offered to employees to improve individual job 
perfonnance and was not a part of any agency sponsored educational program. Further, 
there was never a demonstrated need to pay for Bachelors and Masters degrees for 

jfb}{t)(C5 . · J or the former Analyst for the purposes of meeting an identified VA training 
need, resolving an identified staffing problem, or accomplishing a goal of VA 's strategic 
plan, as required by regulation and VA policy. 

fb)(tkc) I approval of funding undergraduate and graduate academic degrees for these 
employees was ex:cessive in nature and scope, allowing j(6)(7)(c) I to talce 34 college 
courses at VA expense. He also approved funding for 19 college courses for the fonner 
Analyst at one of the country's most ex ensive private colleges. Additionally, 

jd})(7)(c) !acknowledged that, by {b)( ){ l obtaining his academic degrees at VA 
expense, he received something of value over and above other employees, as expressed 
by his reducing rs)(t)(C) . ·.· .·.·· . I performance award due to v A paying for his education. In 
the case of the former Analyst, we found no credible evidence lo support ._l(b_){T_·~-c1_· __... _ __, 
assertion that the former Deputy CFO approved educational funding, as both the former 
Deputy CFO and Analyst said that they never discussed VA paying for her education. 
There were no docwnents to support l<~Jm(C) I assertion, and all the aPProval 
documents were signed by 1(6)(7)\C) I 

Moreovcr,l(b)(?)(C) !failed to fulfill the requirements of VA 's training policy, such as 
obtaining and maintaining written requests; protecting the interests of the Government by 
getting continued service agreements; specifically identifying the VA benefit in paying 
for entire academic degrees~ ensuring that the training was not provided because the 
employee had a high interest in it or had a background related to the subject of the 
training, and; by not using a competitive process to select who would receive the training. 
In addition, before authorizing training through a non-Government source, he failed to 
determine whether adequate training was reasonably available by, in, or through a 
Government facility; he failed to ensure that the training taken by the employees was the 
most practical and least costly to the Government, and; he failed to ensure that the 
prohibitions, limitations and requirements as stated in Part 410 of Title S of the Federal 
Code of Regulations were met. 

Recommendation t. We recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate administrative 
action againstl(6')(7RC) lfor improperly authorizing the expenditure of $86,807.48 to 
pay for academic degrees. 

Recommendation 2. We recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate administrative 
action agains~<bi(t)(C) lfor failing to properly administer VA training policy. 
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Recommendation 3. We recommend that the VHA CFO ensure that a bill of collection 
for $43,318.96 be issued tol1b)(7){CJ Ito recover funds improperly expended to pay for 
his undergraduate and graduate degrees. 

rssue 2: Whether fb)(7xc) I Violated Acqufsftlon Regulations and ~b){'7)(:~ 
lmproper1y Admfnistered VA Purchase Card Policy ...._ ___ ___, 

The Federal Acquisition Regulation prohibits "splitting't a single procurement exceeding 
the micro-purchase threshold limit into two or more transactions of lesser amounts in 
order to avoid the requirement that applies to purchases exceeding the micro-purchase 
threshold. 48 CFR § 13.003 (c)(2). Prior to September 28, 2006, this threshold amount 
was $2,500. Id.,§ 2.101; Federal Acquisition Circular 2005-13. 

VA policy states that purchase card Approving Officials are responsible for monitoring 
the use of the Government purchase card by the cardholder to ensure purchases are withln 
guidelines; certifying an transactions made by cardholders and ensuring 8pplicable 
documentation is maintained; ensuring Federal, VA, and local acquisition regulations are 
followed; and certifying all procurements are legal and proper. VA Handbook 4080, 
Paragraph 3a, (2003, 2005) and VHA Handbook 1730.1, Paragraph 3h, (2000, 2005). 
Policy further states that Cardholders are responsible for complying with all Federal, VA, 
and local acquisition regulations, including the prohibition against splitting transactions 
to avoid the micro-purchase threshold limit and maintaining appropriate receipt records 
in accoi:dance with VA Manual MP-4, Part X, Item 5- l, stating that procurement and 
voucher documentation must be kept for 6 years and 3 months. VA Handbook 4080, 
Paragraph 3c (2005); VHA Handbook 1730.1, Paragraph 3g (2000, 2005); VHA Office 
of Finance Operating Instructions for Government Purchase Card (l 7), February 9, 2006. 
VHA policy further provides that certification of inappropriate procurements will result 
in immediate revocation of approving authority, possible disciplinary action, and/or 
issuance of a bill of coliection for the full cost of the procurement. VHA Handbook 
1730.1, Paragraph 3h, {2000, 2005) 

Improper Splitting of Transactions 

Purchase card records associated with the payment of the fonner Analyst's education 
expenses at GW reflected that l(ti)(7)(Cl · ·• . I used his purchase card to make IO separate 
fragmented (split) payments totaling $17,205.81. (At the time he made these payments, 
Federal regulations prohibited s~Jittin: payments for expenditures ov. er $2,500.) For 
example, records showed that 1<6 7><6> _ I used the purchase card to pay the 2002 fall 
semester educational expenses in the amount of $4,916.00 by making three separate 
payments: $1,500.00 on August 8; $2,000.00 on September 17; and $1,416.00 on 
November 26. In another example, he paid the 2003 spring semester charges, totaling 
$5,033.47, by again making three separate payments: $1,304.00 on January 24; $1,304.00 
on January 27; and $2,425.47 on April 3. In a third example, during the 2003 summer 
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and fall semesters, .... l(6_x7_5<c_) _ __.lmade two split payments: $2,400.00 on August 6 and 
$2,400.00 on September 9. 

Records also showed that a DSO junior staff assistant made three split payments in 
October 2003 to GW totaling $7,200.00. These included two payments of $2,400.00, 
each made on October 9, and a third of $2,400.00 made on October 16. The junior staff 
assistant told us that when he first started working in DSO in jCb)(t){C) lwho 
was his first-level supervisor, made it clear to him that he was to receive work 
assignments and take direction froml<6>17}<C} I He said that in about llb><7)(C) I 

l(b)(f)(c1 I directed him to obtain a purchase card, and in ltb)(7)(c) I 
instructed him to make several $2,400.00 payments to GW for the former Analyst's 
college courses. The staff assistant told us that he did not make payments to GW on his 
own initiative and thatl(b)(txci I told him when tl<6W7a~e(ayments and for how much. 
He said that he was a new employee with less than >< > Federal service, and he acted 
upon instructions given to him by l<b><7xc) I 
In a November 3, 2003, email message from a Chief Accountant at VA Denver 
Accounting Finance Office to the DSO junior staff assistant, the Chief Accountant 
restated a telephone conversation regarding the staff assistant making several split 
payments. In this message, she documented that she asked him why he made three 
charges against his purchase card totaling $6,000 when his limit was $2,500. She said 
that his reply was thatfb)(iJ<C} hold him to do it that way and that "this is how he does 
it all the time." The Chief Accountant restated that she told him that it was illegal to 
fragment an order and that she asked him to contact the vendor and have the charges 
credited back to his purchase card. 

Purchase card records reflected that in early 2004, after the above communication, 
l!S)(7}(c) land the staff assistant together made four additional split payments to GW 
totaling $7,256.34. The staff assistant made two $2,400.00 split payments, with one on 
February 10 and the other on February 26. j<b><7><CJ ltben made two split payments, 
with one for $2,400.00 on March 31 and the other on April 6 for $56.34. The staff 
assistant said he made these payments even after the Chief Accountant told him that 
making them were improper; however, be said that he did so atlCb~i)(c) ldircction. 

l(h)(t}{c) I acknowledged that it was his practice to make split payments. He said that he 
knew he had to keep each payment under $2,500, but he thought that it did not matter 
how many payments he made to pay off the total amount owed, as long as he did not 
exceed his monthly spending limit. ICbJ{7)(Cl I also said that he instructed the staff 
assistant to make split payments, but he said that he did not realize he was directing him 
to violate acquisition regulations. 

However, records reflected that l(b)(f>t.C) I was aware that the Chief Accountant 
previously took issue with the staff assistant making split payments. The Director, 
Financial User Support for DSO in Bedford, Massachusetts, who at the time was the 
approving official for the staff assistant's purchase card account, told us that he also 
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received a copy of the Chief Accountant's November 3, 2003, email message and that his 
copy contained a note he inserted at the bottom documenting that a conference call took 
place regarding the split payment issue. The Director's note stated, "Resolved via 
conference call this AM with [staff assistant's name1 j(b)('f)tc) land [chief accountant's 
name]. Bottom line all we need to have is the delinquent memo signed which was rea(l. 
11/2/03.'' < 

f6)(7)(C} hold us that he knew the staff assistant had a purchase card, but he said that he 
did not know that the staff assistant used the card to gay for the former Analyst's GW 
education. He also said that he was unaware tharl<SkflO .. · !made split transactions or 
that he directed the staff assistant to do the same. He further said that he was unaware 
that expenditures to GW included late fees and interest penalties, a graduation fee, and 
tuition for a course the fonner Analyst never completed. However, a Citibank Senior 
Client Account Manager told us that l<0)<7)(c) !was listed as the Approving Official for 
the purchase cards issued to Mr. Pappas. 

Unaccounted Purchase Card Refund and Erroneous Credit to VBA Account 

In her November 3, 2003, email message, the Chief Accountant instructed the staff 
assistant to obtain a refund to his purchase card from GW for the three $2,400 payments 
totaling $7,200. Purchase card records reflected that GW refunded only $2,400 to the 
staff assistant's purchase card account. However, we found no evidence that GW 
refunded the other two $2,400 payments to the purchase card or that they credited them to 
the former Analyst's GW account. A GW official told us that the $4,800 was instead 
applied to a Veterans Benefits Administration account set up to pay for courses taken by 
a veteran costing $4,525.04, leaving an unaccounted amount of $274.96. 

Conclusion 

We concluded thatl(b)(f)(c) I violated acq_uisition regulations on numerous occasions by 
making split payments· that circumvented contracting requirements applying to purchases 
exceeding the micro-purchase threshold limit and that he inappropriately directed a 
subordinate staff assistant to make improper split payments. Even more egregious is that 
he continued to make and direct split payments after being told it was illegal With 
respect to l<blffK¢l · .. ···· lwe found that he failed to properly administer VA purchase card 
policy when, as a purchase card Approving Official, he failed to ensure that expenditures 
made byf6){7)(C:J lwere compliant with Federal law, regulations and VA policy. With 
respect to the junior staff assistant, we found that he improperly made the split payments 
using his purchase card, even after being informed that it was improper~ however, we 
recognize that he was a new e~loyee with less thanl(l:l)jlofFederal service, and on all 
occasions, he was followingl<1:1x7 c) · · · linstruclions. ~xc) .··. ·· . · · · .. · lwere 
employees of the DSO Chief Financial Officer. They should know, follow, and provide 
guidance on legal and policy requirements relating to financial matters. 
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Recommendation 4. We recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate administrative 
action against l<b}(7)(c) · · · .· I for misuse of a Government-issued purchase card and violating 
and instructing a new employee at a lower grade to violate acquisition regulations. 

Recommendation S. We recommend that the VHA CFO take approprlate administrative 
action againstl<bXt&e> jfor failing to properly administer VA purchase card policy. 

Recommendation 6. We recommend that the VHA CFO confer with OGC to determine 
whether a bill of collection for $43,488.53 can be issued to fb)(7xci I to recover the 
funds he improperly expended to pay for the Analyst's MBA degree, and ensure that a 
bill of collection in that amount is issued to ~b)(i)(C) . !should it be determined that as 
the Approving Official he was responsible for the improper expenditure. 

Recommendatioa 7. We recommend that the VHA CFO confer with OGC to review the 
matter of the two $2,400 payments erroneously credited to a VBA aocount and the 
unaccounted $274.96 to determine the appropriate action to recoup any monies owed to 
VHA and to properly account for the expenditures in the correct appropriation/budget 
records. 

Issue 3: Whether J<bX7><C> I Destroyed Documents, 
Misrepresented Facts, and Displayed a Lack of Candor 

Federal regulations require employees to furnish information and testify freely and 
honestly in cases respecting employment and disciplinary matters. 38 CFR § 0.735·12. 
VA policy states that intentional falsification, misstatement. or concealment of material 
fact in connection with employment or any investigation, inquiry or proper proceeding; 
refusaJ to cooperate in same; or willfully forgoing or falsifying official Government 
records or documents warrants penalties from reprimand to removal. In addition, this 
policy states that the penalty for destroying a public record is removal. VA Handbook 
5021, Part I, Appendix A. 

Improper Document Destruction 

We asked the VHA CFO for records pertaining to j<t>){t)(c) I purchase card 
transactions with GW, and he said that he was not .aware of any GW transactions. 

j(6)(7)(c) I explained to him that the former Analyst obtained her degree from GW at VA 
ex~se. In a subsequent email message, the VHA CFO directed "-~6_R7'_X_Cl ____ ...i 

l<bKT> ho provide the documents pertaining to transactions made to OW and other 
vendors in regards to the former Analyst's educational expenses. The VHA CFO also 
instructed them to produce monthly reconciliation documentation of the vendor invoices 
with the monthly purchase card statements, and he said that if the documentation was nol 
available, to tell him whether it ever existed and its disposition. 
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1{6)(7i(C) · .· !provided receipts for only a few of the numerous GW transactions. In his 
Mitten response to the VHA CFO that accompanied these documents, f6:fi0> · · I wrote 
that the documentation existed at one time; however, he shredded all credit card 
documents prior to 2006. He said that after a training class on the transition from hard 
copy statements to the new electronic system, all old paper records were shredded as per 
guidance given in the class. In addition,l<6)(7}(C) I told the VHA CFO that there were a 
few documents for GW that were kept in a different folder and that he obtained the 
receipts forl-· lthat were stored electronically on the0computer system. However, we (bl(

7
HC> 

later learned that two junior staff assistants who fell under j(b>pxcJ I operational 
supervision, obtained purchase cards at his direction and used them to pay for books and 
tuition expenses at GW for the former Analyst. l(b)(txc> ldid not include this fact in 
his response to the VHA CFO and did not attempt to obtain G W documentation from 
either of the staff assistants, or at minimum, inform the VHA CFO or the OIG, of the role 
the two junior staff assistants played and the possible existence of the documentation. 

ICb><7><Cl ] told us that during a previous purchase card training session, the Purchase 
Card Program Coordinator said that purchase card receipts and statements no longer 
needed to be maintained and a day or two later, he shredded nil of his purchase card 
documentation. In ltb~t){C} . · I written response to the VHA CFO, he said that paper 
copies of documentation prior to the transition to electronic processing were destroyed at 
the instruction of the purchase card trainer. l<bj(t)(C) ·· ··. ltold us that he attended the same 
purchase card training asl~R7}(q) . .· I that he jlb)(7)(C) !personally asked the Program 
Coordinator whether they needed to maintain old paper copies; and she said no. 

The fonuer Program Coordinator, currently appointed to a different position within VA 
Office of Finance, told us that VHA Office of Finance transitioned from using monthly 
paper statements to using electronic statements on-line. She said that on November 30, 
2005, she facilitated a training session for card holders and approving officials to learn 
about the new on-line rocedures for reconciling their monthly statements. She said that 
(b)(7 C) among others, were in attendance. She said that during the 
trammg session, e gave everyone a handout caUed ••Purchase Card Highlights," and 
that one of the talking points mentioned that purchase card receipts and supporting 
documentation must be kept for 6 years and 3 months. She said that she clearly stated the 
retention requirements, as an internal compliance review of the VHA Office of Finance's 
Purchase Card Program, conducted earlier that year, found that supporting documentation 
from purchase card transactions were not always retained as required. 

Other employees who also attended the training session told us that they could not recall 
the details of the session; however, they all told us that they knew they were required to 
keep receipts and supporting documents from their purchase card transactions. One card 
holder, a former secretary to the VHA CFO, told us that she remembered the former 
Program Coordinator te!Jing everyone to keep receipts, and she provided us with a copy 
of the handout she received at the training. This handout was identical to the one the 
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fonner Program Coordinator gave us. In discussing this contradictory information with 
~b)(t)(C} . ·. ·.·. ·• ··. ·. · .. · · · ·... .· · · · · · hhey both maintained that the fonner Program Coordinator 
told them that they did not need to keep purchase card supporting documentation and that 
they never received a copy of the handout. 

Misrepresentation 

In the summer of 2005, the fonner VHA CFO directed that an internal compliance review 
be done ofVHA Office of Finance's Purchase Card Program. A subsequent report, VHA 
Office of Finance ( 17), Government Purchase Card Program Review, Final Report, dated 
September 30, 2005, reflected that the review took place at VA Central Office (VACO) 
from June 27 to July 1, 2005. The report identified several deficiencies and made 
appropriate recommendations. One area of deficiency was the retention of receipts and 
other supporting documentation for p\ll"chase card transactions. It stated: 

All cardholders were able to provide receipts for these purchases except the 
cardholder ln the DSQ/coreFLS Project Office (175). Prior to May 2005, 
the cardholder shredded the receipts after reconciling the monthly 
statement. The cal'dholder provided FAS with a copy of a new internal 
policy for the DSO/coreFLS Project Office (175) dated May I, 2005, 
stating that starting immediately, the receipts will be retained for l year, 
and then shredded. This new policy will not be in compliance with the VA 
records retention requirements. (Italics and underline emphasis added by 
OIG.) 

The VHA Financial Assistance Section (FAS) lead auditor, who conducted the review 
and authored the resulting report, identified fbX7JtC) las the only cardholder who did 
not provide receipts and su~rtin, documentation. She told us that as part of the review 
process, she asked 1<6){7xc _ in a July 11, 2005, email message to provide 
documentation for severa1 purchase card transactions on two purchases cards assigned to 
him. She said that(<~~7)(c) !telephoned her 2 days later to explain why he did not have 
any receipts. She said that he then sent her, via facsimile, a copy of a new internal DSO 
purchase card policy. The policy document was typewritten on plain white (non­
letterhead) paper, contained the title "Decision Support Office ( 175) Credit Card Policy," 
and was signed byl'b~~9 lwith a handwi;ltten date of May I, 2005. 

The first paragraph of text described previous DSO purchase card procedures, stating that 
until the new policy, the procedure followed by DSO in regard to credit card certification 
was to shred receipts and keep no copies in the office. Subsequent text stated that the 
new procedures required that purchase card receipts be kept for 1 year. l(b){7)(¢) · jtold 
us that he authored, signed, and dated the policy memorandum. 

In a forensic examination ofl<bl<7
XC) Iv A-issued desktop computer hard drive and a 

manual search of his VA-issued laptop computer; restored copies of his VA network 
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share drive dating back to May l, 2005, and his archived email messages, we were unable 
to locate a copy of this policy memorandum on any VA systems assigned to him. 
However, we found a copy of the policy memorandum within a restoroo copy of 

l<&xtxci Iv A network share drive. The electronic document properties associated 
with the file showed that the narrie of the document was '05 Credit Card Policy.doc and 
that the author of the document was l<b)(f)(C) I which is ~6)(7)(C) IV A user 
name. Further, the file properties indicated that the document was created and last saved 
byj<b)(7)(c) lon June 22, 2005, which was over 50 days after the handwritten date at the 
top of the printed copy that he provided the lead auditor on or about July 13. 

(b)(7)(C) 
In a July l l, 2005, email message, the lead auditor identified four purchase card 
transactions for college courses l<bX7XC) I took at[] but l<b)(7)(¢J · ·· I made assertions 
to her that he did not have these purchase card records. However in 2003, .... l<b_x7_x_c> __ ___, 
previously provided D receipts obtained from the internet to the Analyst in Bedford 
when she paid for six of his courses. 

jcb)(t)(C) !initially told us that at the time the lead auditor made her request, copies of 
these invoices were not available on the internet; however, after we reminded him that in 
2003 he provided these same documents to the Analyst in Bedford, he said that at the 
time the lead auditor asked him for invoices and receipts, he did not recall that they were 
available on-line and did not think of ca\lingOto get them. 

Lack of Candor 

Purchase card records reflected that l(b)(f)<cJ I recei"Ved two separate Govemment­
issued purchase cards with different account numbers and that he used one for office 
supplies and the other to pay for training. l<6X7><C> I told us that it was only recently that 
he learned thaqtGl<txc) jpossessed two seearate purchase cards. He said that when he 
first took over as Acting Associate CFO in rb)(t)(C) . I his predecessor told him of 
onl:y one purchase card, the supply card, being assigned to l(b)(7)(c) I He said that 
l<b)(7)(c) lnever told him he had a second purchase card and never provided him with 
monthly statements for the second account. However, we obtained copies of monthly 
statements for both accowits for the May 2005 billing cycle, and both contained 

jM(7j(c) l signature as the Approving Official. When shown the statements, he 
acknowledged that he signed them, but he stated that he had no recollection of doing so. 
He further said that he must not have realized that the statements were for two separate 
accounts. Cb)( X > said that although he knew (b)( J( used a purchase card to pay 
for his courses, he never questioned him why the charges did not appear on the 
purchase card statements. · 

l(b)(tJ(C) I told us that both purchase cards were issued to him sometime inc:=:Jwhen 
he was supervised by a now retired Associate CFO for DSO. He further said that 
although he obtained the two purchase cards prior tol<b><7><6> lbecoming his supervisor, 

1<6xtxc> I was aware that he had both cards and that he routinely gave him the monthly 
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statements for both accounts to review and a rove. l<bJttxci I predecessor told us 
that she could not recall whether <0 X had a purchase card while under her 
supervision or what she may have told >< ) regarding a purchase card being issued 
to him. The former Associate CFO told us that he was unsure whetherl<b)(7J(C) I was 
issued a purchase card while under his supervision. 

We found an electronic document on l(b)(t)(c) I VA network drive with the name 
Coop's-Weekly Activig Report-FY'02. This appeared to be a detailed chronoJogical 
journal prepared by f6X xc> lof his daily work activities during the time when be was 
under the prior supervisor, which was after the former Associate CFO retired and before 

fb){t)(c) !started working in DSO. A November 8, 200 l, entry in the activity report 
reflected that 1~11~=~ . I attended a 3-hour purchase card training cJass on that day so 
that he could receive a purchase card. A Citibank Senior Client Account Manager told us 
that the first purchase card issued tolt6)(7)(c1 !account number ending in 7551, was 
opened on March 29, 2002, and the second, account number ending in 1725, was opened 
on July 3, 2002, and that flb)(t)(c) I was 'the Approving Official for both accounts. 
Purchase card records further reflected that the first charge made with the card ending in 
7551 was to St:aples, an office supply company, posting to the account on 
April 9, 2002. Records also showed that the initi;d charges made on the second card, 
ending in 1725, ~sted on August 8, 2002, and that these charges were for college 
courses taken by I< > xc) . · · land the former Analyst. 

Conclusion 

We concluded that (<t>){txc) .· ·.· • .··. . · · · I failed to fully cooperate with VHA and 
OIG officials in matters pertaining to their employment. l(bX7xe> ..• ··. ·. I failed to provide 
invoices and receipts for six college courses, paid for by the Analyst in Bedford, in 
resrgnse to OIG's and the VHA CFO's first request to produce purchase card documents. 

l(~)(f !was less than candid in statements he made in response to the VHA CFO's 
second directive to provide documentation when he claimed that only a few GW 
documents existed, when he knew two subordinate staff assistants in his office had at one 
time used their respective purchase cards to pay for some of the former Analyst's' 
education expenses at GW. He also failed to include their documentation in his response 
to the VHA CFO, or at minimum, inform the VHA CFO or the OIG, of the role the two 
junior staff assistants played and the possible existence of the documentation. 

l<b)(7)(C) I was less than candid with a VHA Auditor and failed to fully cooperate during 
an official review ordered b{i the former VHA CFO of the Office of Finance's Purchase 
Card Program. j<~~7><C:> told the auditor that receipts and supporting documentation 
for bis purchase card transactions did not exist when in fact he could obtain these receipts 
through other means. In addition, he misrepresented to the VHA Auditor that it was DSO 
policy to shred all receipts and supporting documentation and then provided her with a 
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false document, a fabricated policy memorandum prepared almost 2 months after the date 
on the memorandum, to support his claim. 

Furthennore, l<b)(7)(c) lfalsely claimed that he authored the DSO Credit Card policy 
memorandum, dated May 1, 2005; the evidence instead showed thatl<b)(7xC) ~created 
the document over 50 days after the date written on it and signed by L..1<

6_)(7_)(_> ___ ..... 

Moreover, we noted that the policy memorandum was created just 5 days before the 
VHA Office of Finance's Purchase Card Program Review took place. It is problematic 
thatl<6X7)(c) las the VHA Associate CFO for the Office of Finance Decision Support 
Office would create policy contrary to Federal regulations and VA policy. 

During the July 2005 VHA Purchase Card Program Review, l<bX7
}(Cl ~laimed that it 

was DSO policy to shred receipts, but then also claimed to have shredded his documents 
within "a day or two" after the purchase card training session. At the onset of our 
investiqation, when the VHA CFO ordered the production of purchase card records, 
neither l(b)(7)cq !mentioned the DSO Credit Card Policy memorandum 
to the VHA CFO or that it was DSO's practice, as indicated in the policy memorandum, 
to shred purchase card records. Instead, they misrepresented to the VHA CFO and to 
OIG investigators that the documents were shredded because the Purchase Card Program 
Coordinator told them that they no longer needed to keep it, which was contrary to what 
she and others told us and contrary to her handout. 

We found that l<6><
7l<C) jdid not testify honestly or accurately when he said that he was 

issued two purchase cards prior to 1<6x7)(C) !becoming his supervisor. We also found 
that ~b)(t)(c) I did not testify honestly or accurately when he told us that he did not 
know about the second purchase card. Citibank records showed that the two purchase 
cards were issued to 1<6)(7)(c) I afterl(6><7)(c> I became his supervisor,l<b)(t)(c) · I was 
the approving official for each purchase card, and the first charges made to each card 
transacted afterl(6)(7xc) · I becamel<b)(t)(C) I purchase card Approving Official. 

Recommendation 8. We recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate administrative 
action against l(b)(7)(C> jfor his failure to testify freely and honestly and for 
falsification, misstatements, and/or concealment of material facts in connection with his 
employment. 

Recommendation 9. We recommend that tbe VHA CFO take appropriate administrative 
action againstl<o}(7)(C) I for fai1ing to comply with Federal regulations and VA policy 
in maintaining proper purchas~ card documentation. 

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate 
administrative action againstl<6><7XC> lfor his failure to testify freely and honestly and 
for falsification, misstatements, and/or concealment of material facts in connection with 
his employment. · 

VA Office of Inspector General 17 
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Recommendation 11. We recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate 
administrative action against l<bXfJ(Cl I for failing to ensure the purchase cardholder 
maintained appHcabJe documentation. 

Issue 4: Whethe~lGxtxCi I Misused Government Resources 

The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch state that an 
employee has a duty to protect and conserve Government property and shall not use such 
property, or allow its use, for other than authorized purposes. S CFR § 2635. 704 (a). VA 
policy requires employees to conduct themselves professionally in the workplace and to 
refrain from using Government office equipment for activities that are inappropriate; and 
it expressly prohibits employees from using VA computer systems for creating, 
downloading. viewing, storing, copying, or transmitting sexually explicit or sexuaHy 
oriented materials. VA Directive 6001, paragraph 2 (c)(5). 

In a forensic analysis of the link files (user access fi1es) on 1<6R7R~ I desktop hard 
drive to identify references to the folder structure containing the sexually explicit files, 
we identified links from his desktop hard drive to th~ VA network drive that contained 
several of the sexually explicit essays. The most recent modification date associated with 
these link files wa.~ January 17, 2007, which was after we began our investigation and 
aft.er our first interview ofj(l>)(7}(C) Ion January 1 I. 

These link files also referenced a folder structure on a removable device identified as F:, 
and the references for this device showed additional folders and file names. These file 

matched the folder location and file names of the files located on (b><7><c> 
---~~- ~~~~~-

recovered network drive, and they each contained sexually explicit material. This 
indicated that it was probable tliad!b)(i}(CJ · I used a removable device - possibly a USB 
thumb drive - at some point to transfer files between the removable device, the desktop, 

VA Office of Inspector General 18 



I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Administrative Investigation - Improper Funding of College Degrees, 
Failtire to Administer and Follow Policy, and Misuse of Government Resources, VHA Office of Finance 

and the VA network drive. All identified references to the folder structure on the 
removable device were dated in March 2007, which again was after the initiation of our 
investigation and first interview ofl(b)(t)(Cl I 
In addition to his assiqned desktop, we found images of partially clad females and a nude 
male onl<b)(t)(:) J VA-issued laptop computer. On the Iaptopt we also found hyper 
text markup language files ill the Temporary lntemet Files folder of his user pro.file -
1<6)(;~> 1- identifying web pages or sexually explicit stories asscciated with r6xt)(Ci 
l<bX xi !which were last accessed between October 4 
and November 23, 2006. 

l16){7kci I told us that he used VA computers to read and download sexually explicit 
material. He sai(i that he "looked up pornographic material" and that he removed 
sexually explicit material from his network drive after the OIG began its investigation, 
stating that he "probably" knew it was improper to have sexually explicit material on his 
VA computer systems. 

Conclusion 

We found that r»axc) !routinely used VA-issued computer systems to view, copy, 
transmit and store adult sexually explicit material. A computer forensic analysis 
determined that sexual1y explicit documents, images, and videos were stored on 

l(bi(t){C) I assigned VA network drive and linked to his VA-issued desktop computer 
hard drive. Forensic analysis also determined that l<b)(t}(c) I VA-issued laptop 
computer contained sexually explicit materials inc\uding eviden~e thatl ._<6_)(7_)(_c> __ ___. 
accessed sexually explicit websites. Further, our analysis showed that he removed the 
materials from his VA network drive shortly after our investigation began. Also of 
concern is that even after 1<6){7)(c) I removed the inappropriate material from his VA 
network drive, and knowing that he was still under investigation by the OJG, he 
continued to go on-line using his VA·assigned computer to view sexually explicit 
material on the Internet. 

Recommendation 12. W c recommend that the VHA CFO take appropriate 
administrative action againstl<b)<7xci I for the misuse of VA computers systems. 

Recommendation 13. We recommend that the VHA CFO conduct a follow up analysis 
ofl<b)(t)(CJ I current VA-assigned computer systems to ensure that he no longer 
accesses sexually explicit materials and that his VA-owned computer systems are set to 
block access to all inappropriate internet content. 

VA Office of Inspector General 19 
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Comments 

The VHA CFO concurred with the recommendations, stating that he will take appropriate 
administrative action against j<6>17)(CJ · I after coordination with Office 
of General Council (OGC) and Office of Human Resources Management (OHRM). The 
VHA CFO's response is in Appendix A. We will follow up to ensure the recommended 
actions are taken. · 

VA Office o1 Inspector General 
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Chief Financial Officer Comments 

Date: 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

April 9, 2009 

Memorandum 

From: Chief Financial Officer, Veterans Health Administration (17) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Improper Funding of 
College Degrees, Failure to Administer and Follow Policy, 
aind Misuse of Government Resources, VHA Office of 
Finance, Washington, DC 

To: VA Office oflnspector General 

See comments 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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VHA Chief Financial Officer's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following VHA Chief Financial Officer's comments are 
submitted in response to the recommendation(s) in the Office 
of Inspector General's Report: 

OIG Recomwendgtion(s} 

Recommendation 1. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action againstl~~!x:> ~or 
improperly authorizing the expenditure of $86,807.48 to pay 
for academic degrees. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC andOHRM. 

Recommendation 2. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
talce appropriate administrative action against j(bl{7)(C) I for 
failing to properly administer VA training policy. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 

Recommendation 3. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
ensure that a bill of collection for $43,318.96 be issued to 

l'6)l7>(C) I to recover funds improperly expended to pay for 
his undergraduate and graduate degrees. 

Concur Target Completion Date~ June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 
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Recommendation 4. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action againstl<b)(7)(C) l for 
misuse of a Government-issued purchase card and violating 
and directing a new employee at a lower grade to violate 
acquisition regulations. 

Concur Tnget Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 

Recommendation S. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action against j<b)(7){c) I for 
failing to properly administer VA purchase card policy. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 

Recommendation 6. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
confer with OGC to determine whether a bill of collection for 
$43,488.53 can be issued tol(b)(t)(C) Ito recover the funds 
he improperly expended to pay for the Analyst's MBA 
degree, and ensure that a bill of collection in that amount is 
issued to l<bX7XC> I should it he determined that as the 
Approving Official he was responsible for the improper 
expenditure. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 
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Recommendation 7. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
confer with OGC to review the matter of the two $2,400 
payments erroneously credited to a VBA account and the 
unaccounted $274.96 to detennine the appropriate action to 
recoup any monies owed to VHA, and to properly account for 
the expenditures in the correct appropriation/budget records. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

We are seeking guidance of the OGC on how to go about 
recouping funds paid to Goorge Washington University and 
erroneously credited by them to a VBA account. 

Recommendation 8. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action against f(b)(7)<C) I for 
his failure to testify freely and honestly and for falsification, 
misstatements, and/or concealment of material facts in 
connection with bis employment 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHR..\1, but we are also seeking guidance of 
the OGC regarding the degree to which he may have lacked 
candor in his testimony. 

Recommendation 9. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action against l<b)(7)(C) I for 
failing to comply with Federal regulations and VA policy in 
maintaining proper purchase card documentation. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

wm take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 
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Recommendation 10. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action againstllhx7Rc} I for 
his failure to testify freely and honestly and for falsification, 
misstatements, and/or concealment of matcriai facts in 
connection with his employment 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

wm take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM, but we are also seeking guidance of 
the OGC regarding the degree to which he may have lacked 
candor in his testimony. 

Reeommendatfon 11. We recommend that the VHA 
CFO take appropriate administrative action against 

1{6)(7)(Cj I for failing to ensure the purchase cardholder 
maintained applicable documentation. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 

Recommendation 12. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
take appropriate administrative action againstl<6

><
7ll0> I for 

the misuse of VA computers systems. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2009 

Will take appropriate administrative action after coordination 
with OGC and OHRM. 
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Recommendation 13. We recommend that the VHA CFO 
conduct a fol!ow up analysis ofl(b){7)(C) I current VA. 
assigned computer systems to ensure that he no longer 
accesses sexually explicit materials and that his VAvowned 
computer systems are set to block access to all inappropriate 
internet content. 

Concur Target Completion Date; March 31, 2009 

The follow-up analysis of the VA-owned desktop and laptop 
computers have been completed by the Department of 
Veterans Affairs Enterprise Security Management Field 
Operations Network and Security Operations Center VA· 
NSOC Forensic Analysis Reports VA 22527, February 17, 
2009 (desktop computer) and VA 22783, February 20, 2009 
(laptop computer) did not show any additional misuse of 
these computers. 
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Appendix B 
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Under Secretary for Health (10) 
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AppendixC 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operation$ 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington DC 20420 

July 10, 2008 

"RESTRICTED REPORT" 

The Office of Inspector General issued the enclosed report - Administrative 
Investigation - Failure to Satisfy Financial Obligations Battle Creek VA 
Medical Center (Report No. 07-02623-164} on July 10, 2008. 

This unredacted report is being distributed to you for your information only. The 
information contained in the report is subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act 
of 1974 (5 U.S.C.§552a). Such information may be disclosed only as authorized 
by this statute. Questions concerning the release of th\s report should be 
coordinated with the Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Inspector General. 
The contents of this report rnust be safeguarded from unauthorized disclosure 
and may be shared within the Department of Veterans Affairs on a need-to-know 
basis only. 

We are providing an unredacted copy for your information only. 

Enclosure 



DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and Management 
(lON) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation - Failure to Satisfy Financial Obligations, 
VA Medical Center, Battle Creek, Michigan (2007-02623-IQ-O 159) 

Summary 

We substantiated that thel .... ~6_><7_l<_ci _____________________ __, 

failed to satisfy, in good faith, his just financial obligations, to include charges on his 
Government contractor-issued travel charge card, an automobile loan, real estate property 
taxes, and Federal and State income taxes. As a result of fb)<7XCJ !failing to pay his 
travel card, the contractor revoked it, and his failure to pay his other debts resulted in the 
repossession of his automobile, the sale of his house at a delinquent tax auction, the 
referral of delinquent State income taxes to a collections agency, and aggressive bill 
collectors calling his VA office, creating a stressful work environment for his staff. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Ins ector General, Administrative Investi ations Division, received 
alle~ations that < 

l<b)(7)( I failed.._to_s_a-ti-s--h-is_fi_n_an_c_ia_l_o_b_l_i -a-ti_o_n-s.-T-o_a_s-se_s_s_th_e-se_a_U_e_a_t_io_n_s_, _w_e __ 

interviewed < J< > > '-----------------------------------------------------------' the VJSN Chief Financial Officer (CFO); the Medical Center CFO; other VA Medical 
Center staff; and the Boone County, Missouri De u Tax Collector. We reviewed 

fb)(t)(C) I travel charge card account, (bl( Jee> real estate tax. records, an 
Affidavit from the Custodian of Records for the Missouri Department of Revenue, other 
relevant documents, and applicable laws, regulations, and VA policies. We addressed 
other allegations in separate memorandums and they will not be discussed further in this 
report. 
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Results 

Issue 1: Whetherl ..... cb_><7_xc_l _ ___,lfailed to satisfy his financial obligations 

The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch require 
employees to satisfy in good faith their obligations as citizens, including all just financial 
obligations, especially those - such as Federal, State, or local taxes - that are imposed by 
Jaw. 5 CFR § 2635.809. VA policy requires an employee to provide the contractor 
issuing the travel charge card (Citibank) with any change of address infonnation within 
30 days of the change, to pay their travel card bills in full by the statement due date, and 
that account delinquency is considered misconduct and subjects the cardholder to 
disciplinary actions ranging from reprimand to removal. VA Handbook 0631.1, 
Paragraphs 3(h), 18, and 19. 

l<:x;)(c) !told us that he became thel(b)(7><6l I in 
"""{ .,.,.k'""")(c'""} _ ___._ _ ___,I Records showed that, at that time, he was promoted into the Senior 
Executive Service, and that for years 2006 and 2007, he received monetary awards in the 
amounts of $9, 125 and $3 134, res ectivel < c xc> 

< >< > The Medical Center CFO 
toJd us that < >< >< > had oversight of all operations, 
including the achievement of targeted budget levels, and a summary of the Medical 
Center's fund sources dated September 11, 2007, as provided by the CFO, showed a 
budget of more than $14 7 million. 

Delinquent Government Contractor-Issued Travel Charge Card 

Citibank records showed that they closed l(bl<7XC> I travel charge card account for 
non-payment of charges totaling $3203.39. The Medical Center CFO, who was also the 
travel card coordinator, told us that j<bl<7><c> I name first appeared on Citibank's 
delinquency report in December 2006 and again on subse~uent monthly reports for 
January and February 2007. He told us that he first notifiedl(b i)(C) I of the delinquent 
account after receivin the December 2006 report> and during that conversation, the CFO 
discovered that < never ave Citibank his change of address after moving from 

!b x > The CFO said that he then contacted Citibank, 
updated >< X > address, and provided< lC l< l the most current statement for the 
account. The CFO also said that each time < c > name appeared on subsequent 
monthly delin~uency reports, he reminded Cb <7 CJ that he must pay his bill in full and 
that each time ~l<7>(C) I gave assurances that he would take care of the matter. 

The Medical Center CFO said that when (b)( > C> name again appeared on a March 
2007 Citibank delinquency reRort he told < c7xci that as the CFO he would initiate a 
salary offset action against >< l pay. He said that. not long after that 
conversation, j<b}(7)(c) I told him that he paid the outstanding balance; however, the 
CFO said that a short time later, a Citibank employee told him that rb)(t)(C) I personal 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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check was not honored due to insufficient funds. The Medical Center CFO said that 
l<ti)(7)(C) I subsequently told. him that a relative paid the outstanding balance, and 
Citibank records reflected that the debt was paid on April 2, 2007. 

l(b)(7)(C) I told us that all the charges to his travel card were valid and that he was indeed 
negligent regarding his travel charge card account. He said that he suffered a serious 
medical condition shortly after arriving at the Battle Creek VA Medical Center, and as a 
result of his medical condition, he forgot about this debt. He further said that it was no 
excuse for his failure to pay his travel card balance by the due date but that his failure to 
pay the account in a timely manner was an isolated occurrence. However, Citibank 
records showed thaU<6k7kC> !was habitually delinquent in paying his travel card bill, 
and due to his poor payment history, Citibank denied his subsequent request for another 
travel card. Records showed that there were 35 times whenl<ti)<7><C> I paid his bill late. 
Of those 35 times, he was 1 to 30 days past due on 22 occasions; 31 to 60 days past due 
on 8 occasions; and 61 to 90 days past due 4 times. When his account reached 150 days 
past due, Citibank closed it. l<bktKCJ I initially told us that he did not realize he was late 
paying this bill on so many occasions, but he later said that he recalled receiving monthly 
statements from Citibank that included "past due" notices. 

The Network Director told us that she was not aware of l<bk7><c) !having financial 
issues before he became the l<til<7xc) I She said that 
after his appointment, she learned that ·he had some difficulties financially, due to his 
moving expenses, but she did not recognize it as something needing her personal 
attention. She said that she thought the medical center finance office was handling the 
issue and that she was not aware thatl<6><7>(Cl I failed to pay his travel card bill or that 
the VISN CFO instructed the Medical Center CFO to speak to l<bk7kc) I about the 
delinquenc . The VISN CFO told us that after he instructed the Medical Center CFO to 
speak to <b < xc> about the delinquencies, he told the Network Director that there was 
an "issue" with (bX >< travel card, that he and the Medical Center CFO were "on 
top of it" and that they "didn't need her to do anything at that point." However he said 
that he told her that if the matter was not resolved, he may ask her to speak to ... ICb_>i7_~_c> __ _ 
The VISN CFO told us that after < >< )(C) name appeared a third time, he thought the 
Network Director spoke to (b < receiving assurances that the debt would be paid. 
He said that he later learned that < >< >< had a check returned for insufficient funds 
while trying to pay his bill and that he told the Network Director about the returned 
check. However, the Network Director told us that she thought l<b)(7)<C> lpaid his bill 
and was unaware that 116><~)(CJ !check was returned for insufficient funds. 

Other Financial Delinquencies 

l(b)(7)(CJ I told us that his private automobile was recently repossessed, due to non 
payment on a $2,000 outstanding loan balance, and he also said that his real estate taxes 
were delinquent on his property in l<bH7><ci IHe said that he addressed that delinquency 
by making small payments on the outstanding balance. However, l._<b_><7_><_c> _____ __, 
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l(b)(7)(c) l told us that monthly or partial payments were not accepted for 
delinquent real est.ate taxes; that l(b)(7J<CJ I owed back real property taxes for tax years 
2005 and 2006 totaling $4,882.42; and because (b)( xc> failed to pay the taxes he 
owed, his house was sold at a tax auction on CbX ><c later told us 
that he thought his wife made small payments on his property taxes and that he was 
unaware that his house was sold at a delinquent property tax auction. 

l<b)(7)(C) lsaid that his 2006 Federal income taxes were delinquent and that his wife was 
attempting to set up a payment plan with the Internal Revenue Service. Other than the 
aforementioned debts, b c said that he had no other delinquent financial 
obligations. However, the ._<b;:;:::;:;)(:;;;c:;:;> :;::==:::;------------:----~~~~-.....1 
told us, in an Affidavit, that l(b><7><C> lhad a past due delin~uency for tax period 2005, 
which they referred to a collection agency, and that the ._l(b_k_><_c_> __________ __. 

l<b)(7icc> lissucdl<b)(7xc> I a Notice of Delinquency for tax year 2006. 

Medical center staff told us that l<bX7xc) I financial difficulties adversely affected his 
administrative staff, resulting in a strained working environment within his immediate 
office. The Associate Director and Human Resources Service Chief said that the 
administrative staff told them that bill collectors calledllb>(7xc> I office attempting to 
speak with rum and that the staff were upset having to handle these es of telephone 
calls. The Associate Director told us that when he spoke to (bJ<7 

CJ about his 
creditors calling the office, l<6><7)<c) !only response was that his transfer to the 
medical center created a financial hard.ship. The Network Director told us that she was 
not aware orj<b><7><C> I other financial delinquencies or that l(6><

7xci I staff received 
calls from biil collectors. 

Conclusion 

We concluded that ll6!<7><c) !failed to satisfy in good faith his just financial obligations, 
including his Government contractor-issued travel charge card, an automobile loan, real 
estate property taxes, and Federal and State income taxes. Althoughjl6><7xci !travel 
charge card debt was paid in full, he was more than 5 months' delinquent. It was not 
until he learned that the finance office would generate a salary offset action that he wrote 
a check to Citibank; however, in doing so, his bank returned the check for insufficient 
funds. !<6x7)(C) I then turned to a family member to pay the debt for him. 

l<b)(t)(C) I told us that his wife managed their finances; however, he was aware that 
Citibank sent him overdue notices. Moreover, creditors called his office often enough 
that it adversely affected his staff. Due to l(bJ<7xc) I failing to satisfy his financial 
obligations, Citibank closed his Government-issued travel charge card account; his 
automobile was repossessed; his house was sold at a delinquent property tax auction; and 
he is delinquent in paying State and Federal taxes. 

VA Office of Inspector General 4 
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Although there was no evidence to suggest that l personal finances surfaced 
during the selection process for his current position, he nonetheless knew, or shou1d have 
known, that his failure to satisfy his financial obligations violated ethics regulations and 
could Jfbossibly affect any future suitability determination. fbi(t)(c) ·· I responsibilities 
asj<6k7 > .· . . !include the oversight of a budget of more than $147 million, 
and his position is one of significant public trust and afford~ him access and wide 
discretion in the expenditure of public funds and involves significant risk of causing 
damage or realizing personal gain. 

Recommendation. We recommend the Deputy Under Secretary for Health for 
Operations and Management take appropriate administrative action, in accordance with 
VA policy, against l<bX7Kc) lfor his failure to satisfy in good faith his financial 
obligations. 

Comments 

The Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and Management concurred with 
the above recommendation. His response is in Appendix A. In his response, he said that 
the appropriate administrative action will be issued after concurrence by the Office of the 
General Counsel (OGC) and the Office of Human Resources Management (OHRM). We 
will follow up to ensure completion of the action. 

VA Office of lnspector General 

~~ 
JAMES/~ILL 

Assistance Inspector Genera1 for 
Investigations 
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Admin\strative lrwestig_ation, failure 1o Satisfy Financia\ Obligations, VAMC, Battle Creek, Mic1"f1gan 

Deputy Under Secretary's Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: July 3, 2008 

Memorandum 

From: Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and 
Management (I ON) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation, Failure to Satisfy Financial 
Obligations, V AMC, Battle Creek, Michigan 

To: Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 

VA Office of Inspector General 

Appendix A 
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Administrative Investigation, Failure to Satisfy Financial Obligations, VAMC, Battle Creek, Michigan 

Deputy Under Secretary's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Deputy Under Secretary's comments are 
submitted in response to the recommendation in the Office of 
Inspector General's Report: 

OIG Recommendation 

Recommendation. We recommend the Deputy Under 
Secretary for Health for Operations and Management take 
appropriate administrative action, in accordance with VA 
policy 

1 
against l(b)(t){c) I for his failure to satisfy in good 

faith his financial obligations. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 8-3 J ·2008 

We are preparing an appropriate administrative action, which 
will be issued after receipt of concurrence by OGC and 
OHRM. 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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AppendixB 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

DIG Contact Linda F oumier, j16><
7

><C> 

Acknowledgments Charles Millard 
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AppendlxC 

Report Distribution 

VA Distribution 

Deputy Secretary (001) 
Chief ofStaff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat (OOlB) 
Under Secretary for Health (IO) 
Principle Deputy Under Secretary for Health (1 OA) 
Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and Management (1 ON) 
Management Review Service (IOB5) 

To Report Suspec1ed Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 

VA Office of Inspector General 9 
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Washington DC 20420 

June 19, 2008 
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The Office of Inspector General issued the enclosed report-Administrative 
Investigation - AHeged Conflict of Interest Veterans Benefits 
Administration VA Central Office, Washington, DC (Report No. 07-00649-
150} on June 19, 2008. 

This unredacted report is being distributed to you for your information only. The 
~nformation contained in the report is subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act 
of 1974 (5 U.S.C.§552a). Such information may be disclosed only as au1horized 
by this statute. Questions concerning the release of this report should be 
coordinated with the Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Inspector General. 
The contents of this report must be safeguarded from unauthorized disclosure 
and may be shared within the Department o~ Veterans Affairs on a nee<Mo-know 
basis only. 

We are providing an unredacted copy for your information only. 

Enclosure 



., 

I 

' I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

.· ' 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

Office of Inspector General 

Administrative Investigation 
Alleged Conflict of Interest 

Veterans Benefits Administration 
VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

Report No. 07..00649· 150 
VA Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

June 19, 2008 



I 
l 
I 
I 

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Associate Deputy Under Secretary for Policy & Program Management, 
Veterans Benefits Administration (20P) 
Assistant General Counsel/Designated Agency Ethics Official (023) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation-· AHeged Contlict of [ntercst 
Veterans Benefits Administration, VA Central Office 
Washington, DC (Report: 2007-00649-IQ~0074) 

I Summary 
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We substantiated that the duties and res onsibilitics of the \bJ\?)(C) 

at times, place him in conflicting roles with his position as the ..... 'b-)U_J,_cJ __ _, 
lcbH7 Jcc) I We determined that serving in both 
pos1bons did not in itself constitute a conflict of interest; however, we agree with the 
Office of General Counsel (OGC) that the situation was "fraught with possibilities for 
running afoul of the Standards of Conduct." We recommend the employee's activities be 
closely monitored and that he be instructed on what matters may require his recusal. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General, Administrative Investigations Division, investigated 
an aHegation that there is a conflict of interest betwccnl'b){?)(C) I position as 
a De artment of Veterans Affairs em lo ee and his osition as a DAV Officer. 
b)(7){C) is the (bX7 JCC) 

{b)(l){C) d h ·b·1· 
L.,,..-----:---.,-----:------:---:-------:--:-:---- an as respons1 1 1ty 

for oversight of program direction of the VBA business lines, to include Compensation 
and Pension, Education, Loan Guaranty, Vocational Rehabilitation. Employment, and 
Insurance. To assess this allegation, we interviewedl(b)(i)(CJ I the VBA Associate 
Deputy Under Secretary for Policy and Program Management {ADUS), and an OGC 
Staff Attorney. We also consulted the VA Designated Agency Ethics Ofticial (DAEO), 
who is the Assistant General Counsel (023). We reviewed l<bJ(lJ<Cl lvosition 
description, performance plan, DAV Bylaws and Constitution, DAV strategic plan, 
Federal regulations, VA policies, and other relevant docwnents. 
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Administrative Investigation, Alleged Con~~ct of Interest. VBA, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

Results 

Issue: Whethe~{bJ(?)(C) I position as a high level DAV offlcialfbJm\CJ 
l(bH7J<Cl I conflicted with his position as a VA employee ...._ __ _ 

The General Provisions of the Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the 
Executive Branch state that employees shalJ not allow the improper use of nonpublic 
Government information to further any private interest, shall not use public office for 
private gain, shail act impartial1y and not give preferential treatment to any private 
organization or individual, shall not engage in outside activities that conflict with official 
Government duties and responsibilities, and shall endeavor to avoid any actions creating 
the appearance that they are violating the law or ethical standards. 5 CFR § 2635 .10 I (b ). 

The specific regulation which states that an employee shall not engage in any outi,;ide 
activity that conflicts with their officia1 duties goes on to caution employees that even 
though an outside activity may not be prohibited, it may violate other principles or 
standards or require employees to disqualify themselves from participation in certain 
matters. Additionally, specific regulations provide that an employee shall not use public 
office for private gain or for the private interest of another, and an employee shall not use 
Government property for other than authorized purposes. 5 CFR § 2635.502(a), 702, 
and 704. 

fbH 7 J(C] I told us that he became a DAV member in lb)\J)(C) holding numerous Chapter 
and National positions. In {bJ<lJ(CJ he was elected l<b)\7J<CJ I and 
bJ(7)\CJ and in that position, he represented the 

l!!i'!'!'l'!'!'!!l!'!""lm ____ ....,...whcn he was not available to serve as the i..1'b_H_7 l<_c_1 ~:---:------
and was responsible for voting on DAV organizational issues or 

1-a_m_e_n_dm:--e-n-ts-at-th_e ...... nationaJ level. l(b)(?J(CJ I said that he planned to run for the 
position of <bJ(711 ' and we Jater found that l{bH7

HC) I was elected to 
that position in iblt7J<CJ ...._ ____ ...... 

ibJ{?)(C) said that he was active] involved in DAV rior to bein VA 
and that in (bJ(7)<ci he became the (bH7 icci L-..-----------:--:---------:-:---

( b J t l) ( C) He told us that in that position, he was responsible for oversight 
of the five VBA business lines and coordinated and facilitated the information technology 
reorganization. He told us that he occasionally reviewed policy a.nd that policy Vlritten 
for his office's ro ams came through his office as a re osirory. However, the ADUS 
told us that ibl(7l<Cl served as the ·:bll l(Cl and he was responsible for 
the policies in the five VBA business lines: compensation and pension, education, loan 
guaranty, insurance, and vocational rehabilitation. His specific re..<;ponsibilities re]ated to 
VBA policy are contained in his position description. 

VA Office of' Inspector General 2 
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--· Administrative Investigation, Alleged Conmct of lnlcrest, VBA, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

The position description and performance plan forl1bl(
7HC) I reflected that he acted as 

an advisor and consultant to the ADUS on policy matters related to veterans' benefits 
programs; directed the development of VBA Strategic Management Plan; assisted in the 
development of policy, proposed legislation and specific changes to current laws; made 
recommendations on the impact of new laws, legis la ti on, program initiatives, and policies 
to be implemented; and represented the ADUS on the interpretation of regulations, 
procedures, and standards. 

DA V's National Constitution Bylaws and Regulations vested the executive power of 
DAV in the J<bJ(7){C) I It stated that thel'6)(7)(c) I was "hereby 
placed under a continuing mandate by these Bylaws to resist and oppose any changes in 
laws or regulations that would repeal or deprive disabled veterans or their dependents of 
benefits already provided by such laws or regulations." In a message posted on the DAV 
internet website,l\bJ\7i1CJ !stated that "'it is absolutely crucial that veterans and their 
needs are not ignored as their government sets national policies and funding priorities ... 
Our goverrunent must make veterans a national priority and make the necessary 
investment in programs to ensure that our nation's disabled veterans and their families 
receive the earned benefits and services that were promised them." 

l1b)(7)(CJ I told us that having knowledge of VA policies did not affect or compromise 
his DAV duties and that he never recused himself from any DAV activity because of his 
VA position. He said that he stood for both VA and DAV. He told us that he believed 
the VA and DAV missions were one and the same, both serving the Nation's veterans. 
However, l\b)(l){Cl I admitted that he never spoke to anyone from the Office of 
General Counsel or the Ethics Office regarding his DAV posts for a legal opinion as to 
whether any particular matter was a conflict of interest. l(b)(7Hci I told us that, after 
we interviewed him, he met with a General Counsel Staff Attorney, along with the 
ADUS, to determine if there was a possible conflict between his two positions. He said 
the Staff Attorney discussed with him the ethics issues, determined there was not a 
con~ict, but advised him that he could not use his position asl<bli?l(Ci 
agamst the VA. .___ ________ __, 

Prior to his speaking to l(b)(ticc> I the General Counse1 Staff Attorney, in an 
electronic mail message, told us that l<bl<7)\CJ I position with DAV, in and of itself, 
did not constitute a conflict of interest; however given the level of interaction between 
VBA and DAV, there existed a significant potential forrbX7

Hci I to "run afoul of the 
criminal conflict of interest laws and/or standards of conduct." He said that as a DAV 
officer, DA V's financial interests were libll7xci I financial interests, so he may not 
participate as a VA employee in official particular matters that would directly and 
predictably affect DA V's interests. He also said that should this prohibition requirel(b)(l)(C) I 

l\bJ(7l(CJ Ito recuse himself from matters so central or critical to the performance of his 
official duties that his ability to perform his position would be materially impaired, then 
he would have to decide between his VA and DAV positions. He also said that law 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 
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Administrat~ve fnvesllgation, Alleged Contlict of!~ler~$t, VB.A. VA Central Office, Washln~too, DC 

h.b. rb}i7)(CJ I "- . pro 1 its 1rom representmg DAV before any Federal agency or court, and 
when representing DAV before Congress, he mm .. 1 not use his official title or authority 
and he must be clear that any views he presents to Congress are on behalf of DAV and 
not VA. 

The Staff Attorney later told us that when he spoke tol(blt7
)iCl I and the ADUS, he 

explained to them the criminal conflict of interest law and told them that there was no 
"per se conflict of interest" and that, should a situation arise where lbHll-:ci had to 
recuse himself and there was no one to perfonn his duties, it was a management decision 
as to what the should do. The Staff Attorney said he could not recall if he went into 
detail with \bJ(

7
llC) concerning his VA res nsibilities should DAV file litigation 

against VA. He said that as Ion as \t>H 7i\CJ name did not appear on the legal 
pleading, his position as the < li7J<Cl did not conflict with his position 
at VA in the case of litigation. However, he said that l1bl<7HCJ I must clearly 
''disassodate the two positions .. ' and that when working for VA, his loyalty was to VA. 

In our opinion, as the bH
7

)<C> was the face of that 
organization and \bJ< ){ J outside activities with DAV could take precedence over 
his VA duties and his lo al to VA, and at a minimum, created the appearance of a 
conflict of interest. ·:b){7JiCl VA position provided him with nonpublic information 
that could be inappropriately provided to DAV for the political benefit of DAV. 
Furthermore, DAV is a veterans service organization whose primary purpose is to build 
better lives for America's disabled veterans and their famihes; however, VA is an agency 
that must use its Jimited resources for· a much broader range of beneficiaries than just 
disabled veterans. DA V's mission does not appear to include the needs of non-disabled 
veterans and therefore, there could be a conflict between the missions of VA and DAV. 

In addition, we believe that VA' s broader mission may at times require that it prioritize 
resources and fund programs for non-disabled veterans at the expense of providing 
resources and funding for disabled veterans. While VA may initiate programs or policies 
that it believes benefit veterans, Veteran Service Organizations (VSO) often disagree 
with the specific initiatives. Certain VA initiatives and proposals result in efforts by 
DAV to lobby Congress in opposition to the VA proposal, and the issue is not whether 
VA or DAV are right about a specific issue, the issue is that DAV and VA are opposed 
on many issues. Furthermore, a VA employee in a senior policy and advisory role who is 
the l1biC7J{CJ l cannot serve "two masters who have conflicting 
positions." As an example. DAV sued VA over a regulation proposed by VA. The case 
was litigated in both the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit and, after 
it received an unfavorable decision, DAV appealed the ruling to the United States 
Supreme Court. One individual ca1U1ot reasonably be expected lo provide senior level 
services to two adversarial entities engaged in litigation in the Federal court system. 
DAV has filed suit against VA on many occasions. 

VA Office of Inspector General. 4 
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Administrallve Investigation, Alleged Conftict of Interest, _'!BA. VA Central Office, Wa.shing_ton, OC 

We found the following as examples of DAV htigation against VA: 

• DAV v. R. James Nicholson, Secretary o[ Veterans Alffiirs, 541 ll.S. 1162 (2006) 

• DA.V. et. al. v. Secretary of Veterans Affairs, 2005 U.S. App. Lexis 24132 (Fed. 
Cir. 2005) 

• DAV. el. al., v. Secretary a/Veterans Affairs. 327 F.3d 1339 (Fed. Cir. 2003) 

• DAVv. Principj, Secretary of Vet€rans Affjiirs, 10 Fed. Appx. 847 (Fed. Cir. 2001) 

• DAV v. U.S. Department o[ V~terans Affairs. 962 F.2d 3 (2nd Cir. 1992) 

• DAV v. Gober, Secretary of Veterans Affairs, ZOO I U.S. App. Lexis I 314 (Fed. 
Cir. 200!) 

We consulted the VA Designated Agency Ethics Official (DAEO) to determine whether 
there was a conflict between l16i:7l<c1 I position in DAV and the duties and 
responsibilities of his VA position. The DAEO agreed that our identified concerns were 
significant and stated that the situation was "fraught with possibilities of running afoul of 
the Standards of Conduct." The DAEO recommended making (bH71<c1 supervisor 
aware of the issues and identify matters from which (b)/7l(C) needs to recuse 
himself. 

With respect to the apparent conflict with DA V's bylaws~ the DAEO advised that, 
notwithstanding DA V's by-laws, jtbl(?l\CJ I conduct as a VA employee was 
governed by the ethical principles, Standards of Conduct, and criminal conflict of interest 
laws, which supersede any obligations that an outside organization might impose upon 
him. Therefore, his first loyalty must be to the YA> even if there is a conflict with DAV)s 
bylaws. 

The DAEO agreed thatl1blc7liCl !participation in certain matters would result in at 
least the appearance of a conflict of interest and cited the following Standard of Conduct: 

(a) Consideration of appearances by the employee. Where an employee knows 
that a particular matter involving specific parties is likely to have a direct and 
predictable effect on the financial interest of a member of his household> or knows 
that a person with whom he has a covered relationship is or represents a party to 
such matter, and where the employee determines that the circumstances wou]d 
cause a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts to question his 
impartiality in the matter, the employee should not participate in the matter unless 
he has informed the agency designee of the appearance problem and Tcceivcd 
authorization from chc agency designee in accordance with paragraph ( d) of this 
section. 5 CFR § 2635.502(a). 

VA. Office of Inspector General 5 
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Administrative lnve.~i~ation, Alleged Conflict of Interest, VBA, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

The DAEO noted that the prohibition was on participation in particular matters and not 
general policy issues. Hence, in order to avoid the appearance of a conflict of interest, if 
not an actual one>l:bll7

l(C) I should recuse himself from particular VA matters, where 
DAV was, or represented, a party, e.g. legislation on which DAV is providing comments. 
The DAEO also stated that (<b)(7Jcc) I must also recuse himself from particular 
mauers that would directly and predictably affect the financial interests of DAV. 
Assuming there was an appearance issue, the DAEO noted that the Standard only 
required the employee to refrain from participatfon unless he has informed the agency 
designee of the issue and received authorization under 5 CFR 2635.502(d). 

The DAEO agreed that f.bJ(?){cJ 

his duties as \bJllllCJ 

may not use nonpublic information in performing 
ecausc it would be a vt0laticm of 5 USC 2635.705. 

In response to our concerns that given his senior level position involving policy issues, 
jlbJc7HCl I has knowledge of nonpublic information about VA issues, positions, and 
initiatives and has the opportunity. or temptation, to use the nonpublic information to 
benefit DAV or to give them advance notice of what is forthcoming from VA, the DAEO 
stated that if the access to nonpublic information raises an appearance question, the 
matter should be evaluated as provided in 5 USC 2635.502(d). 

Improper Use of VA Electronic Mail Address and Phone Numbers 

We found that when l\bJi?i(C) I was the l(b)m<c) I he listed his VA 
electronic mail address (@vba.va.gov), which clearly identified him as a VA employee, 
and VA office telephone numbers on the 2006/2007 DAV National Officers roster as a 
means to contact him. The DAEO stated that itbJ(7){CJ I should not use his VA 
telephone number and electronic mail address as a point of contact as this could lead to 
confusion as to in what capacity he was communicating as a VA or DAV official. 
Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch state that an 
emp1oyee shall use official time to perform official duties and must protect and conserve 
Government property and not use such property for other than authorized purposes. 
Additionally, an employee shalJ not use or permit the use of his Government position or 
any authority associated with his public office in a manner that could reasonably be 
construed to imp1y that his agency or the Government sanctions or endorses his personal 
activities or those of another. 5 CFR § 2635.702 (b), 704 (a), 705. 

Conclusion 

We conc\uded thatf6li7i\C) ldual roles as a VA employee and as a high level DAV 
official were problematic. Because of the interactions between VA and DAV, there 
existed a significant potential for (bli?J(C) to "run afoul of the criminal conflict of 
interest laws and/or standards of conduct." ( )( J(w) VA position could provide 
him with nonpublic information that could be inappropriately provided to DAV for the 
political benefit of DAV. Although we found no circumstance or particular matter that 

VA Office of Inspector General 6 
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Administrative Investigation, Alleged Conflict of Interest, VBA, VA Central Office, Washirig1on, DC 

created a conflict of interest or the appearance thereof, l(bJ(7HCJ I said that he stood 
for both VA and DAV and that the missions were one and the same. He clearly could not 
distinguish between these two distinct organizations which, at times. have adversarial or 
opposing viewpoints. While the DAEO stated thatl(b)(9J(CJ I first loyalty must be to 
VAt not DAV, IM17icc) I did not recognize that he must make VA his first priority. 

!tbl'7icci I was actively involved in DAV matters for over two decades, much longer 
than his employment with VA. He said his VA responsibilities did not affect m 
compromise his DAV duties and he never recused himself from any DAV matters due to 
his VA position. However, prior to our investigation, he never sought VA legal and/or 
ethics guidance as to whether his responsibilities at DAV created a conflict or the 
appearance of a conflict of interest with his VA official duties, nor did he seek guidance 
on whether he should recuse himself from particular VA matters or seek authorization 
from appropriate VA officials. 

In addition, we found that l(b)(7
HC) I improperly listed his official VA electronic mail 

address and telephone numbers on a DAV National Officers roster as a means to contact 
him. We found no instance ofl(bJ<7HCl I using VA-owned equipment to conduct non­
V A business; however, it would seem that with this information listed on the DAV roster, 
he could be contacted concerning UAV matters during his VA workday. In addition, his 
official VA electronic mail address associated his public office in a manner that could 
imply that the VA endorsed his personal activities with the DAV. 

Recommendation I. We recommend the VBA Associate De uty Under Secretary for 
Policy and Program Management closel monitor <bl<7l<CJ activities and set clear 
and precise boundaries to ensure tblc7HCJ recuse himself from particular VA 
matters where DAV is or represents a party and from particular matters that would 
directly and predictably affect the financial interests of DAV. 

Recommendation 2. We recommend the VBA Associate Deputy Under Secretary for 
Policy and Program Management instruct l<blm\cJ I to remove his official VA 
electronic mail address and telephone numbers from all DAV rosters and to refrain from 
using them as a means of contact for DAV activities. 

Recommendation 3. We recommend the VBA Associate Deputy Under Secretary for 
Policy and Program Management counsel l<

6H711
c) I on the official use of 

Government resources and official use of time while performing VA duties. 

Recomme dation 4. We recommend the Office of General Counsel instruct 
lblc7HCl on the differing missions of VA and DAV and what activities pose a 
possible conflict or the appearance of a conflict of interest in his dual roles at VA and 
DAV and provide in-depth advice on what particular matters may require his recusal. 

VA 011lce of Inspector General 7 
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Comments 

W c found that l<bl(7i<ci I duties and responsibilities, at times, placed him in 
conflicting roles with his position as thel L.i6_)(7_1<_c_1 _____________ __. 

l(b)<7J1Cl land we recommended that his activities be closely monitored and that he be 
instructed on what matters may require his recusal. The Associate Deputy Under 
Secretary for Policy and Program Management and the Assistant General 
Counsel/Designated Agency Ethics Official both concurred with our recommendations. 
The Associate Deputy Under Secretary told us that he discussed these matters witli 

!tbH71<C) I The Assistant General Counsel told us that although a staff attorney 
previously provided informal advice to tb)(?Jcci on the potential conflicts in his 
serving as the <bJ<7l<C1 he agreed that filrther counseling was needed. 

(b)(7){C) 

VA Office of Inspector General 8 
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Administrative Investigation, Alleged Conflict of Interest, VBA, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

Appendix A 

VBA Associate Deputy Under Secretary Comments 

Date: 

Department of 
Vet~rans Affairs 

May29, 2008 

Memorandum 

From: VBA Associate Deputy Under Secre1ary for Policy & 
Program Management (20P) 

Subject: Administnitive Investigation - Alle~cd Conflict of Interest, 
VBA, VA Central Offlce, Washington~ DC 

To: Director, Administrative Investigations Division (51Q) 

As Associate Deputy Under Secretary for Policy and Program 
and Management, I concur with the 3 recommendations in 
subject report that fall wider the purview of my position 
(recommendations l~ 2, and 3). I have had a discussion with 

l<b)(7J(C) land consider the actions necessary to carryout 
these recommendations to have been completed. Please let 
me know if any further actions on my part are necessary. 

VA Office of Inspector General 9 
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VBA Associate Deputy Under Secretary's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The folJowing comments are submitted in response to the 
recotnmendation(s) in the Office of Inspector Gencra)'s 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommendation 1. We recommend the VRA Associate 
Deputy Under Secret for Policy and Program Management 
closely monitor (b)(?)\CJ activities and set clear and 
precise boundaries to ensure !cbJ(7)(C) I recuse himself 
from particular VA matters where DAV is or represents a 
party and from particular matters that would directly and 
predictably affect the financial interests of DAV. 

Concur Target Completion Date: Completed 

Recommendation 2. \Ve recommend the VBA Associate 
Deputy Under Secretary for Policy and Program Management 
instructl\b!\1JiC) I to remove his official VA electronic 
mail address and telephone numbers from all DAV rosters 
and to refrain from using them as a means for contact for 
DAV activities. 

Concur Target Completion Date: Completed 

Recommendation 3. We recommend the VBA Associate 
Deputy Under Secreta for Po\icy and Program Management 
counsel (b)(?i(C) on the official use of Government .__ ___ __,, 

resources and official use of time while performing VA 
duties. 

Concur Target Completion Date: Completed 

VA Office of Inspector General 10 
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Administra1iv-e Investigation, Alleged Conflict of Interest, VBA, VA Central Office. Washington, DC 

Assistant General Counsel Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: June 10, 2008 

Memorandum 

From: Assistant General Counsel/Designated Agency Ethics Official 
{023) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Alleged Conflict of Interest, 
VBA, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

To: Inspector General (50) 

l. You have submitted for our comment a drafl report on an 
alleged conflict of interest arising from the fact that Robert 
Reynolds, 1he VBA Executive Management Officer for 
Po1icy and Pro Mana ement also services at the 

\b)(7)!C) 

(bl( H one of my staff attorneys whom 
you jnterviewed in connection with this report, previously 
provided informal advice to bl<7 )(C) on the otential 
conflicts in his servicing as the .._!b_)(_?J_.:c_i ________ ____. 

We concur in the report's conclusions and recommendations. 

2. As to Recommended Action 4, while our office did 
previously advise Cbl\7J(CJ on the otential conflicts in 
his serving as ibJi7){CJ given his 
statements to your office that he stood for both VA and OA V 
and that distinguish between these two distinct organizations, 
we agree that further counseling is needed. We will endeavor 
to provide this counseling by June 30, 2008. [Edited for non 
substantive content] 

b)(7)(C) 

VA OOice of Inspector General 
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Administrative lnvestiga1ion, Alleged Conflict of Interest. VBA. V~ Central Office, Washington, DC 

Assistant General Counsel's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The foUowing conunents are submitted in response to the 
recornmendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OlG Recommendation(s} 

Recommendation 4. We reconunend the Office of General 
Counsel instruct l1bX7J:CJ I on the differing missions of 
VA and DAV and what activities pose a possible conflict or 
the appearance of a conflict of interest in his dual roles at VA 
and DAV and provide in-depth advice on what particular 
matters may require his recusal. 

Concur Target Completion Date: June 30, 2008 

VA Office of Inspector General 12 



J 

1 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Administrative \~estigation, Alleged Conflict of Interest, VBA, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

Appendix C 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OlG Contact L• d F . l{b)(7l(C) m a ourmer 
1...--------' 

Acknowledgments Kristinn Watkins 
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Admiriistrative Investigation, Alleged Con17ict of Interest, VBA, VA Central Office. Washington, DC 

AppendlxD 

VA Distribution 

Secretary (00) 
Deputy Secretary (001 ) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat (00 l B) 

Report Distribution 

Acting Under Secretary for Benefits (20) 
Deputy Under Secretary for Benefits (201) 
Associate Deputy Under Secretary for Policy and Program Management (20P) 
Deputy General Counsel {02A) 
Assistant General CounseVDesignated Agency Ethics Official (023) 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 

VA Office of Inspector General 14 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 

Office of Inspector General 
Washington DC 20420 

October 18, 2007 

0 RES"FRl6TEB AEP8RT" 

The Office of Inspector General issued the enclosed report - Administra1ive 
Investigation - Misuse cf Time, Resourcesr & Tltle, and Improper Remote 
Aeeess VA Central Office (Report No. 07-02423-10) on October 18, 2007. 

This unredacted report is being distributed to you for your information only. The 
information contained in the report is subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act 
of 1974 (5 U.S.C.§552a). Such information may be disclosed only as authorized 
by this statute. Questions concerning the release of this report should be 
coordinated with the Department of Veterans AHairs, Office of Inspector General. 
The contents of this report must be safeguarded from unauthorized disclosure 
and may be shared within the Department of Veterans Affairs on a need-to-know 
basis only. 

We are providing an unredacted copy for your information only. 

Enclosure 
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Depa·rt.m.e.nt of Vetera:ns Affairs 

Office of 1·nspector General 

Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, & Title, 

And Improper Remote Access 
VA Central Office 

Report No. 07.•02423·10 
VA Office of Inspector Goneral 

Washington, DC 20420 

October 18, 2007 
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TO: 

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

Assistant Secretary for Public and Intergovernmental Affairs (002) 
Chief, Customer Support Division, ITSS (005NI BI) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigations, Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, 
and improper Remote Access, VA Central Office (2007-02423 .. (Q-O 140) 

Summary 

We substantiated that the (b){?)(C) 

(b)i?)(C) misused her official time, misused Government resoutces, 
and inappropriately used her official VA title, all in connection with outside em lo ent. 
We also found that the fb)(7)(CJ 

(b)(7)(CJ improperly approved the installation of VA Virtual Private 

Network remote access software on the .-l(b.....:J<7:....:.l(--c),.....-----.....,lnon-Y A owned computer. 

Introduction 

The VA Office oflns ector General, Administrative lnvesti 
allegations that \b)C?)\Cl 

(b)(
7

)(C) misused her official time, misused Government 
resources, engaged in outside employment during VA duty hours, and inappropriately 
used her official VA title ia connection with this outside employment. We also 
investigated whether the Information Security Officer for her office improperly approved 
the installation of VA Virtual Private Network (VA-VPN) remote access software on 

l<bl<
7
)ici I non-VA owned computer. To assess these allegations we interviewed 

the Assistant Secretary for Public and Intergovernmental Affairs, the l(bl(7 l(C) 

l(b)(7)(C) I We reviewed rb)( 7J(C) Iv A eleL..ct-rO-l!l"""!'i_c _m_a-:-:il:--"""' 

messages covering the time period from March to June 2007; her internet usage from 
January 16 to June 6, 2007; and her leave schedule from January to July 2007. We also 
reviewed l<b)\?)iCl I personal calendar, Federal regulations, VA policy, and other 
relevant documents. 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Remote Acce5S, VA Central Office 

Results 

Issue 1: Whetherl1bll7icc) I misused her official time, misused Government 
resources, and improperly used her official title. 

The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch states that an 
employee must use official time in an honest effort to perfom1 official duties and shall 
not engage in outside employment or activities that conflict with their official duties 
and responsibilities. 5 CFR § 2635.101. Additionally, it states that employees have a 
duty to protect and conserve Government property and shal I not use such property or 
allow its use for other than authorized purposes. Jd., §§ 2635.704 and 2635.705. 
Employees are permitted limited personal use of Government office equipment~ however, 
this limited use should take place during the employee's non-work time and must not 
interfere with the VA's mission or operation. VA Directive 6001, paragraph 2(a). 
Furthennore, employees are expected to conduct themselves professionally in the 
workplace and are required under the Standards of Conduct to refrain from using 
Government office equipment for activities that are inappropriate. Inappropriate use 
includes the use for commercial purposes or in suppoI1 of "for profit" activities or in 
support of other outside employment or business activity. VA Directive 6001, 
paragraph 2 (c). 

l(bl\
7

J(Ct !told us that she provided oversight for a resource management team that 
oversaw the budget, equipment, and contracts for training. She said she was involved 
daily in a broad range of meetings which included public relations, communication 
strategies, and media statements, and she described h~rself as a personal assistant and 
technical and policy advisor. She said she worked a compressed tour of duty, working 
from 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. daily with every other Friday off; however, she said it was 
not unusual for her to leave work between 7:00 and 8:00 p.m., due to her workload, rarely 
taking her scheduled day off. l(b){?HCJ I told us that she typically worked a 10 to 12 
hour day and was on call 7 days a week by the uature of her position. 

Misuse of Time and Resources 

(b)(?)(CJ told us that for the past ~ l( J< l she has been a bJ( l 

ibJ< J<C) She currently works for \bJ(7HcJ and she 
previously worked for (bl( H J She ex.plained that as a 
part time (b){7J\C) she worked about 20 hours a week, mostly evenings and 
weekends. She said she had a business partner that worked full time <luting the day. She 
explained that she was always open about the fact that she worked inl(b)(t)(c) land that 
during her interview for her current position, she disclosed that she had a ._l1b_l<7_i;_c1 __ __. 
business on the side. j\bH7H6J hold us that she bad a personal Blackberry (a wireless 
handheld device for electronic mail messages) which she used for her private business. 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Tlmt:t, Resources, and Titre, and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

l<bH7!<C) I initially told us that when she received phone cal1s on her personal 
Blackberry during the work day, she did not answer them; however., she later said she 
returned the messages and phone calls when going to the restroom, picking up her lunch, 
or during "5-minute'' breaks throughout the workday. She said that she was "very 
watchful" of her time, and by her estimate, she spent less than an hour a day on her 
private business. l<bl(7l<CJ !said that if she was unable to return a message or phone 
call in reference to her part time l1b)(7)(Cl !business, she would refer the messages to her 
partner via a text message (short message sent from a mobile phone). 

In a review of her computer usage, we found that l(bl(7
J(CJ I used her assigned VA­

owned computer and VA provided internet access to go to websites in conjunction with 
herlM~7HCl !business 56 out of 93 workdays between January 16 and June 7, 2007. On 
several occasions {blC7){CJ spent a great deal of her workday on the internet visitin 
websites related to tbJ\7ltCl A sam ~in of the websites included the ibJC7liCJ 
{b)(i')( l 

(b)(7)iC) e also oun that the tv.io most common websites accessed, and where 
I-.-==,...-'-----. 
cbimcci s ent the most time were lb t H > 

._1b_J<1_H_c_i -----l"'F!';:;=;E;'===-r-------~ confinned that her access of these 
websites was for her tbJ\7H ) business. 

Upon closer review, we found several workdays in which tbJ(7)<C) internet logs 
indicated that she accessed the internet for her \bl<7HCl business for a significant 
portion of the day. For example, on January 17 and 18, 2007, her logs showed shes ent 
223 minutes (almost 4 hours) and 188 minutes (over 3 hours), respectively, on her \b1t

7
HCl 

email. On May 29 and 30, 2007, her logs showed she spent 160 minutes (almost 3 hours) 
and 155 minutes (over 2 hours), respectively, on the l(bJl7HCl !website. However, 

libJ.:?HCl ltold us that 5he would open several windows on her computer, to include 
websites and herc=:Jemail, and they would remain open as she multitasked throughout 
thE! workday, goFng back and forth to them. Her internet logs verified that she accessed 
i1everal websrtes numerous times on given workdays. As an example, llbl17Jcc) 
accessedl(blt7J\C) I on the following dates and times: ,____ ____ ~ 

• ApriJ 24, 2007 - 6:48 a.m., 7:32 a.m., 8:32 a.m., 8:47 a.m., 8:53 a.m., 9:01 a.m., 
10:03 a.m., 10:33 a.m., 11: 17 a.m .. 12:21 p.m., I :37 p.m., 2:09 p.m., and 2:21 p.m. 

·May 8, 2007 - 5:41 a.m., 5:53 a.m., 6:11 a.m., 6:30 a.m., 7:35 a.m., 9:27 a.m., 
10: 10 a.m., 10:52 a.m., 11 :36 a.m.) 11 :59 a.m., 12:23 p.m., and l :40 p.m. 

- June 4, 2007 6:45 a.m., 7:15 a.m,, 9;21 a.m., 11: l4 a.m., 1:06 p.m., 1:44 p.'m.: 
and 2:36 p.m: 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 



I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office ·-------· 

Computer internet logs also documented l<bl(7HC) I continued activity, recording 
the amount of time she remained active on each website. For example, the logs indicated 
the following total active time on l'b)\7 )(c; I for the following days: 

- January 22, 2007 - www.MRIS.com = 57 minutes 

- April 24, 2007 - www.MRlS.com = 150 minutes 

- May 29, 2007 - www.MIUS.com ~· 63 minutes 

- May 30, 2007 - www.MRIS.com = 53 minutes 

jM:7J{C) hold us that she checked her personal email once or twice a day, mostly 
during her lunch break; however, computer internet logs indicated she accessed her 
personal email numerous times throughout the workday. As an example, we found that 
she accessed her ICbH7 i(C) I email account on the followiitg dates and times: 

·January 17, 2007 - l 1:4la.m., 11:45 a.m., 12:19 p.rn., 1:35 p.m., 2:37 p.m., 2:40 
p.m., and 3:24 p.m. 

- February 14, 2007 - 11 :09 a.m., 11 :34 a.m., 11 :53 a.m., 12:02 p.m., I :52 p.m., 
and 4:22 p.m. 

- March 20, 2007 - 6:27 a.m., 6: 56 a.m., 9:26 a.m., and 9:35 a.m. 

- May 31, 2007 - 5: l 0 a.m., 6:26 a.m., 11: l 6 a.m., l :50 p.rn., I :52 p.m., I :53 p.rn. 

Improper Use of Official Title 

'fhe Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch state 
employees shall not use puhlic office for their own private gain nor should an ernptoyee 
use or permit the use of their Government position or title or any authority associated 
with their public oil1ce to endorse any product, service or enterprise. 5 CFR § 2635.702. 

l(b)(lJ(Cl I initially told us that she did not use her VA email to send or receive 
messages concerning her real estate businl!ss, explaining that there may be times that she 
received a message from a friend asking her about l-:bH7HCJ I In reviewing 
her VA email mt!Ssages; however, we found several messages she received and sent to 
both VA and non-VA employees discussing l(b)(7J.;CJ I admitted that she 
worked with a current VA employee toFbH7)(Cl I but that she asked him to send 
any messages concerning the sale to her privare[3 email address. She said that he dicl lbl<7 HCJ 

not comply with her request; however, she continually responded to his messages from 
her VA email. In numerous mail me~sages dated benveen March and April 2007, 

VA Office of Inspector General 4 
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Administrntiv.e •nvestigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title. and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

l{b){7J\CJ I conducted her l!bJ<7l(Cl I business with this employee using her VA email 
account, including her VA title and office in her email messages. 

In addition, we found an email in her VA email account, dated April 25, 2007, in which 
l<bl(

7
J<CJ !went into great detail describing payment and senlement options for a 

client of hers, a non-VA employee. We also found three emails stored in her VA email 
draft folder which discussed fbH7J(C) land conrained lib){7J(CJ I 
bJt 1 )(CJ All these emails concained \bJC7 )(cJ 
(b)(7)(C) 

\b){7){CJ told us that leaving her title on 
these emails was an oversight and not an attempt to suggest an intimate knowledge of {bJ(?){C) 

l(b){7/(C) I 
In yet another email, dated March 20, 2007, (b)<

7
llC) wrote that she was making 

between 60-70% of her Government salary in ·:bH7iicJ In reviewmg 
these emails, internet logs, and discussing her success in (b)(l)(C) told us 
that it was now apparent to her that she spent more time than she rea1ized on herl<blC7l<CJ 

l(ol\7JtCJ !business during her VA tours of duty. (bl<7iicJ said that she was "appalled" 
by the amount of time she spent on fb)\?J(CJ and that it apparently got "out of hand." 
Moreover,l<bli7icc) ltold us that, as an l<bJ(7)(c) lshe was responsible for 
recommending to her supervisor appropriate disciplinary actions far employee 
misconduct. She told us that in a similar situation, if it were another employee, she 
would advise her supervisor to take appropriate administrative action with possible 
removal of the employee. 

Issue 2: Whether an jM:7
)\C) limproperly approved VA-VPN 

remote access on a non-VA owned computer. 

VA employees are permitted to access and use VA data outside VA facilities only when 
such activities have been specifically approved by the employee's supervisor and where 
appropriate security measures are taken to ensure that VA information and services are 
not compromised; however, only VA-owned Government Furnished Equipment, 
induding laptops and hand.held com uters, may be used when accessin the VA intranet 
remotely. Cbi(7)!CJ 

tb)( )i ) 

\blC7)(cJ An October 5, 2006 Memorandum, titted lT Directive 06-5, Use of 
Personal Computing Equipment, from the Deputy Secretary to the Department, a11ows 
for non-VA Other Equipment to be used when accessing the VA intranet remotely but 
only to allow for uninterrupted delivery of healthcare and provision of benefits to 
veterans. ll also indicates tbat the use of non· VA owned Other Equipment will be 
replaced with VA-owned Government furnished equipment during fiscal year 2007. 
Additionaaly, VA Remote Access Guidelines for VA-VPN usage states that where 
possible, only Government·owned computer equipment will be used when accessing 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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Ad mi nlstrative lnV$Stigallon 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Tltle, and Improper Aemole Access, VA Central Office 

VA's Jntranet remotely. and there should be no new remote access implementations that 
use privately~owned equipment. It farther states that VA organizations should develop 
plans to rnLgrate employees currently using privately·owned equ1prnent to Govemment-
owned equipment. · 

._<b-l\ _'
1
_

1 
__ __,told us that due to the nature of her position, she was issued a VA-owned 

laptop; however, because she never used it, she returned it to the information technology 
staff several months ago. Further, she said that she had not used her authorized YA· 
Virtual Private Network (VA-VPN) remote access account> and it was terminated for lack 
of use. She said that because of a recent emergency management exercise led by the 
Deputy Secretary, a need to update their office emergency management plans. and that 
her residence was identified as the main offsite operation center for her office in the event 
of a mass enrrgercy, she needed to have VA·VPN remote access. Therefore, she 
requested the ·· provide her software to install VPN access on her non-VA owned 
equipment. She told us that since then, she only logged into the system once briefly to 
ensure it was installed properly. 

The Cb)(?Jcc1 told us that sometime 
during the week of July 2, 2007, \bim:ci contacted him by email or telephone to 
request installing VA-VPN remote access on her non-VA owned computer. He funher 
stated that she relinquished her VA-issued laptop at about that same time, contrary to 
\b)(?l\Cl assertion that she turned it in months ago. The C]expJained that he \bJ<7xc1 
either directed \b!<7HCl to an internet site or provided her a CD containing 
VA-VPN software to download to her personal computer. He also said that there was no 
need farl\bJ(7)iCl ho request, through her supervisor, remote access or access from 
her non~ VA equipment, as her authorization and access was automatic due to her being a 
member of the emergency team. 

Conclusion 

We concluded thatl!blr.?J!Cl I misused her official time and Government resources on 
a regular basis to conduct work for ht:r private real estate business. She routinely 
accessed websiites and personal email accounts to researchlCblFJ(Ci land to communicate 
with customers throughout her work day. Computer internet logs indicakd that she not 
only spent a significant amount of time conductingl\bl<7HCJ I business during her otlicial 
VA tour, but it was an on and off activity throughout the day, such as on April 24, 2007, 
when she accessed one particular website 13 times, spending 150 total minutes on that 
site. It was apparent that ·:b1t 7J(C) attempted to juggle two jobs during her VA tour 
of duty, and at times, her private ibl(?J{CJ business overtook her time and attention. In 
addition, she used her official VA email ta correspond with fbl(7HCJ !customers. 
improperly leaving her official VA title at the close of her messages. 

VA Office of Inspector General 6 



I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
(bi{?)(C) 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Administrative Investigation 
Mi6use of Time, Resources. ar;~ Tille, and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

We also concluded that althoughl(bJ(?)(Cl lmay need remote access to VA systems, 
due to her position and responsibilities~ there was no need to establish this via VA-VPN 
remote access from her non· VA owned equipment. j<bl(7Hci I had a VA-owned 
laptop assigned to her, which allowed for remote access, but because she did not use the 
laptop, she relinquished it. Additionall , the knowingly autho·rizcd installing the ibJ(

7
)<Cl 

software for remote access on \bl< i.: 1 non-VA owned equipment, when he was 
well aware that she recently turned in a Government-owned laptop. Since an OIG 
investigation into a loss of VA data in 2006, VA has set forth clear policies and 
procedures in a concerted effort to restrict access to VA data while working in locations 
other than a VI\ facility. This guidance includes a policy that states only VA-owned 
Government furnished Equipment may be used for remote access and thac there should 
be no new remote access implementations that use privately~owned equipment. 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We rccorrunend the Assistant Secretary for Public and 
Intergovcnunental Affairs, ifl accordance with VA polky, ensures that appropriate 
administrative action is taken against l(bJ(7l\c1 I for misuse of her official time, 
misuse of Government resources, and improper use of her official VA title. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend the Chief, Customer Support Division, 
ITSS, in accordance with VA policy, ensures tbat appropriate administrative action is 
ta.kenagainstthe0for authotizing VA-VPN remote access on a non-VA computer. 

Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend the Chief, Customer Support Division, 
iTSS, in accordance with VA policy, ensures that VA-VPN remote access is removed 
from l'bl(7

)(CJ I non-VA computer that the computer is sanitized of any VA 
sensitive data, and that she be re-issued a Government laptop with VA-VPN access. 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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Comments 

Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Remote Acee$.&, VA Central Office 

The Assistant Secretary for Pubtic and Intergovernmental Affairs and the Chief, 
Customer Support Division. ITSS> concurred with the above recommendations. The 
Assbtant Secretary decided to initiate action to propose 11bJC7HcJ I removal from 
Federal service: however, (bJ(

7Jt l resigned\ before the action could be issued. The 
ChieLtold us that the was no longer an ·····and he was reassigned. She stated chatbJC?)(CJ 

HR Employee Labor Relations Service recommended that the fonnerc:::=Jbe issued abJC7ltCl 

letter of admonishment or reprimand, which is currently in review. She further stated that 
l<bJm<CI I did not gain remote access to the system and that all VA network and VPN 
accounts assigned tolibl(?J\CJ [were removed. In addition, the Ol&T VACO IT 
Operations Service will reissue copies of Directive 6504 and any related addendums to 
ensure staff is aware of VPN protocols, and they plan to conduct an all-hands meeting to 
provide clarity to staff regarding the Directive. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

istant Inspector General for 
1 nvcstigations 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and improper Remote Access, VA Central Offioo 

Assistant Secretary Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: October 12, 2007 

Memorandum 

}~rom: Assistant Secretary for Public and lntergovemrrtental Affairs 
(002) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation, Misuse of Time, Resources, 
and Title, & Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

To: Assistant Inspector General for Investigations (51) 

VA Office of lnspeclor General 

Appendix A 
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Adminrstrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Rernole Access, VA Central Office 

Assistant Secretary's Cpmments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Assistant Secretary's comments are submitled 
in response to the recommendation(s) in the Office of 
Inspector General's Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) t. We recommend the Assistant 
Secretary for Public and Intergovernmental Affairs, in 
accordance with VA policy, ensures that appropriate 
administrative action is taken against j\bH?l\CJ I for 
misuse of her official time, misuse of Government resources, 
and improper use of her official VA title. 

Concur Target Completion Date: See Below 

The Office of Public and Intergovernmental Affairs, in 
consultation with the Office of Human Resources and 
Administration, decided to initiate action to propose 

l<b><7Hci ] removal from Federal service. ibJ(7 ){cJ .__, __ !""'!" ______ .....__, 

resigned before the action could be issued. On \b)(?J\CJ 
l<bJ(?J(Cl I submitted her re""'s-ig_n_a-ti_o_n_t_o _ __. 

be effective the same date jtbl<7J<CJ I 
No further action is anticipated. 

VA Office of Inspector General 10 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources. and Tille, and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

Date: 

From: 

Chief's Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

October 12, 2007 

Memo.rand um 

Chief, Customer Support Division, ITSS (OOSN 1 B t) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation, Misuse of Time, Resources, 
and Title, & Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

To: Office of Inspector General (5 lQ) 

There have been :several turn of events since the report was 
issued to this office for a res onse: l ( J( HC) has been 
reassigned to the (b)FHCi 

l<bH7
)IC> I 2) (b)(lJ(CJ does not work in the ca aci of an 

\b)(7)(Cl 

Information Security Officer (ISO); and 3) (b)(7)(C) is 
no longer employed with the Department of Veterans Affairs. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

Appendix B 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse ot Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

Chief's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Chief's comments are submitted in response to 
the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend the Chief, 
Customer Support Divisio!1, ITSS, in accordance with VA 
policy, ensures that appropriate administrative action is taken 
a,gain.i;t the0 for authorizing VA-VPN remote access on a 
non~ VA computer. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 30 days 

This organization has consulted with VACO's HR Employee 
Labor Relations Service regardin administrative actions, and 
have been advised to issue (bl!7 liC) a letter of admonishment 
or reprimand. This service is reviewing the HR 
recommendations. 

Recommended Actioo(s) 3. We recommend the Chief, 
Customer Support Division, ITSS. in accordance with VA 
policy, ensures that VA-VPN remote access is removed from 

!tbJ(?)\C) I non-VA computer, that the computer is 
sanitized of any VA sensitive data, and that she be re-issued a 
Government laptop computer with VA-VPN access. 

Concur Target Completion Date: See below 

All VA nework and VPN accounts assigned to l .... <b_H7_i<_c_) ___ _. 

have been deleted since her departure, access was not gained 
to the system, device is no long~r available, and all VPN 
accounts have been removed. 

VA Office of Inspector General 12 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Rasour~s. and Title, and Improper Remote Access. VA Central Office 

The OI&T V ACO iT Operations Service will reissue copies 
of Directive 6504 and any related addendums to ensure staff 
is aware of the protocols for installing VPN. Further, because 
of the overlapping guidance that has been issued, the Service 
will plan to conduct an all-hands meeting to provide clarity to 
staff reg-Mding the directive. 

VA Office of Inspector General 13 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Remote Access. VA Central Office 

Appendix C 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OlG Contact L. d F . 11b)(7)(CJ 111 a oum1cr ...__ ______ __, 

Acknowledgments Carrie B. Lewis 

VA Office of Inspector Gelieral 14 
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Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Time, Resources, and Title, and Improper Remote Access, VA Central Office 

VA Dlstributiqn 

Deputy Secretary (001) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat (00 l B) 

Report Distribution 

Assistant Secretary for Public and Intergovernmental Affairs (002) 
Chief, Customer Support Division, ITSS (005N 1B1) 

Appendix D 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 

VA Office or Inspector General 15 
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WARNING 
5 U.S.C. §552a, PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT 

This flnal report contains information subject to the provisions of the 
Privacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. §552a). Such information may be 
disclosed only as authorized by this statute. Questions concerning 
release of this report should be coordinated with the Department of 
Veterans Affairs, Office of Inspector General. The contents of this 
report must be safeguarded from unauthorized disclosure and may 
be shared within the Department of Veterans Affairs on a need-to· 
know basis only. 



DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washlngton1 DC 20420 

TO: Deputy Assistant Secretary for Finance, VA Central Office (047) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation, Misuse of Government Travel Card, 
VA Central Office (2006-02434-IQ-0202) 

Summary 

We substantiated that l(b)Fjcc) • 

rbi(l){CJ I violated Federal travel regulations and VA travel policy when she misused her 
Government travel card to procure conference rooms, reserve hotel rooms for others, pay 
to ship persona) items to her residence, and withdraw cash advances without being in an 
official travel status. Additionally, she failed to use prudent travel practices when she 
routinely exceeded Government lodging and meal per diem rates and used rental vehicles 
rather than less expensive transportation. Furthermore, she frequently failed to pay the 
monthly statement for her travel card in a timely manner, resulting in delinquencies by as 
much as 60 days. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Ins ector General Administrative tigations Division, investi ated 
allegations that L...(b_la_J(c_J ________ _ 

1 1< JI l VA Central Office, Washington DC, engaged in a variety of 
travel irregularities and made ina ropriate travel card purchases. To assess the 
allegations, we interviewed {bJ(

7
l<CJ her current and fonner supervisors, and other VA 

Central Office employees. We also conducted telephone interviews with employees at 
the Financial Services Center in Austin, Texas. We reviewed jcb)\

7
JcCl I travel vouchers 

for trips taken between January 2004 and September 2006, her Government travel card 
statements, Federal laws and regulations, and VA policies. Other allegations were not 
substantiated, and we do not discuss them further in this report 



Administrative lnvesti9ation.!use of Government Travel Card, VA Cenlomce, Washington, DC 

Results 

tssue: Whether,_j1b_H
7

_
1
(c_) _ ___.lmisused her Government travel card 

Federal regulations require employees to conserve Government resources and to satisfy 
financial obligations, and it prohibits them from using their public office for personal 
gain. In addition, it requires agencies to pay only travel expenses that are essential to 
official business and employees to exercise prudence when incurring expenses on official 
travel, and it prohibits the payment of excess costs resulting from circuitous routes or 
services unnecessary in the performance of official business [5 CFR § 2635.lOlt 702, 
704; 41 CFR § 301-2.2, 2.4]. VA policy states that misuse of the Government travel card 
and account delinquency are considered misconduct and subject the cardho1der to 
disciplinary actions [VA Handbook 0631.l(l8)(a)] and that cardholders must use prudent 
travel practices, observe the rules and regulations governing· official travel, and may not 
use the card to make personal purchases or A TM withdrawals unrelated to official travel 
[VA Directive 063 1.1 J. Furthermore, VA policy states that employees are expected to 
minimize costs of official travel, prohibits excess costs and delays unnecessary for the 
perfonnance of official business, and requires employees to pay for additional expenses 
incurred [MP-1, Part II. Chapter 2, Para. 2 (g)(l)]. 

In jtbidi:ci I was the (bi(7l(CJ at the 
~bJa;.:c1 AtlaJ1t<iYA M~dical Center, and in she 'oincd the Topeka Health Revenue Center 

as the ( Jc J(CJ She became the cb)(?)(C) 

'--~-.----' 
and fbiC 7)fCl As the (bi<7J\Cl 

was also the (bJ<7J(CJ 

....,..~_...,.and she Jed thLe~V,.:.A_.;_-w_1:-:. d:-e:-D~efi=-e-ns-e--=F7in-a-nc-e---:A:-c-c-oun-t:-in-g-=s-erv-=-ic-e~(D:::;F;:;--A:-'.S~)~ 
conversion. To conduct training and test the new payroll system, l{b)(7J\c1 I frequently 
traveled to DFAS Headquarters in Pensacola, Florida; the FinanciaJ Services Center in 
Austin, Texas; the Oakland VA Regional Office in Oakland, California; and the San 
Francisco VA Medical Center in San Francisco, California. 

Unnecessary expenses and circuitous routes while on official travel 

We found that on seven separate travel occasionsJbi<7J(CJ lcharged a total of $554.46 
in hotel internet and local area phone char es. In one instance, she incurred $427.52 in 
internet charges while on travel to (b)(. l! ' between 11,....'.b_ia_ic_cJ__,,..----:---:--:----:----
She told us that her VA-issued Blackberry (a wireless device used to receive electronic 
mail messages and ce11ular telephone service) was not charged at that time, so she used 
her VA-issued laptop to access the VA network through the hotel telephone service while 
working at night and to facilitate daily meetings. She also told us that she was not aware 
that there was a charge associated with accessing the network through the hotel. She 
added that her VA-issued laptop was not equipped with a toll free internet number but 
instead had preinstalled loca1 numbers for several cities nationwide. 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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Additionally, we found rb)i?)(C) I did not minimize her travel costs, obtained 
unnecessary services, and sought reimbursement for these expenses. On three occasions, 
she prepaid the rental car company for gasoline at a purported higher rate rather than 
filJing the tank herself prior to returning the car, and on four occasions, she upgraded her 
rental car while on official travel. 

We also identified several instances when ){C) obtained a rental car for her own 
persona] convenience rather than using less expensive transportation. For example1 she 
paid $506.19 in charges on a trip to Ll{b_Ja_i(_CJ....,...,.._..,.....,..-.,,...~--=---:-:----::--.-:---:-::--::-----' 
which included $316.60 for a rental car, $164.16 for hotel parking, and $25.43 in 
gasoline charges. However; there were only 4 7 miles logged on the rental car. the 
official business meetings were held at her hotel, and the airport was only about 3 mi1es 
from the hotel. l(b)FJiCl lsaid during the l(b){?)(C) I trip she visited the Medical 
Center twice for meetings and told us that it would have been more cost effective to take 
an airport shuttle from the airport for $15 .00 and a taxi to and from the Medical Center 
which was located 7 miles from her hotel. 

During her official travel tol(blc7i<ci lpaid $353.58 
in rental car charges, $129.00 in prepaid gasoline charges, and sought a $50.00 
reimbursement for gasoline. Rental car receipts showed there were 811 miles logged on 
the car for the 5 day trip, yet her hotel was located about 3 miles from her temporary duty 
station and JO miles from the airport, l(bl\7 J(CJ I was unable to explain the 811 miles 
placed on the rental car but suggested that other members of the group may have driven 
the car. However; her travel card records indicated that during that time period.lo:iil7l(C) 

{b)17J<CJ used her card to charge a meal in Dallas, TX, which is over 180 miles from Austin. 

Additionally,l<b){7J<C) !chose to drive a rental car tol1bH?J(CJ I for temporary duty 
from l<bH71<c> I told us that, based on her cost anal sis, it was more 
efficient to drive than fly; however, out of all the trips she took to \bJC7)\CJ this was the 
only time she drove. Moreover, she was unable to provide travel documents for that trip. 
Her subsequent cost analysis showed a totaJ cost of $2,468.91, including roundtrip 
airfare, but in using a rental car, her total cost was $2,547.26. Although this was not a 
significant cost differencetj.:b)(?J;c) I told us that it took her 2 days to drive toL...l(b_l'7~)\c_i..,.--_ ...... 
thereby sqending 4 days driving roundtrip rather than 4 hours flying by airplane. 
l1b)(?Hci J also told us that she stayed with a relative inl(b)\?J(CJ lduring this trip, so there 
was no lodging cost to the Government for that overnight stay. 

On two other occasionsJb1d)(Cl I used her travel card to pay charges associated with 
shipping items to her office and home. For exam le a United Parcel Service store 
receipt, dated August 13, 2005, indicated that (b)(?)(Cl used her travel card to pay the 
cost of shipping paperwork to her office at a cost of $105 .86; however, her travei voucher 
for that same trip requested a reimbursement of $155.86 in miscellaneous expenses, $50 
over the cost of the shipping. Another shipping receipt. dated November 17, 2005, 

VA Office of lnspeclor General 3 
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• d' d h l(b)(7)(C) l m icate t at ·used her travel card to pay $153.42 to ship shoes, purses, 
office/work papers, and luggage to her personal residence et her travel voucher showed 
a $53.42 expense for excessive baggage fees. (b)<7Jici told us that she did not seek 
reimbursement for the entire charge, due to the majority of items being personal, yet she 
could not explain how she calculated what charges were to be reimbursed to her. On 
three a itional occasions, l(b)t7J(CJ I claimed a total of $100.00 in excess baggage fees. 

(bJ<
7

J(Cl told us that when she traveled, she chose to take two complete wardrobes for 
each day of travel, and in addition to her personal items, she at times also packed work 
documents in her tuggage. rb)(l)(C) I clarified that she hand-carried any sensitive 
documents on the airplane. 

Misuse of travel card for cash advances unrelated to official travel 

VA travel policy states that employees are expected to identify authorized miscellaneous 
expenses paid for in cash and A TM transaction and bank surcharges, and that they may 
not use the Government travel charge card to make personal purchases or A TM 
withdrawals unrelated to official travel [VA Handbook 0631.l, paragraph l2(c)]. 

On 22 separate travel assignments, l(bJ<7HCl I withdrew 17 cash advances totaling 
$1,820.00 and incurred $57.65 in cash advance fees. !<bJ\?ltCl I did not identi cash 
purchases or surcharges on travel vouchers in these instances. Further, (b){?)(C) cou1d 
not identify specific expenses associated with the cash withdraws except for "snacks. 
drinks, and entertainment" while waiting in airports. Moreover, she could not explain 
why she needed cash advances when she placed most of her travel related ex enses on 
her travel card. Additionally, she made two$ I00.00 withdrawals in (b)\?JCC) on 
April 9, 2004 and August 7, 2005, and she did not have authorization to travel on those 
occasions. 

l(bK
7

l(Cl I told us that she was not familiar with travel card cash advance regulations; it 
was 6 or 7 years since she was versed in these regulations; and that the regulations did 
not exist during her tour as al<bJ(7 HCJ I However, she told us that within the past 
year she attended travel card training, but she did not recal1 the details of the trainin , 
since she did not pay attention while in the class. We confirmed that ._\b_l'·_Kc_i __ _ 

completed GSA Smart Pay Travel Card training on May 2, 2006. 

Misuse of travel card to reserve hotel roorm tor other employees 

ltbJ\7HCl !authorized a Travel Clerk to use herl\bJ(?HCJ I travel card to reserve blocks 
of hotel rooms for meeting attendees. The attendees were all VA employees with travel 
cards of their own, with the exce tio of one attendee whose card was revoked. In 
addition, the vendor charged (b)( ){C for rooms not occupied, as some em loyees did 
not attend the meetings. For example, on September 20, 2005, tbll7JtCl reserved a 
block of hotel rooms at the Springhill Suites Marriott in \bl(7Hc1 for $129.00 a 

VA Office of Inspector General 4 
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night! which was $56 over the daily per diem rate of $73.00. Three em lo ees did not 
attend, and the hotel chargedlibH71ic) 1$147.71 for each room. (bX7HCl told us she 
assumed she had authority to make hotel arrangements for the group because that was a 
past practice. She also said that once she brought the additional room charges to the 
hotel's management attention her travel charge card was appropriately credited. When 
asked why she exceeded the allowable per diem rate, her only explanation was that she 
assumed it was permitted and that the rooms would be charged appropriately. 

Misuse of travel card to procure conference/training rooms 

Federal travel regulations require agencies to minimize all conference costs, determine if 
a Government.owned or provided facility is available at a cheaper rate, determine 
conference expenditures by cost comparisons, and use approved accommodations 
[41 CFR §301-74]. Federal regulations and VA policy mandate that travel cards be used 
only for official travel related expenses [41 CFR §301.51.6; VA Handbook 0631. l ( 4)J. 

We identified three occasions when rbH7llC) I used her travel card to pay for 
conference/trainjng rooms totaJin $3,020. For example, on August 7, 2005, she paid 
$1,000 for training rooms in <bl\ H l on February 27, 2006, she paid $1,620 inl(bl<7J(CJ 

(b)t7 J(C) and on March 29 and A ril 3, 2006, she paid $200 on each date in l1bJ(
7ltCl 

(b)l?J(CJ for training rooms. (bl\7J(C) told us that the meetings were with short notice 
and coupled with a difficulty of securing meeting space at the l(oJ(

7 /\c1 !VA 
facilities, she opted to hold the two meetings at the hotel where the attendees stayed. 

l(o){?){C) I recalled the decision to hold the meeting in j<bH7J1ci !was based on the most 
economical location in terms of per diem and the number of attendees. She told us that 
she was not aware that she could not use her travel card for this purpose. 

Exceeding per diem rates and fi:Jfling to pay Governmenr travel card in a timely manner 

Out of 22 officiaJ travel trips, we identified nine occasions totaling $868.00 where 
l(bll

7
J(C) I exceeded the GSA allowable lodging rate; and on eight of those occasions she 

failed to obtain authorization to do so. She told us a Program Specialist was responsible 
for making her travel arrangements and she assumed the specialist knew the rules and 
followed them. jl6Jlt)(c) I exceeded the aUowable er diem rate for meals 17 times. For 
example, when she traveled to \bJ(?)lcJ the 
meal per diem rate was $43.00 a day and she spent $80.12 for a meal on 1..-<b_J(

7_Hc_1 ___ __. 

$66.62 o~?bi;7i/c) land $80.97 on rb)(7)(C) I In another example, while in a 
temporary duty status, she charged $326.96 to her Government travel charge card on 
March 30, 2006, for her meal and the meals of her dinner guests at Ruth Chris Steak 
House. She told us she did not know employees were limited to their meal cost and 
disputed the definition of excessive. She said the Ruth Chris Steak House would not give 
separate checks for each dinner guest, and as a result, she placed the entire bill on her 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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Government travel card and the others reimbursed her. In addition, l\bJ\7J(CJ lsaid she 
was unaware that paying for other empJoyee's meals was a violation of card privileges. 

We found that on 16 occasions, l{b)(7)(Cl !railed to pay her travel card statement on time, 
and there were I 0 billing cycles where she paid an additional fee to use a "speed pay" 
option to avoid the bill going overdue. Her travel vouchers showed that she did not seek 
reimbursement for any meals over the allowable per diem rate; however, the excessive 
meal charges may have contributed to her inability to pay her Government travel card 
account on time. She admjtted not processing her travel vouchers and making timely 
payments and attributed the failure to satisfy her financial obligations to the aggressive 
project schedule, the amount of travel involved, and her hectic work schedule. In an 
attempt to resolve the payment issue, lcb)(ll<Cl I said she implemented a "split pay" 
option so that the Government automatically paid her travel card bill in lieu of 
reimbursing her, thus eliminating delinquencies. 

rb)(71\C) I had five travel reimbursement approving officials between January 2004 and 
September 2006; we interviewed three and two were no longer with VA. The Associate 
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Financial Systems and Operations became cbK icci 

immediate supervisor in libl(7J(CJ I and approved eight of {b)(?){Cl travel 
vouchers. She told us if the Senior Budget Officer questioned or rejected a travel 
voucher, she was notified via electronic mail. She said she was not aware of l1.-1b_H

7
_Hc_l __ _. 

travel card charges particularly the large amount of charges at restaurants and ATM 
withdrawals. The Associate Deputy Assistant Secretary for Financial Systems and 
Operations was aware ofl·:bl\7l<Cl ~ravel card delin~uency issues and that l'b)\7l(C) 

requested the "split pay" option, stating thatl'b)(7)tc) lhas not had a problem s..,..in_c_e_. --~ 

The De ut Director for the Office of Financial Systems and Operations approved five of 
(b){

7 lcci travel vouchers rcsultin in improper payments and reimbursements. He said 
he fre uentl uestioned !.blC7l\CJ travel vouchers and any improper claims approved 
on Mf7l(Cl vouchers were an oversight on his part. The Deputy Director said he 
never reviewed r(?){C) I travel card statements and therefore was not aware of any 
charges. 

The Administrative Officer served as l\b)(7)\Cl I immediate supervisor briefl , 
approving two of her travel vouchers. She told us she questioned both of <bH7Jcc\ ........_ __ .....-~ 
travel plans; the first occasion involved the cost of airfare and the other conceme a 
weekend stay and in each incident l<1:>i:tHCI I provided justification for a proval. The 
Administrative Officer said she was not aware of any charges on tbl\ l< 1 travel card. 

The Senior Budget Analyst told us that out of approximately 110 employees• travel plans 
and vouchers he reviewed. l<bH7 11c1 I plans were rejected most often, explaining she 
was an "expensive traveler" and notoriously late filing her travel vouchers. He added 
that he advised lfblUiici I to speak with a Contracting Officer or Acquisition Officer 

VA Office of Inspector General 6 
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concerning alternate ways to secure conference/training rooms while on official duty. He 
said that he warned (bX?HCl to have supporting documents to justify her travel 
expenses in the event t e nspector General audited her files. Although ..... 11b_l\7_H_cl __ ___. 

supervjsors approved her official travel they did not review her travel card billing 
statement and had no detailed knowledge of her spending habits. 

Conclusion 

j<b){
7

l(Cl !routinely incurred urmecessary expenses and did not observe the rules and 
re ulations governing official travel We identified 84 instances that highlighted 

CbX
7J<Cl failure to observe strict fiscal responsibility and minimize cost while on 

official Government travel. We found 16 times where l(b)(7 J(CJ I failed to satisfy her 
Government traveJ charge card financial obligations resulting in delinquencies up to 60 
days. l<bl\

7
l<CJ l made several A TM cash withdrawals with her Government travel 

charge card and was not in an official travel status. Finally, the pattern of excessive 
spending, failure to exercise strict fiscaJ responsibility and the repeated infractions of 
travel card delinquencies raise questions concerningllbJ(7 ~(CJ !resolve to comply with 
Federal and VA travel regulations and her intent to personally gain from her official 
activities. 

Recommended Action s I. We recommend that the Deputy Assistant Secretary for 
Finance provide (bl< ){CJ detailed training on Federal travel regulations and VA policy. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the Deputy Assistant Secretary for 
Finance ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken againstl<bl<7JiC) I for not 
using prudent travel practices and observing regulations governing official travel. 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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Comments 

The Deputy Assistant Secretary for Finance, VA Central Office, concurred with the 
above recommendations. He told us that l<bl.;7)<Cl I will take a travel charge card 
training course that explains the proper use of the travel card. provides a competency test 
at the end of the training> and generates a certificate of completion as proof of successful 
completion. The Deputy Assistant Secreta further told us that he would take the 
appropriate administrative action against tbJ(?)(CJ for not using prudent travel practices 
and observing regulations governing official travel. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

JAMES J. O'NEILL 
Assistant Inspector General for 

Investigations 
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Appendix A 

Deputy Assistant Secretary's Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: September 19, 2007 

Memorandum 

From: Deputy Assistant Secretary for Finance (047) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation 
Misuse of Government Travel Card, VA Central Office 

To: Assistant Inspector Genera{ for Investigations 

I have reviewed the report and agree with the recommended 
actions. l<bH7Hc) !will be required to take the travel charge 
card training offered on the GSA website. The training 
explains the proper use of the travel charge card. Jn addition, 
we wil1 take the appropriate administrative action as outlined 
in VA Handbook 063 l. l, paragraph l 8a. 

VA Office of Inspector General 9 
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Deputy Assistant Secretary's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector GeneraPs 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the Deputy 
Assistant Secretary for Finance provide j16l{7 JtCJ I detailed 
training on Federal travel regulations and VA policy. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 11/30/07 

IM~7l!Cl I will be required to take the travel charge card 
training offered on the GSA website. The training course 
explains the proper use of the travel charge card, provides a 
competency test at the end of the training, and generate$ a 
certificate of completion that can be provided as proof that 
she successfuJly completed the training on proper card 
useage. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the Deputy 
Assistant Secretary for Finance ensure that appropriate 
administrative action is taken againstfbl(7 i<ci lror not using 
prudent travel practices and observing regulations governing 
official travel. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 11130/07 

VA Handbook 0631.1, paragraph 18a provides guidance on 
disciplinary actions for misuse of the government charge 
card. The disciplinary actions range from a reprimand to 
removal. We will work with Human Resources to determine 
the appropriate action based on the IG findings. 

VA Office of Inspector General 10 
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Appendix B 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact Linda Fournier ~bJ(?)\CJ 

Acknowledgments Kristinn Watkins 
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Appendix C 

VA Distribution 

Deputy Secretary (001) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat (OOIB) 

Report Distribution 

Deputy Assistant Secretary for Finance, VA Central Office {047) 

This report will be available in the near future on the OIG's Web site at 
http://www.va.gov/oig/52/reports/mainlist.htm. This report will remain on the OIG Web 
site for at least 2 fiscal years after it is issued. 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Director. Veterans Integrated Service Network 16 ( lON 16) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation - Misuse of Resources and Position. 
VA Medical Center, Oklahoma City, OK (2006-02081-IQ-0185) 

Summary 

We substantiated that thel(bi!7lCCJ I at the Oklahoma City 
VA Medical Center erroneously recommended selling Veterans Health Administration 
(VHA) health care resources to a VA medical center physician so the physician could . 
treat his daughter, an ineligible veteran, at that facility. Based on this recommendation, 
the former Medical Center Director authorized the treatment. Once the Chief learned that 
VHA policy prohibited such an arrangement, he failed to determine if corrective action 
was needed. We also substantiated that the physician, a cardiologist, misused his position 
by performing the procedure. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General. Administrative Investigations Division, investigated 
the alleged unauthorized medical treatment of an ineligible veteran who was the daughter 
of a physician employed by the Oklahoma City VA Medical Center. According to the 
complainant, the former Medical Center Director approved the daughter's treatment even 
though other veterans were being denied care. Since the former Director retired, we did 
not investigate his accountability in this matter. We did investigate whether 
fbJ(?)(CJ I provided the fonner Director 
erroneous advice concerning the pro:riety of treating the veteran at the Medical Center, 
and whether lib\(7 ~ci J the veteran's father and creating physician, a 

< l(?){CJ misused his sition when he treated her there. We interviewed 
and ocher VA employees. We also reviewed 

L...,.-~~~..,..-~-:-..,.-~--:-~..,..--' 

documentation relating to the daughter's medical procedure and its cost, VHA policy and 
Federal regulations, and other relevant documents. 
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Results 

Issue: Whether <bH
7

j(C) improperly advised that it was appropriate to treat, 
and whether.__'b_> _H_l ___ __,lmproperly treated, an ineligible veteran 

YHA policy authorizes, in accordance with Federal law, the sale of VHA health care 
resources, including medical and surgical services, support and administrative resources, 
and the use of medical equipment and space, to other health care providers or to 
individuals. According to the policy, the medical center director must certify that 
contracts awarded under this authority do not diminish existing levels of services to 
veterans and that the contract is necessary to maintaining an acceptable level and quality 
of service to veterans (or results in improvement of services to veterans). The policy 
requires all contracts to be in writing and to undergo legal review. Contracts with VA 
employees are specifically prohibited. Finally, the policy permits. but does not require, 
VHA health care resources to be priced above full cost [VHA Direcli ve 1660. t, 
paragraphs l, 2, 3a, 3g, 3i, 4f1. As Chief of the Medical Administration Service, 
Mr. Morrison is responsible for providing the technical advice necessary to comply with 
policy and administrative requirements related to the care and treatment of patients. 

The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch prohibit 
employees from using their public position for the private gain of relatives and require 
that they avoid actions giving the appearance they are doing so [5 CFR § 2635.101, 702]. 
Additionally, Federal regulations and VA policy state that employees shall not engage in 
conduct prejudicial to the Government. VA policy also states that employee conduct 
which reflects adversely on the Federal Government may be grounds for disciplinary 
action [5 CFR § 735.203; VA Handbook 5025, Part ill, paragraph Sc]. 

VA uses a priority group system to balance demand and available resources, assigning 
veterans who apply for benefits to a priority group, numbered I through 8. Effective 
January 17, 2003, VA denied enrollment and medica1 care benefits to group 8, subgroups 
"e" and "g," veterans applying after that date. There were 256Al6 veterans. nationwide, 
who applied for enrollment during the 2005 fiscal year but were determined to be in 
priority group 8g, therefore ineligible for VA healthcare. 

l(b)(?J(CJ I told us that in l'bH7 )ICJ lhe performed a medical procedure on his adult 
daughter at the Oklahoma City VA Medical Center to assist in further assessing her 
condition following a diagnosis by the daughter's private cardiologist. According to 

l(b1<71cCl I he scheduled the procedure on a day when he had free time and the 
necessary laboratory was available. He said that when his daughter registered at the 
medical center. however, the two of them were told she was not eligible for VA medical 
care and treatment as a veteran because she was in priority group 8g. 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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Accordiag to c 11 )<CJ on the morning of the procedure, the former medical center 
Direcror told him <b)f!j(Cl daughter was at the medical center and asked him if 
there was a way to allow her to undergo the procedure there. l{b1<7iici lsaid, in 
response, he recommended using VA's authority to sell health care resources on the basis 
that the sale would generate revenue for the medical center. l'bH71cci !told us he was 
familiar with the revenue generation program at another VA medical center, involving 
the sale of services to the Department of Defense. and believed it was an appropriate 
option in this circumstance if they chargedl(bl!7 l<C) la high enough fee to ensure the 
Oklahoma City Medical Center made a profit on the procedure. l<bl\7J<C) l said his 
understanding was that the procedure needed to be dorie immediately and, due to what he 
perceived to be an urgent need, he did not take time to research the applicable policy or to 
seek advice from the Regional Counsel's office. He said he contacted the facility's 
medical ca.re cost recover staff and they calculated that the bill tollblmtci !would 
be $9,191. {bJ(7){CJ told us he then advised ibi(l)(CJ that the former Director 
would allow the procedure if he lbl<7l\CJ was willing to pay the fee and that 

fbl<7 l(CJ I verbally agreed to do so. 

l(b){?)(Cl !told us that several days to a week later he reviewed the VHA policy, cited 
above, on selling health care resources. That policy did not authorizel{bJ(7 lici I to 
treat his daughter becausel·:bx7iici I was a VA employee and thus could not contract 
with VA to purchase VHA resources, and because the agreement was not in writing and 
was not legally reviewed. l'b)(?J(C) l told us at this point he did not attempt to 
detennine what. if any, action he should take to correct the improper agreement because 
the surgery had already taken place and l(b)(7)1CJ !had verbally agreed to pay for it. 
Further,jlblt7J\CJ looted that the services were provided to a veteran, no other veteran 
was displaced, and the medical center generated money that was now available for the 
facility to treat other veterans. Other persormel present for the procedure also told us no 
other veteran was displaced whilelCbl!7J(Ci !performed this procedure. 

Similarly. l\bJ(?)(CJ !recalled thad(bl<?J(CJ !told him that because his daughter 
was not eli ible, the medical center could not bill her private insurance company and that 
she or bH7Hc) would have to pay for the services provided. jl6J(7)<CJ I said 
1b)(7J1ci told him the bill could be a.c; high as $9,000. He said he decided to deal 
with the bill at a later time but the procedure needed to be done. He acknowledged that 
other options were available. but said he wanted the procedure done at VA and done by 
him because he believed that would result in the best medical care for his daughter. 

1<blt7HC) lsaid his only concern was to give his daughter the best medical care he 
could and that he was not trying to gain from his position because he fuUy intended to 
pay the appropriate amount for the services. According tol1b){7)(CJ l in addition to 
the procedure he performed on his daughter, an echocardiographer performed a separate 
medical test on her, and a nurse and two technicians were present during the procedure. 
Further, a blood analysis was perfonned. libHl)ICJ lsaid the room he occupied would 
have been vacant., as he was not assigned to work there that day and the one other 
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physician in the laboratory was working in another room at the time of the daughter's 
procedure. He said he knew no other veteran was denied care while he treated his 
daughter because he was the one who scheduled the patients and he did not cancel or 
move any one to accommodate his daughter. 

Inl<b){?)\C) !received a $9.191 bill for the cost of the procedure. He 
contested the amount as being unreasonably high because it included the cost of a 
procedure and a service he did not perf onn, the cost of a duplicate procedure, and 
excessive supply charges. However, inj\b)i?l{CJ lhc agreed in writing to pay the bill 
in monthly installments. At the time of our investigation, ICbl17 icc) !had made some, 
buc not all, of the installments. 

During this investigation, we attempted ·to identify existing VA or VHA policy 
addressing the propriety of a VA physician treating an immediate family member, but 
could not identify any. A representative of VHA's National Center for Ethics in Health 
Care said she, too, knew of no policy prohibiting a physician from treating an immediate 
family member. but she noted that the practice could be etliically problematic, stating: 

The fact that VHA health care professionals in particular are committed to 
upholding the public trust makes it especially important to practice transparency. 
This would seem critically important in tliis case, to avoid the appearance that a 
special relation or conflict of interest allowed a patient to receive access to a VHA 
facility who might not otherwise have such access .... (P1atients similarly situaced 
must receive comparable access, unless there are compelling reasons to justify 
departures from the norm. and these jIL'\tifications are made explicit. 

Further, a July 2003 report by VHA's National Ethics Committee, Ethical Boundaries in 
the Patient-Clinician Relationship, stated that health care professionals should beware of 
interacting with any patient in ways that could reasonably be expected to create awkward 
situations for either party, compromise the professional's primary commitment to patient 
welfare, or call the professional's objectivity into question. 

Another representative of VHA's National Center for Ethics in Health Care told us that 
the American Medical Association Code of Ethics (E-8.19) and the American College of 
Physicians Ethics Manual both hold that physicians should not generally treat members 
of their immediate family. He told us this was the "basis on which State Medical Boards 
and health care institutions may address issues of professionalism." In addition. he said 
that the May 1999 Oklahoma State Board of Medical Licensure publication ISSUES and 
ANSWERS stated that ··the AMA Cu"ent Opinions regards any treatment of family 
members (except in emergencies) as unethical. This primarily is due to lack of physician 
objectivity and patient autonomy." Finally, the Oklahoma City VA Medical Center 
Bylaws state that medical staff are accountable for and have a responsibility to abide by 
high standards of ethics in professional practice and conduct [Article III, Section 3e]. 
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Conclusion 

l16
H
7

J(CJ I erroneously advised the former Medical Center Director to use VA's 
authority to sell health care resources so that j{6l(7kci I could treat his daughter. an 
ineligible veteran. The policy, however, does not allow VA resources to be sold to VA 
employees. Further, rb)c7)(CJ I did not ensure the agreement was put in writing and 
submitted for legal review. When he read the policy, after the fact, he failed to follow-up 
to determine if corrective action was needed. 

rb)(?)(C) 1 · d h. · · VA 1 h h d h. d h nususe is pos1t10n as a emp oyee w en e treate 1s aug ter) an 
ineligible veteran. Were it not for his position as al{bl\7)1c1 I at the VA Medical 
Center, we question whether the former Director would have approved his perfonning the 
procedure. Further, there was a requirement thatllbH7>ic1 !maintain high standards of 
ethics in a professional practice as a physician and VA employee. Moreover, had there 
been complications during or after this procedure, it would have been, and still could be, 
detrimental to the medical center and VA. 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend the Director, Veterans Inte~rated Service 
Network 16, ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken against~ ..... lb_H7_ic_C1 ___ __. 

for failing to research VHA policy in a timely manner, thus providing erroneous 
1nf onnation to the former Director, and for failing to determine if corrective action was 
necessary once he discovered policy did not authorize the sale of health care resources to 
VA employees. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend the Director, Veterans Integrated Service 
Network 16, confer with Regional Counsel to determine the validity of the written 
agreement made wit.bl<bH7

){C) l including the amount of money l'bl\7J\CJ I may 
owe or should be refunded. 

Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend the Director, Veterans Integrated Service 
Network 16, ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken againsd,_1b_)'

7_J:_c) ___ ___. 
for misuse of his position, violating ethics standards, and conduct prejudicial to the 
Government. 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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Comments 

The Director, Veterans Integrated Service Nel\vork 16, concurred with the above 
recommendations, and told us that appr9priate administrative action would be taken 
against l<blltiici J Regarding the recommendation to obtain a 
Regional Counsel opinion to determine the validity of the written agreement made with 

l<t>J{7)\CJ I for the sale of VA health care resources to a VA employee, the Veterans 
Integrated Service Network Director told us that Regional Counsel concluded that the 
written agreement was legal. Additionally, Regional Counsel stated thatLlib_H7_H_ci ____ __. 

most likely agreed to pay too much for the medical services; however, he was responsible 
for the debt. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

//~,~~ 
JAMES J. O'NEILL 

Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations 
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Appendix A 

Director Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: August 14. 2007 

Memorandum 

From: Director. Veterans Integrated Service Network 16 (10Nl6) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation, Misuse of Resources and 
Position, VA Medical Center, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 

To: Administrative Investigation Division VA Office of Inspector 
General 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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Director's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation{s) 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend the Director, 
Veterans Integrated Service Network 16, ensure that 
a ro riate administrative action is taken against 

....__ ___ _ for failing to research VHA policy in a timely 
manner, thus providing erroneous information to the fonner 
Director, and for failing to determine if corrective action was 
necessary once he discovered policy did not authorize the sale 
of health care resources to VA employees. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 4/30/07 

VISN 16 Comments 4/30/07: Human Resources prepared 
disciplinary aciton and it is being delivered to the employee 
on 4/30107. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend the Director, 
Veterans Integrated Service Network 16, confer with 
Regional Counsel to determine the validity of the written 
agreement made withl<bJ{?l(C) I including the amount of 
moneyl(b)(7)\CJ I may owe or should be refunded. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 4/24/07 

VISN 16 COMMENTS 4/30/07: Regional Counsel opinion 
concluded that most likely the physician probably agreed to 
pay too much, but that the written agreement made with 

l<bJ<7l<Cl I was not ille al. Therefore a payment plan will 
be established with (b)(?)(CJ 

VA Office of Inspector General 

Oklahoma 
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Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend the Director, 
Veterans Integrated Service Network 16, ensure that 
appropriate administrative action is taken against 

j(bJUl\C) I for misuse of his position, violating ethics 
standards, and conduct prejudicial to the Government. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 8.17.2007 

VISN 16 COMMENTS 8/14/07: Administrative action will 
be taken on or before August 15, 2007. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

Oklahoma 
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AppendixB 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact L
, d F . l(b)(7)(C) m a ourmer 

L...-------' 

Acknowledgments 

VA Office of Inspector General 10 



Administrative Investigation !suse of Resources and Position, VA Med! Center, Oklahoma City, OK 

AppendlxC 

Report Distribution 

VA Distribution 

Deputy Secretary (001) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat (00 lB) 
Under Secretary for Health (10) 
Principal Deputy Under Secretary for Health ( l OA) 
Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and Management (ION) 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 16 ( 1ON16) 
Management and Review Service (1 OBS) 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 
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Introduction 

Admlnlstrative Investigation - Reprisal and False Statements 
Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central Office 

Executive Summary 

The VA Office of .::lns:,c.:;ec::.:t::.:or~Ge::!:!!n:::!er:.=a!..I ~~11...!~!!!!!~~!.!::..~~~:u..ioWll!.....w:.i~l.LW.l..I......, 
investi ated whether (bJ-:711 > 

L---------------------------------~------------' 
<b)(?HCJ reprised against a subordinate contracting officer; whether he and two of his 
subordinate supervisors reprised against a contractor employee when they requested, 
without justification, that she be removed from her VA assignment; and whether 

11bJc71lcJ !made false statements to OIG investigators. 

On j<bH7l<c1 I and a warranted 
contracting officer, awarded a task order to Internet Security Systems, Inc. (ISS) without 
competition, citing urgent and compelling circumstances. The award was for the forensic 
analysis of 17 compact disks containing what was believed to be the same veteran 
information that had been stolen in May 2006 from a VA employee's residence. The task 
order was set to expire after 11 :59 p.m., June 2. Early on June 2, VA officials determined 
additional time was needed to complete the analysis. and in the early morning hours of 
June 3, in anticipation of a signed blanket purchase agreement and associated task order, 
another AOS contracting officer authorized ISS to continue its work. 

Results 

We substantiated that CbJ<
7 lcc> en a ed in a prohibited personnel practice, reprisal> 

when he, in effec~ threatened (b)(?)(C) with a demotion and when he gave 
l(b)(f\cci I a letter of counseling because i~H 7Hci , r,efused o award a second sole­
source task order to ISS. l<bl(7 HCJ I who instructed ,b)(lhCJ to make the a.ward, 
made the threat and issued the counseling letter even thou b that time he knew, based 
on legal counsel, that his instruction was unlawful. (bJ(?)(cJ ctions were also an 
attempt to usurp j<bH7Hc> I authority as a1...cb_H_J(_ci _______ ___. 

We did not substantiate that (bll
7

l<CJ and two· of his subordinate supervisors, 
L..---------=-....,---.,..-------------' reprised against a contractor employee when 

ey requested that her employer remove her from the contract. However} we fowid they 
did not have a well-documented basis for their actions. Individuals who worked more 
closely with the contractor employee told us they were plea.~ed with her perfoonance and 
said the problems that arose occurred while the contractor employee was following their 
instructions or trying to adhere to contracting regulations. 

Finally. we found thatj(b)ilXCl ldid not testi honest! during our interview with him. 
He falsely testified that he did not direct \bll7)(c) to award a second, so1e-source 
contract to JSS; did not intend that JSS would be awarded the second contract; did not 
remind j<bH7i<c1 ~at he was still on probation; and was told by a senior VA official 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Acquisition 0pera1ions Service, VA Central omce 

that the Assistant Secretary for Information and Technology did not wantl .._(b-li
7_l<_c> __ ___, 

involved in the second contract action. 

We recommended that the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Acquisition and Materiel 
Management ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken againstl(bJ17Jic) lfor 
en a in in a rohibited personnel practice against l(b)i

7
i(C) I for attempting to usurp 

(bJ<
7

l(CI authority as a contracting officer, and for making false statements to OIG 
investigators. 

Comments 

The Deputy Assistant Secretary for Acquisition and Materiel Management concurred 
with the recommendations. We wm follow up to ensure the recommendations arc 
implemented. 

Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations 
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Administrative Investigation • Reprisal and Fa'se Statements 
----·---------·----::....:Acq::.i=u:.::Jsl;;:.tlo:.:.n.:...;O:.!:p:.:e:.:.::.:rations Service, VA Central Office 

Introduction 
Purpose 

The VA Office of Inspector General (OIG), Administrative Investigations Division, 
~in~v~e~st=i=a=ted=-~an=-_a_e,._,,a=i.........., that Ll(b_H7~J(_c) ________ ~--------~----' 
(bJil)(C) in the Office of Acquisition and Materiel Management, 
~~---~....-~~~-:-:-~ 

reprise agamst a su ordinate contracting officer. Based on infonnation obtained during 
the course of this investigatioJJ, we also investigated whether l'bl\7lCCI land two of his 
subordinate supervisors reprised against a contractor employee when they requested, 
without justification, that she be removed ftom her VA assignment. FinalJy, this report 
discusses that, while under oath, !tbJ(7Hc1 !made false statements to OIG investigators. 

Background 

ltbim:c) land a warranted 
contTactmg ofllcer, awaTded a task order for the forensic analysis of 17 compact disks 
containing what was believed to be the same veterwi information that had been stolen in 
May 2006 ftorn a VA employee's residence. The purpose of the analysis was to 
detennine what infonnation ma have been com r 'sed. lbl(7)1ci 
{b)(7)\C) 

was e respons1 e program office official for the procllt'ement. ,_(b-l{7_J(c_, ____ ..... 
recommended that lntemet Security Systems, Inc. (ISS} be awarded the task order. 

11.bJC
7

l\Cl I awarded the task order to ISS without competition, citing urgent and 
compe1ling circumstances. The task order was set to expire after 11 :59 p.m., June 2. 
2006. Early on JW1c 2,l!blc7 l!CJ I and others determined additional time was needed to 
complete the analysis, and in the early morning hours of June 3, 2006, in anticipation of a 
signed blanket purchase agreement and associated task order, another AOS contracting 
officer authorized ISS to continue its work. 

In July 2006, we initiated an administrative investigation into aHeged improper 
procurement practices associated with the above procurements. The investi ation also 
focused on an allegation thatfbli7 )<C) !reprised againstl<bl\7){C) lafter._t0_J(_1<_J __ ___. 
refused to award a second sole-source task order to ISS on the grounds that doing so 
violated the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR). 

Scope and Methodology 

This report addresses issues reJative to (b){
7

HCJ 

his subordinate su ervisors cb)(?J(Cl 

conduct and the conduct of two of 

W . t . d (b)(7)(-) 
e1nervtewe '-----~ 

i...b ... )! ""x .... 1------------,--an-d:-o-:-th;-e-r-=-v7A:--officials and VA contractor 
emp oyees knowledgeable of the circumstances relevant to the alleged inappropriate 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Acquisition Operations ~rvice, VA Central Office 

conduct. r)(?)(C) I resigned from v A when we initiated this investi ation and 
declined to be interviewed. We reviewed l'bH7llCl I and \bl< J\Cl written 
accounts of a June 2 contract strategy meeting, a Jetter of counseling (b) < gave to 
<bJ(l)(C) relevant electronic mail messages and other correspondence, and the 

ice of Acquisition and Materiel Management's contract for acquisition support 
services. We also reviewed appUcable Federal Jaw and regulations, and Merit Systems 
Protection Board rulings. 

The results of our investigation into whether the procurements awarded to ISS were 
appropriate are addressed in a separate report. 
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Results and Conclusions 

Issue 1: Whether Mr. Carllsi reprised against Mr. Mannion 
for refusing to award ISS a second sole-source task order 

Findings 

We substantiated that l1bJ(J){cJ I committed a prohibited personnel practice, reprisal, 
against l'b)\?J(C) I by threatening to demote him and by giving him a letter of 
counseling for failing to obey his instructions to award a second, follow-on sole-source 
task order to ISS. At the time of the reprisal actions, l<bl:7Hc1 I knew a second sole­
source award to ISS was prohibited by the FAR. 

Federal statute prohibits a supervisor from taking, or threatening to take> a personnel 
action against an employee because the employee refused to obey an order that would 
vioJate the law [5 U.S.C. §2302(b)(9)]. The Competition in Contracting Act requires 
executive agencies to "obtain full and open competition through the use of competitive 
procedures in accordance with the ... Federal Acquisition Regulation° [41 U.S.C. 
§253(a)(l)]. The FAR authorizes contracting officers to enter into contracts and to make 
related determinations and findings. Contracting officers are responsible for ensuring 
that all requirements of law and regulations have been met. AdditionalJy, the FAR alJows 
contracting officers wide latitude to exercise business judgment [FAR 1.602~ 1]. 

Under certain circwnstances, the FAR exempts orders placed under a Federal Supply 
Schedule from the requirements to conduct full and open competition. One circumstance 
when this may apply is when the work is a "logical follow~on" to an original Federal 
Supply Schedule order, but only if the original order was not previously issued under 
sole-source or limited source procedures [FAR 8.405-6(b)(2)J. 

l(bJ'7KCJ la staff attorney assigned to the Office of General Counsel (OGC), 
Professional Staff Group 5, told us that on l(bJ(7)(C> !he reviewed and, with minor 
changes, approved the justification for the initial sole-source task order to ISS. He said at 
approximately 7:30 l.m. that evening, 1<bll7l<Cl I 
f bJi71<c) a contractor employee working with AOS to provide acquisition 
support services, discussed that the FAR required com~ting additional contract needs 
beyond the first sole-source task order awarded to ISS. IM, \jCJ I told us everyone at 
the meeting understood that the initial contract was an urgent requirement limited to 48 
hours, and any contracting efforts for additional services would have to be competed. 

A second meetin was held the next da 
others, were (bJ(l)\C) 

e was not m the office at the time this meeting began, and 
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(b){7)(C) 

attended in his lace. According to minutes of this meeting edited and 
approved by (b)(?l\Cl explained in detail to those present that the FAR 
did not pcnnit a "follow-on" contract to be issued to lSS without competition because the 
first contract was not competed. He said, rather the follow·on action had to be 
competed. The minutes document that neitherl<bl(7Hd l nor l1bJ(?)\Cl I considered 
competing the procurement to be a viable option because rhey believed the data already 
coUected would be Jost. the learning curve required by another contractor would delay the 
project, and monies already obligated to ISS would be wasted. The minutes state that 
1 Kl( 1 told fb)(7l<Ci lhe would not sign a contract that was not competed, but 
.__ __ ___.directed him at least four times to sign such a contract (a modification to the 
original). In our interview with l(b)(7Hc1 I he confirmed that his version of what 
happened in the meeting was as stated in the meeting minutes. 

rb)(7)(C) lconfttmed that, at the June 2 meeting, rb){?){C) I was "emphatic" that 
he did not believe a second soJe-source procurement could be awarded to JSS and that 
bl< , J nevertheless ordered him to do so. Accordin to ibl< " J 
told ibH7Hci he was relying on the advice ;;.(b:.;.)\7;;::lt;!c,z...:.::..i......,..--p-re-v7io-u-s7ly_g_a-ve--:th-:-e-m-. __. 
(bJ( K l told us he did not know what that previous advice was, but said at the time 
o ts meetin he believed a sole-source award could be justified and voiced that o inion 
to (b)t

7l<CJ He said !tbH7 l(CJ I relied on his o inion and ordered (bH7 l\Cl to 
m e a fo ow--0n sole-source award. In \blt7l(Cl written account of the meeting, he 
acknowledged directingl(b)(7)(CJ I to sign the procurement, noting "OGC invoJvement 
and approval." 

Following the meeting,1...(b_H_ii_cl,.,..----------,,i!"1".11"1'~-""an"""d-.....·br-J<7_l(C-:-J-:--:-----:--> went 
to l<bJ-:?Jic) I office to discuss the matter further. said he reiterated 
what he had told them the previous day, and showed them the applicable section in the 
FAR. l(bH7

J(C) ltold us that, at this point, he reversed his position and, instead, 
suggested that AOS process a request for a deviation from the FAR or comply with the 
requirement for competition. 

l1bl\7HCJ I told us that later on June 2, around 5:30 p.mJt>l\7l(CJ l"threatened" him 
when, after he continued to refuse to award a second sole-source contract to ISS 
(b)(rJ(t;J reminded him of his pr-0bationary status. According to l(bi<7HCl : 

told him to '1'e very careful~ after all, l(t>J(7l\Cl I you are on probation." 
1-(b'""'l<7.,..i(c=)---'-.I saidl(bJ(7){c) I brought up the fact of his probation at least twice that day. 

f.b)(?l\CJ !denied commenting aboutl(b)(7
)(C) !probationary status. Howe~~, two 

ADS pro anal sts told us they were st.anding nearby and overheard l.._(b_H
7_l·.c_J _ __. 

remind \bJ(?)\CJ that he was on probation. One of the anal sts told us she was 
standing m the area of the office fax machine when she heard <bJ(

7
H 1 object to 

signing a sole-source document and then heard tbh l! J tell (b)\7l(CJ he was stilJ 
on probation. The analyst said that when tbJ:7liC) made that comment, his voice was 
loud and she heard it clearly. The second analyst told us that, aroW1d 5:30 p.m. that 
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even in she also was in the area of the office fax machine and overheard (bJ(?)(CJ and ...---,,,.....,,...-._____, 
(bJ(7KCJ talking about signing a contract. She said she heard cbJ(l)(Cl remind 
...__ ___ __.hat he was on probation. 

Onl<bJ\
7

HCl I foJlowing the com itive award of the b]anket purchase agreement and 
associated task order to ISS. 1 (?J(CJ jssued \bJ( l( l a letter of counseling> 
stating that during the June 2 meeting, (bl< ) ci "refused verbal instruction from me 
to be the Contractin Officer CO) on an action that was deemed le al sufficient.~' 
(bl(7)(c) also cited ib)(?JiCJ for disrespectful conduct. (bli7 )(c~ told us that 
(bl! )(CJ '-----~ was never disrespectful towards (bJt7l< l but to the contrary, was 
subdued when refusing to obey l<bH7icci I instruction to make the second award. 

Conclusion 

<bl<7HCl engaged in a prohibited personnel practice, reprisal, when he threatened 
bJr7xci by reminding him that he was on probation and when he gave l(b)(YJ(q 

a letter of counseling. llbl(7 i{c) I mention of probation in the context in ..... w..,..h..,...ic..,..h.....,i=-t _w_as___. 
made amounted to a threat to demote (bJ(7){c) Both the threat and the counseling 
letter were in res nse to <bJ(?){C) refusal to award a second sole-source task order 
to ISS. Cb)i?Jtc) who instructed l•b)!7irci Ito make the award, made the threat and 
issued the counselin letter even thou b that time he knew his instruction was 
unlawful. \bl<7)\Cl twice advised {bK7l\Cl tha~ issuing a s~le-source follow-on 
task order in this instance violated the FAR, and rbh?)(C) J though be initially 
believed a sole-source follow-on was appropriate, promptly sought clarification of the 
issue and then advisedl1bl!7Hci I he would have to seek approval to deviate from the 
FAR before proceeding with the seoond sole-source action. 

Additionally, l\bJ(7HCI I instruction to l(bJ(?)(c) lto award the sole-source task 
order constituted an attempt to usurp the authority given to a contracting officer under the 
FAR. 

Recommended Aetion(s) 1. We recommend that the Deputy Assistant Secretary for 
Acquisition and Materiel Management ensure that appropriate administrative action is 
taken against l'bll7HCJ I for engaging in a prohibited personnel practice against 
l<bH7HCi I and for attempting to usurp pH71<CJ I authority as a contracting 
officer. 

The Deputy Assistant Secretary concurred with the recommendation. (See Appendix A.) 
We will follow up to ensure that the recommended action is taken. 
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Issue 2; Whether rb)(?)!C) I 
reprised against a contractor employee when they requested 
her removal 

Findings 

We did not substantiate that l16117"c> I reprised against 
jtb)l?Jcc; lwhen they asked that she be removed from VA•s contract with the company 
that employed her, j<b)(7){c1 I Federal law prohibits 
employees who have authority to take personnel actions from reprisin a ainst other 
employees or applicants for employment [S USC §2302(bX8)]. (bJ<7l<C> is a 
contractor employee and is not protected under this statute. AdditionaJly, whistleblower 
protections afforded to contractor employees under the FAR do not app1y in this situation 
because the FAR protects contractor employees from reprisal by their own employers, 
but not by a Federal mana2er [FAR Part 3.9]. Nevertheless, we found thatl '--1b_)(7_i,c_> __ ___, 
(bJ\

7HCJ I did not have a well·documented basis for their actions. 
(b)\7)(Cl I also misrepresented to us that they did not ask for 
<bJ{7)(c> I removal from the contract. On other matters, we substantiated that 
(bli

7
HCl I inappropriately changed l(b)Fl(CJ I work schedule and inappropriately 

questioned l<bJ(7 l\Cl !about his contact with the OJG. 

The contract between VA and (b)i?J(C) provides that personnel assigned byl(bJ(i)/c) Ito 
perfonn work under the contract must be acceptable to VA "in tenns of personal and 
professional conduct and technical knowled e." The contract allows the VA contracting 
officer to request, at any time, that a fblt7HcJ employee be immediately removed from the 
assignment if it conflicts with the interests of VA or if the employee's perfonnance is 
deerned unsatisfactory. 

VA contracted withj!bll.?lCCl !among other companies, to provide the Office of Acquisition 
and Materiel Management administrative and acquisition support. On '--l(b_l<7_i1_c1 ___ ..... 

l(b)\1lCCi I the contracting officer for these support contracts, requested that each company 
designate one of its employees os its senior representative and single point of contact, 
responsible for monitoring all its other employees supporting VA. On July 7, '-l\b_J<7_)(C_l_-..A 

Senior Business Developer, j(b)c7J<ci I nominated l(blmic) I for the osition and 
on July 17 l!b!(7)\C) I approved an increase in contract funds so (b)\?J(CJ could be 
given an increase in salary to compensate for her additional res,e.onsibi1ities, 
f.bJ(7xci assignments at the time of our invcsti ion were in support off.__fb_H7_Hc_i __ ~ 
(b)( )(CJ 
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....,..<b....,){ ,,...lc.,,..ci _______________ ___. requested
1 

without justi.fu:ation, that 
<bK

7
icci be remavedfrom YRCPs VA contract ..___ __ __. 

,.;:.,:,,;,.;,..;:.::a::::.:....:...?...=:...i-==-=;---' request, J<bl(7Hci lmet with 
L:------~~-:---...,told us that at this meeting the three VA officials re nested that 
he remove (bl< from the VA contract. He said {bJC7KcJ 

L...,...-----,---.,...-,-,~.,..,..,.,.--~ 
specificaJly requested her removal. and that he was "absolutely certain" Cb)(. l<-! 
concurred with their request because he l(bj(?J(C) I was party to everypart '---o-f_th_e__. 
conversation. According to l'bl<7J(CJ !that conversation included discussing that be 
would call FbH7l(CJ I to his office the next day, infonn her she would not be returning 
to VA, and collect her VA identification badge. l(b)(7){CJ I said he shared with 
(bJ1

71<c1 the resume of a potential replacement for 
ibl(7Hc1 and that the three VA officials discussed among themselves how they would 
re 1stri ute her workload. 

,__ __ __,told us \blc7HCJ cited three performance issues 
as reasons for wanting ( ><· cci removed. The first was that there had been hearsay 
that l<bl!T){c) I was previousJy transferred from her first VA assignment because she 
could not get along with others. The second issue was that l<bJl7 j(Cl I had not 
perf onned successfully on certain training contracts she was assigned and was 
uncooperative when those contract files were reassigned to another person. The third 
performance issue was that l(bJC7)<CJ I as the newly appointed senior l'bH7 l<CJ 

representative~ was being disruptive lb~7hgring (bJ(l)(C) staff meetings without permission 
from VA managers and inviting non~< J( 1 employees. 

Regarding l(bJ1
7:cc! . I departure fr~m her first VA as~ignment: supporting the Veter8nS 

Benefits Adm1mstratmn VBA), (b)t?hCJ theLl<b-::-l.7-:l<_ci-;;;::;:;;;:;·~=-=::::;-~----:--:--"""' 
l(b){7 J(C) !whom 1 x ( l supporte at e time, told us !<bl<7l<CJ I was 1eassigned 
after a complaint that she was difficult to work with, 11bJ{7)(CJ I said the incident th11t 
prompted the complaint concerned a written justification for a contracting requiremen~ 
which was improperly prepared by the VBA program office. l<bH7J(C) !told us he 
reviewed the justification document and discovered that required elements were missing. 
Because it was the program office's responsibility to prepare the justification document, 
he told l<bl!7 l<c1 Jto work with them to correct it. Accord2ng tol<bk7 i<c) !program 
office staff resisted l(bl\7

l!C) I efforts to work with them to make corrections. He said 
the program office was not correcting the document to his satisfaction, and ._l\b_Ja_i\c_1 __ __, 

was cau t in the middle. libj(?)(Cl !told us program office officials advised him they 
wanted <b)l7J<Cl transferred out of VBA, so he arranged the transfer to 1-l(b_W_icc_) __ __. 

said ibJC7){ci had done nothing to warrant her removal from VBA, and 
~=-.... told us he had gotten positive feedback fro ibJt7 )1.c1 egarding._l\b-J(7_Hc_> __ ___. 

pe ormance. <bl{7)(C) told us they never talked to 
l(t){ncci l about (bJi7 ~,c) before meeting with l(b)(7j(c) I and did not know the 
specifics of what prompted VBA to seek her transfer. 
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Regarding l{bJ(ll{CJ I work on training contracts, contracts for the Acquisition 
Training and Career Deve1opment (A TCD) Division in the Office of Acquisition were 
initially ·assigned to l(b)(7icci lteam but then reassigned to l1bJ(7HCl I team. j.:bH7J-:CJ 

told us that when the contracts were transferred from his team, l1bJ<7HCJ I was._as_s-ig_n_ed _ __. 
responsibility for them. j(5J171iC) I sajd he had a good working relationship with the 
ATCD Chief, but after the contracts were assigned to l(blt

7)\CJ I the Chief began 
complaining to him about receiving poor service. On one occasion, the Chief complained 
about problems issuing contracts with hotels, and asked l(bJ(?){Cl I to look into the matter. 
A Jwie 27, 2006, electronic mail message from the Chief documents that one issue he 
was u set about was that the contracting staff required the hotel contracts be competed. 
(b){

7
J(Ct told us he took it upon himself to conduct an "unofficial" inquiry into the 

Chief's complaints and found that M.s. Roberts had not accomplished any work on those 
contracts. 

As a result of his findings, l!b)(7 l<C1 I said he suggested to jtb){?)(C) land l._(b_H7_lc_cl ___ _. 

that the contracts be reassi ned back to his team. l(bH7)(C) I said when the contracts were 
transfetTed back, \blc7){cJ refused to cooperate with his staff. For example,l._1b_)(7_)fc_1 __ ...... 
said that whenever anyone from his team called jlb1!7J(CJ I to ask a question about a 
contract, her standard answer was, "it's in the file." He said as a result of her refusal to 
cooperate, and because of a lack of documentation in the contracting fiJes, his team had 
to start from the beginning on all contract actions and redo aJl the paperwork. 

(bi(7)(C) told us he learned about the problems with the tr-dining contracts indirectly 
through {bl<7i:ci told us that, although the Chief complained to him 
informally, he did not know the specifics of what the problems were. 

(bJ<7Hc) told us she never received a complaint against 1ibJ!7Hc) I for any work 
.___ __ ___,did on the training contracts and that she was very happy with l1bl<

7
Hci I 

perfonnance. She said if there was a =blem transferring the files back tol<bH7
l(C) I then 

it wa~ also her fault because she and E7~c) I worked together. j\bl<7l\Cl I denied 
that site was uncooperative during the transfer of the contracts. Both l1bJ(7 liC) land 

l<bJ(7XCl !told us they beJieved the ATCD Chiefs complaints stemmed from 
. _ insistence that the regulations be followed. On July 20. f ....... b_Ji

7
_)(c_

1 __ ____, 

submitted tol(b!C7HCl la summary of problems she was experiencing 
with A TCD, including that they submitted contract requests at the last minute and 
without adequate supporting documentation, and that they resisted following FAR 
requirements and guidelines of the Government Accountability Office, 

Regarding the third rfonnance issue,l1bJ(7)\Cl I told us that shortly after J<bl\
7

KCl 

became the senior tblt7
)(CJ representative, she initiated staff meetings with I land non· \blC7l\Cl 

tbl(7J(C) employees without first coordinating with the VA managers. He said one non~ 
,__ _ _.employee who was assisting him was pulled away from a priority project and told 

to r rt to a dfffcrent building for one of the meetings. He said when he tried contacting 
to ask why she had invited that employee, she did not returo his telephone 
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messages. We note1 however, that (b){
11

' told us he tried contacting (b)C7l(CJ only 
hours before e lained to ;b)(

7 )icJ about her non-responsiveness. {bl<7 xc) also 
\b)(7J\Cl sai~ that (b)t

7
J(Cl did contact t e non employee that morning to explain why 

he was invited. (bH7i1c) told us they had no .first .. hand knowledge 
that l1bH

7
>!CJ I was inappropriately convening staff meetings. 

l<bl<7
){cJ I said she held two staff meetings after she became the senior j<bl(

7
)(ci 

representative. She said both meetin s lasted fess than 30 minutes and were used to 
allow her to "meet and greet" the <bJ\7HCJ employees working on site, and to take care of 
certain administrative activities such as passin out application forms so the employees 
couJd obtain VA identification badges. \b)(?)(cJ told us she mistakenly believed one 
individual was a lcb)\7l{CJ Jemployee. and invited that person to the meetings. That 
individual was actually an empJoyee of another VA contractor. In explaining this error, 

l<bH7l<CJ !told us he had several conversations withl1
bl(

7
)ICJ I after she was appointed 

as the senior representative and. during these conversations, he mistakenJy referred to a 
new tb)t?J(C\ mp(oyee by an incorrect first name. a name that was the same as the non-

ibl(7llCl employeeFb)(7 J{C) I invited to the staff meetings. (bl\7 Jcc; said she thought 
the person she invited to the meetin was the same person {b)\?J(Cl referred to during 
their earlier conversations. <bH7i1ci also told us he was the one who asked 

libJt7 KCl I as senior representative, to convene meetings for the l:b)(7){CJ lempJoyees 
supporting VA. 

According to botli l1bH7J<CI I and l(bl\7 lCCl I they only asked !tbJ\7 liC) I to remove 
l1.blC7)\CJ I as the senior represen._ta._u-·v_e_;_th _ __,.said they did not ask for her complete 
removal from the contract. However, !bH itci confinned that he, l\b)(?)\CJ J and 

jl':•Hl)(C) I asked {b){ )(C) to remove rb~t7 ){C) I from the VA contract and place 
her on another 1 h iC) contract. 

J._1.b_l(7_Hc_1 _ ___.~ance/ed ! .... {b_ia_)(c_i __ ~lcompressed work schedule. 

The Statement of Work for VA's contract with {b)(l)IC) states that the services rb)(?){C) 

provides will be conducted consistent with the core working hours of tlie sponsoring 
Office of Acquisition and Materiel Management organization. AOS permits its 
employees to work compressed work schedules. 

rb)(7)(C) I told us she )earned in mid-July that fbl(
7

){C) I cancelled her compressed 
work schedule. She said she asked 1·:bl<7i:ci I to reconsider. but he told her he needed 
someone in the office at alt times. According to l< 6H7Hci I he mentioned to 
f1b){7Hc1 Ith.at he noticed from the time cards that l(bl\7Hci I was working 9-hour 
days and suggested l(bJ(?){CJ I look into the matter because he thought contracto1 
employees were supposed to work s .. hour days. He told us the reason AOS used 
contractors was to ensure daily coverage in the office. l<bH7J·:ci I said it was his 
understanding that contractor employees could work a compressed work schedule but 

libH7HCJ jdirected him to changel(b)l?J(C) !schedule to an 8-hour day. 
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rb)(
7

)(C) I inappropriately questione~(b)(7)(C) I abuut an OJG interview. 

During our investigation. l(bl\ 7l(C) I questioned l(b)FJ(GJ I aboutl1bH7l1CJ I meeting with 
an OIG investigator. On the night of August 16, following our interview with.._l(b_Ja_Hc_i_~ 
that day,l<bH7K6J lsent l(b)(7)(CJ I an electronic mail messa e, chastising him for not 
letting him know that he met with the OIG that-day. (bl(7)(CJ said be learned of the 
interview through a third party. l(bJ(7)(CJ I asked (bl( >< J "What is going on?" and 
why he met with us. He told l\bJ(7l!Cl I he was relieving him of his role as acting l(bl<7Hci 

fbJC7Jlci I for that week. 

lained to (b)(. ll 1 

b)(7)(CJ confirmed this and said l._'b-)(7_J,c_i __ ~ 

suggested (b)( l< 1 s retaliating against him. However H Jt 1 told us that after 
he spoke with (bJ{?)iCl he met with l(b\!7i1ci I and said (b)( J<c1 was a olo etic for 
having sent the electronic message and reinstated him a lbJ( 11 ' 

L...-~-~~~--~-' 

l(bJ(7)(C) I told us he was following policy implemented by his predecessor when he 
quesdonedl\bJc7i\c1 !about his meeting with the OIG. He provide.d us a February 16, 
2005, electronic mail message written by the then acting AOS Director, in which she 
directed AOS staff to personally infonn her of an contact with OIG and to brief her 
before speaking with any OIG staff regarding AOS acquisition issues. ._l<b_Jt

7
_)(C_J __ ~ 

subsequently rescinded that policy. 

Conclusion 

While we did not substantiate that (bJ("I' < 1 reprised 
againstl(blC71\CJ I they did not have a sufficient basis to request that emove her 
from the VA contract to which she was assigned. They did not sufficiently investigate 
the circumstances surrounding the incidents they cited as reasons for wanting her 
removal Regarding her performance in VBA, the contracting specialist she supported 
there told us l\b)(7l\C> I was followin hjs instructions and had done nothing to warrant 
her removal. However, (b)(IJ(1,,J told us the did not talk 
to that contracting specia ist before raising the incident withL(b_H7

_11_i _ __,.,,..,...,,.,.,,,...,_---.----,,.--' 

perfonnance on the training contracts was not roblematic, according to \b)( ) ci and 
the complaints the A TCD Chief made to (bl.:

7HC> may have been more in res onse to the 
contracting staff's insistence on following FAR re uirements than on (bH xcl 

progress in servicing the Chiefs needs. Neither (bJ\71\Cl nor 1 i( HCJ had u'St-
hand knowledge of the details of the disagreements. Fina1ly, ( )\. l< ' staff meetings 
appear reasonable in light of her new additional responsibility for monitoring other 
contract employees supporting VA. Her explanation for the invitation she gave to a non-

l(bJ(txci !employee to attend the meetings supports the conclusion that it was an honest 
mistake. A oin, she was foUowin instructions (from r)UJiCl Jwhen she convened the 
meetings. (b)(1J(CJ and (b)(7 Jcc1 misrepresented to us that they did not request 
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l(bJ<?)(Cl I removal from the VA contract when they testified that they requested only 
that she be removed as 1·:b)17i.:ci I senior representative. 

l<bJ(?){C) I inappropriately changedl(b)(7)\CJ lwork schedule from 9-hour to 8-hour 
days, even though the 9-hour day was consistent with the schedule of AOS employees 
and therefore in compliance with thel(bll7)<CJ ~ontract. Finally,l<bJ(7 \(c) I inappropriately 
questionedl<bl(?){c) !about his contact with the OlG. That situation was quickly resolved. 

Issue 3: Whether ..... l(
6

)(_
11

_<c
1 
___ lmade false statements to OIG 

i nvesttgators 

Findings 

Federal regulations require VA employees to furnish information and testify "freely and 
honestly" in cases respecting employment and discip1inary matters [38 C.F.R. §0.735-
12(b)]. 

While under oath on August 2, 2006, lcbJUJ!Cl I made false statements to 010 
investigators concerning his activities and conversations on June 2, 2006, involving the 
second procurement from ISS. for example. on several occasions during the interview. 

!tblt
7

J\Cl I denied that,. from the time he realized a follow-on contract was neededt he 
intended to award it so}e .. source to ISS, and he denied that he directedj<bH7JfCJ I to 
award the second sole-source contract - or any contract - to ISS. Because several 
witnesses contradicted his testimony, we repeatedly questioned l1bl\?kcl I on these 
points. He was steadfast in his denial. He derued that he ever implied or told anyone ISS 
was going to be awarded the second contract, that he understood ISS needed to be 
awarded that contract, and that he mandated or influenced the contract going to ISS. 
Finally, he denied that he and l(b)(7J(CJ I disagreed about whether or not the 
procurement should be sole~sourced. 

provided sworn testimony contradicting 
1,..,,b--K"""J("""ci---..-:d:-en-i-:-a-=-1s-. -Th=-e-y-to-=-ld-:--us---:th:-c-y-h:-e-ar-d-=-·1.#.-<b=Jr7,.,.,.Kc""'")---.ldirect!<bJt7J{C) I to award 

c second sole·source contract to ISS on several occasions during the June 2 meeting. 
l1bJi7HCl I documented this in the minutes of that meeting and testified that 
1'-bl(?l\CJ I on several more occasions after the meeting, directed him to sign the sote-
source contract with ISS. Additionally, jibH71rq I testimony contradicted 
!tb)(7llCJ I assertion that it had not been his intent ftom the beginning to award the 
second contract to ISS. According tofbl(7Hc1 I twice told him senior VA 
officials did not want the second contract competed. 

Documentary evidence also shows that (bHrJ(C) directed rb)(?){C) Ito award a 
second sole-source contract to ISS and that <bJ(?)(C) intentions were to ensure that 
ISS was awarded the second contract. On the afternoon of June 2, fblt7)(CJ !sent an 
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electronic mail message to l1blc
7
Hci I directing him to prepare a "sole-source" 

justification, a deviation to the FAR, and a task order. Additionally,l<bl{7
l<C) I letter 

of counseling tol<b)(1xci I discussed above, stated that l<b><7l(Cl I .. refused verbal 
instruction from me to be the Contracting Officer."' Finally, in l(b)(7JtcJ I account of 
the Jlllle 2 meeting, he stated that l<bJ(7!<CJ l"was specifically required to make an 
urgent and compelling. award .... Awarding to another contractor would have delayed 
VA 's efforts in continuing the forensic analysis of this sensitive veteran infonnation." 

During our second interview with rb)t7)(C) I he told us that during the August 2 
interview he had been under a great deal of stress as a result of the data loss incident and 
had simply forgotten that he directed l<blt7Hq I to award the second soJe .. source 
contract or that he always intended to award ISS the second contract 

l'bl17J(CJ l also gove false testimony regardinl? whether he threatened l._<b_J\
7_K_c) ___ __. 

probationary status. Both times we interviewed~bJ{tJ{C> lhe testified he did not make 
any statement to l(bJ{7

JcC) I regarding his probation. However, as discussed above, 
two AOS program anftlysts testified they overheard j<1:1ir7l<CJ I make such a comment. 

,:.,.A.:;s;....:a;.,.=:fi=nal~e:::!x~~l;:::;e11...'b-H_1_<c_) ----'~~u...i~......,...._..........,he was told th..,.e~<b~J(7~){-c)-....,.--;-::----
(b><7 (C) did not want 1bJ<7J1ci working 

e secon contract action. ibJ(7 l J said that.!' during the June 2 meeting, he ~d 
disagreed on what procurement strategy to use and that jlbl<7l1Ci I was 

-------=--.-:---' 
oud and disres ectfuJ. (b){?){CJ said the meeting was interrupted by the VA Secretary 

and blC7HCJ and that c ore they entered the room, while standing outside the door, 
they overheard <bJ(7 l<CJ comments. According toFb)(IJ(CJ I after the Secretary 
and cbH7l(Cl entered the office, the meeting ended and everyone departed, but he was 
asked to remain. He said l1bH7J{Cl I then commented to him that he was u et over 
l'b)(?J(C) I lack of support. (b)(?J(CJ said the !bJa)(c) 

.'-::-:---..'!"!"!l.'~;;_:;;;_;.;;.;;.;;;.-t..,.-~~-~-:--.--"'.:--~-::-:-~--;~---' 

1 H7J1 l Jater told him :bl(?)\C) also complained to him about 

"-------' 
saying he did not want 1-:blUHCJ !working on the foUow-on acquisition. 

1...---~=.-1. _,to ... Id-...-u~he did not recall ever saying anything toj1bH7
JtC) I or to .... rb_lr7_l1_c1 __ ..... 

about tbl<
7Hc, According to j<bJ.;71ic) !expressed his .frustration and 

concern that the first contract would expire and the analysis work would stop, but said 
fbH?J{CJ lnever mentioned anythin about (bJ<IJ(CJ also denied ever 
making any remarks about \blC7Hc1 to ibH7iici or in any way directing or 
su~esting to l<b){I)(C) !that he replace (b1t7icci In a follow~up interview with us. 

l(~li7Jn I did not change his testimony even though we told him bothl(b)fl)(CJ I and 
l\bl(?J\CJ I testimony contradicted his own. 

Conclusion 

l(bJ(i){CJ ldid not testify honest! during our interview with him. He falsely testified 
that he did not direct lbll7!CCl to award a second sole--source contract to ISS; did not 
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intend that ISS would be awarded the second contract; did not remind (b)\?)(CJ that 
he was stilJ on probation; and was told by l(bHll\CJ !that \bJ(7J<C) did not want 

l(bJ(~)(CJ !involved in the second contract action. Because the events in question were 
re atively recent and directly involved (bj( 11 i we do not find credible his explanation 
that he forgot his instruction to (b)(

7 )ici and forgot his intentions regarding the ISS 
follow-on contract. Regarding >< 

1 J other false statements, we find the testimony 
of the other witnesses we interviewed to be more objective and believabJe. 

Recommeoded Actioo(s) 2. We recommend that the Deputy Assistant Secretary for 
Acquisition and Materie1 Management ensure that appropriate administrative action is 
taken against l16li7J(CJ I for making false statements to OIG investigators concerning 
m0tters relating to his employment. 

The Deputy Assistant Secretary concurred with the recommendation. (See Appendix A.) 
We will follow up to ensure that the recommended action is taken. 
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Deputy Assistant Secretary Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: March 8, 2007 

Memorandum 

From: Deputy Assistant Secretary for Acquisition and 1f.ateriel 
Management (049) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation .. Reprisal and False 
Statements, Acquisition Operations Service, VA 
Central Office 

To: Office of the Inspector General 

We have reviewed the subject report. and our responses to the 
recommendations for the Office of Acquisition and Materiel 
Management are attached. We concur with the 
recommendations, 

SIGNED 

Jan R. Frye 

Attachment 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Deputy Assistant Secretary's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The foliowing Deputy Assistant Secretary~s comment~ are 
submitted in response to the recommendation(s) in the Office 
of Inspector General's Report: 

QIG Reeommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the 
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Acquisition and Materiel 
Management e~ure that appropriate administrative action is 
taken against ibH7Hci for en a ing in a prohibited 
personnel practice a a.inst {bl<7J(CJ and for attempting to 
usurp (bH7JICl authority as a contracting officer. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 03/30/2007 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the 
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Acquisition and Materiel 
Management ensure that appropriate administrative action is 
taken againstl(b){,)(Cl I for making false statements to OIG 
investigators concerning matters relating to his employment 

Concur Target Completion Date: 03/30/2007 
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AppendlxB 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact Judy sheny, ...... r_K?-)(C-) __ __. 

Acknowledgments Charles Millard 
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VA DJstrlbyt(2n 

Deputy Secretary (00 l) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
General Counsel (02) 

Report Distribution 

Assistant Secretary for Management (004) 
Assistant Secretary for Infonnation and Technology (005) 
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Acquisition and Materiel Management (049) 

AppendixC 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 

Office of Inspector General 
Washington DC 20420 

March 28, 2007 

The Office of Inspector General issued the enclosed report - Administrative 
1nvestigation ~ Improper Payments to Physicians VA Medical Center1 

Tampa, Florida (Report No. 06-00089-107} on March 28, 2007. 

This unredacted report is being distributed to you for your information only. The 
information contained in the report is subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act 
of 1974 (5 U.S.C.§552a). Such information may be disclosed only as authorized 
by this statute. Questions concerning the release of this report should be 
coordinated with the Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Inspector General. 
The contents of this report mus1 be safeguarded from unauthorized disclosure 
and may be shared within the Department of Veterans Affairs on a need-to-know 
basis only. 

We are providing an unredacted copy for your information only. 

Enclosure 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO; Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 8 (I ON8) 
Regional Cowisel, Bay Pines, FL (516/02) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation - Improper Payments to Physicians, VA 
Medical Center, Tampa, FL (2006-00089-IQ-0016) 

Summary 

We substantiated that management at the VA Medical Center in Tampa, FL, which 
includes the Orlando HeaJthcare Center and the Brevard Outpatient Clinic, improperly 
gave certain full-time physicians cash awards totaling $362,800 between January 2005 
and January 2006 for working extended hours and weekends. Following the Tampa 
Medical Center Director's request for guidance on the propriety of this practice, a staff 
attorney in the Bay Pines Office of Regional Counsel advised him to continue giving the 
awards until the Office of RegionaJ Counsel could render a decision but, due to 
miscornrnunications within that office, no one followed up to give the Director definitive 
advice. Even after the Bay Pines Regional CoWlsel advised the Orlando Chief of Staff 
that such awards were not authorized, the Chief of Staff chose to continue the practice. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General, Administrative Investigations Division, investigated 
an allegation that full-time physicians at the VA Medical Center in Tampa, FL, including 
at the Orlando Healthcare Center and the Brevard Outpatient Clinic, improperly received 
cash awards for working evenings and Saturday clinics. The Orlando Healthcare Center 
was converting to an independent medical center at the time of our investigation. We 
investigated but did not substantiate another related allegation, and do not discuss it 
further. 

To assess the allegation, we visited the VA Medical Center in Tampa to interview the 
Medical Center Director, former Chief of Staff, and Chief of Human Resources; and 
visited the Office of Regional ColUlsel in Bay Pines, FL, to interview the Regional 
Counsel and a staff attorney. We also conducted telephone interviews with other VA 
employees, including the Orlando Healthcare Center's Chief of Staff and the former 
Tampa Medical Center Acting Director. We examined documentation of awards given to 
physicians between January 2005 and January 2006, relevant electronic mail and other 
correspondence, and VA policies. 
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Results 

Issue: Whether physicians at the Tampa VA Medical Center Improperly received 
cash awards 

VA policy prohibits paying full-time physicians an extra amount (in addition to their 
regular alUlual rate) for duty on legal holidays, Saturdays, Sundays, at night, and overtime 
because they are employed on the basis of availability for duty 24 hours a day, 7 days a 
week [VA Handbook 5007, Part V, Chapter 2, paragraph 2a]. Further. VA policy does 
not authorize the use of cash awards as an incentive to encourage employees to work a 
particular shift [VA Handbook 5017, Part III, Appendix B j. 

According to the former Acting Director of the Tampa Medical Center, some time in 
2004 the facility began asking physicians in certain specialties to w9rk extended evening 
and Saturday clinics to help reduce a patient backlog that had recently worsened. 
Management compensated these physicians on a biweekly basis for the extra time they 
spent at the facility by giving them cash awards. Each award amount was calculated 
based on the number of hours the physician worked and the physician's hourly rate of 
pay. For example, radiologists received $150 for each hour they worked in the extended­
hours clinic. The former Acting Director told us that the awards were the only 
mechanism the faci1ity had for compensating the full-time physicians. The Human 
Resources Chief told us she did not consider this practice improper as long as the awards 
were based on hours worked and rates of pay, and noted that giving such awards was a 
conunon practice throughout VA. 

According to documentation of physicians' awards, between January 2005 and January 
2006, 35 full-time physicians employed by the Tampa Medical Center, including the 
Orlando Healthcare Center and the Brevard Outpatient Clinic, received awards totaling 
over S362,800. Over half these physicians received $6,500 or more, and 5 of them 
received over $18,000. One physician, a radiologist at the Tampa Medical Center, 
received over $72,500. The physicians' supervisors recommended the awards and the 
fonner Chief of Staff in Tampa or the Chief of Staff in Orlando, the Human Resources 
Chief or a Human Resources Specialist, and the Deputy Director or Director concurred. 

In late October 2005, the Medical Center Director, Mr. Forest Farley, learned that the 
Regional Counsel in Decatur, GA, advised the Director of the VA Medical Center there 
that the practice of using the incentive awards program to compensate physicians for 
volunteering to work beyond their tours of duty to reduce a backlog of new patients was 
contrary to Federal pay regulations governing physicians. The Regional Counsel in 
Decatur noted that the Office of General Counsel and the Compensation and 
Classification Service in VA Central Office concurred with his assessment. He suggested 
to the Decatur Medical Center Director that, as an alternative to receiving awards based 
on hours worked, physicians could be given performance pay under the new physician 
pay plan based on the results their extra work accomplished. 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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As a result of the Regional Counsel's advice to the Decatur Medical Center, the Tampa 
Chief of Staff issued. an October 24, 2005, memorandum to all clinical service and 
section chiefs discontinuing the physician awards, and Mr, Farley sought guidance from 
the Regional Counsel's Office in Bay Pines, FL. In an October 27, 2005, electronic mail 
message, l(bl<7)cc\ I a staff attorney in Bay Pines advised Mr. Farley to continue 
the practice until his office could obtain additional facts and render a decision. Based on 
this guidance, the Chief of Staff then issued another memorandum reinstating the 
physicians' awards. At the time of our review several months later, Mr. Farley told us he 
was still awaiting a decision from the Office of Regional Counsel on the matter. 

Also in 1ate October 2005, < )( J< l 
fblC7){CJ I learned o._f"""t_,.h-e-:De~c-a-tur_R __ e_g....,i-on_a...,.l_C __ o_un_s-,el:-.-' s-a...,.dv-:i,-ce-to-th=-e--=D-e-ca-tur-~ 

Medical Center Director and, independent of Mr. Farley•s request for guidance, contacted 
the Bay Pines Region~l Counsel for advice on the appropriateness of the Orlando 
facility's practice of giving awards to physicians. In a November 25;. 2005, electronic 
mail message, the Bay Pines Regional Counsel responded, advising l(b)i J(C) !that "the 
specific incentive and special pay salary enhancements based upon hours of work that 
your faciJity may currently be utilizing is not authorized by law or regulation .... " Like 
the Decatur Regional Counsel, the Bay Pines Regional Counsel suggested that, under the 
new physician pay plan, physicians could be given performance pay in a lump-sum 
amount at the end of the fiscal year1 tied to che accomplishment of goals. (The new 
physician pay plan limits performance pay to $15,000 a year.) The Regional Counsel 
also suggested that physicians could be given special contribution awards as long as they 
were not based on hours worked. l(b){7

J(C) ltold us that, after receiving the Regional 
Counsel's advice. he learned from someone in Mr. Farley's office thatFb)(?)(C) I told 
Mr. Farley to continue the practice pending more derailed investigation. He said based 
on that. and oa advice from staff in Orlando, he decided to continue giving physicians 
awards as he had in the past. 

Both the Bay Pines Regiona1 Counsel and l{bli 7HCJ I told us they were aware that 
Cbl\71cc) and Mr. Farley ·had discussed this issue, but said they did not share the 

egional Counsel's November legal advice with them. l<bli7 )<C> I told us he did not 
share the legal advice with Mr. Farley because he believed that was Regional Counsel's 
responsibility. The Regional CoWlsel told us she was not aware there was an official 
request for legal advice from Tampa, noting that facility never provided her office 
particular facts. She said she was not aware thatl(b)(?)(Cl !told Mr. Farley to continue 
the practice of giving physicians awards, and was not aware Mr. Farley was awaiting a 
response from her office. ~b)(?JtC) I told us that in October 2005 he received a copy of an 
electronic mait message from the Regional Counsel to l1t>l(?JicJ I assumed she was 
handling the requests for advice from both Mr. Farley and j\bl<?HCJ land took no 
further action. 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 
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Conclusion 

Tampa Medical Center managers improperly approved giving certain full-[ime physicians 
at the Tampa Medical Center, including the Orlando Healthcare Center and the Brevard 
Outpatient CHnic, awards totaling over $362,800 for workin evening and Saturday 
clinics to reduce patient backlogs. When Mr . .Farley and (bJC 1 l learned this practice 
could be improper, they separately sought advice from the Office of Regional Counsel in 
Bay Pines. Due to miscommunication, l(bJ(?)(C) lwas advised VA had no authority to 
give the awards, but Mr. Farley was not so advised. According to Fb)<7){CJ I own 
testimony, he ignored the written opinion of the Re~ional Counsel, his senior legal 
advisor. Instead, he chose to rely on hearsay aboutl(b(7itci !advice and on advice 
from non.legal staff in Orlando, and continued providing awards ta physicians based on 
the extra hours they worked. The miscommunication between and among VA attorneys 
and facility managers was clearly deficient and should be improved. In particular, in 
light of the Decatur Regional Counsel's advice, jM<7Jtci !should not have advised 
Mr. Farley to continue awarding cash to physicians for working extra hours, and should 
have followed up to ensure Mr. Farley's request for advice was satisfied. 

Recommended Action:(s) t. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 8, ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken against 

j\bl(711ci !for improperly allowing physicians to be awarded cash based on the nwnber 
of hours they worked in excess of their normal duty hours, after he received advice from 
the senior legal advisor in the region not to do so. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 8, direct Mr. Farley to immediately cease paying physicians at a11 
facilities under his authority, including the Orlando-Healthcare Center, cash awards based 
on hours worked in excess of nonnal duty hours. 

Recommended Actton(s) 3. We recommend that the Bay Pines Regional Counsel 
take appropriate action against l(b;mcci I for advising the Tampa VA Medical Center 
Director to continue awarding cash to phy!iicians based on hours worked in excess of 
nonnal duty hours, and not following up to ensure the Director's request for advice was 
satisfied. 

Comments 

The Director. Veterans Integrated Service Network 8, agreed to take, and stated that he 
did take, appropriate administrative action against l(b)(7)!Cl I but he also noted that 
.severa1 advisors, including the Tampa Medical Center's Human Resources Officer, failed 
to either articulate clear direction or created confusion regarding recommending and 
approving the awards. Regarding the recommendation to immediately cease paying 
physicians cash awards ba."led on hours worked in excess of nonnal duty hours, the 
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Network Director concurred and stated that the Tampa Medical Center stopped the 
awards when the Network Director received the draft report, and that Orlando had 
already stopped the practice. The Director's comments were responsive to our 
recommendations and we consider both recommendations resolved. 

The Bay Pines Regional Counsel agreed to take, and stated that she did take, appropriate 
administrative action againstl<bl\7 l<C) I for not following up to ensure the Tampa Medical 
Center Director's request for advke was satisfied. We consider this part of the 
recommendation resolved. Re ional Counsel did not agree that administrative action 
should be taken against .:bil7HCl for advising the Tampa Director to continue awarding 
cash to physicians based on hours worked in excess of normal duty hours. She stated that 
the facts, issues, and applicable law were being developed so that a proper response could 
be provided. We disagree thatl1bHiHCJ ladvice was appropriate. He was aware that an 
attorney at another regional counsel's office had advised that VA could not give incentive 
awards to physicians for volunteering to work beyond their tour of duty to reduce patient 
backlogs. We do not find it plausible that the particular facts of the two cases would be 
so different that they would change Ft>H?l{CJ I preliminary advice to the Tampa 
Director. We are issuing our final report with this part of the recommendation 
unresolved. 

The Network Director's comments and the Regional Counsel's comments are in 
Appendix A. 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Appendix A 

Director Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: February 16, 2007 

Memorandum 

From: Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 8 (10N8) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Improper Payments to 
Physicians, VA Medical Center, Tampa, FL 

To: James J. O'Neill, Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations 

I have recently reviewed my November 13, 2006 response to 
you. While I stand by my original explanation, I have 
amended my original response from non-concurrence to 
concur. 

(original signed by:) 

George H. Gray, Jr. 

VA Office of Inspector General 6 
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Director's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) l. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 8, ensure that 
appropriate administrative action is taken against l._(b_J17_i(_c) __ __. 

for improperly allowing physicians to be awarded cash based 
on the number of hours they worked in excess of their normal 
duty hours, after he received advice from the senior legal 
advisor in the region not to do so. 

Concur, Jn Part Target Completion Date: Done 

There are several advisors, such as the Tampa HR Officer, 
that failed to either articulate clear direction or through their 
lack of aggressive involvement created further confusion 
regarding recommending and approving the awards. In spite 
of these breakdowns I have taken the initiative to orally 
counsel 1Cb)\7)(C) I regarding your findings and your 
conclusions of improprieties. 

Recommended Aetion(s) 2. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 8, direct 
Mr. Farley to immediately cease paying physicians at all 
facilities under his authority, including the Orlando 
Healthcare Center, cash awards based on hours worked in 
excess of nonnal duty hours. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 10/16/06 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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Upon receipt of the draft OIG report, the Directors of Tampa 
and Orlando were directed to immediately cease paying 
physicians cash awards based on hours worked in excess of 
nonna1 duty hours. Tampa stopped the practice on October 
16, 2006 and Orlando had stopped on May l l, 2006. 

VA Office of Inspector General a 
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Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: October 31, 2006 

From: Regional Counsel, Bay Pines, FL (516/02) 

Memorandum 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Improper Payments to 
Physicians, VA Medical Center, Tampa, FL 

To: Judy Shelly, Director of Investigations (51 Q), Office of 
Inspector General 

VA Office of Inspector General 9 
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Regional Counsel's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Regional Counsel's comments are submitted in 
response to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector 
General's Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend that the 
Bay Pines Regional Counsel take appropriate action against 

j(bJ<?)(CJ I for advising the Tampa VA Medical Center 
Director to continue awarding cash to physicians based on 
hours worked in excess of normal duty hours, and not 
following up to ensure the Director's request for adv1ce was 
satisfied. 

Concur, In Part Target Completion Date: 01/19/07 

Bay Pines Regional Counsel does not concur that action 
shoutct be taken against rb){?){C) I in relation to advising the 
Tampa V AMC to continue the award process status quo 
during such time as the facts, issues and applicable law were 
being developed in order to properly respond. 

Regional C01.msel does concur that action should be taken 
against l(bl(7 Hc1 I for not fo1lowing up to obtain any needed 
information or facts and to ensure the Director's request for 
advice was satisfied. A written admonishment has been given 
to l<b>f7 l(C) I regarding this failure. 

VA Office of lnspect0< General 10 



Adrrinistrative Investigation - Improper Payments to Physicians, VA Medical Center, Tampa, FL 

Appendix a 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact Judy Shelly, l.._rb_Jc
7
_)(_ci __ ____. 

Acknowledgments Kristinn Watkins 
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Appendix C 

Report Distribution 

VA Distribution 

Deputy Secretary (001) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat {00 l B) 
Under Secretary for Health ( 10) 
Principal Deputy Under Secretary for Health ( l QA) 
Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and Management (I ON) 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 8 (l ON8) 
Management Review Service ( 1 OBS) 
Regional Counsel, Bay Pines, FL (516/02) 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington DC 20420 

March 20, 2007 

"RES=t=Rl9'fEB REP9R"F" 

The Office of Inspector General issued the enclosed report - Administrative 
Investigation - Improper Recruitment Bonus VA Nebraska - Western Iowa 
Health Care System, Omaha, Nebraska (Report No. 06-01135-103) on March 
20, 2007. 

This unredacted report is being distributed to you for your rnfonnation only. The 
information contained in the report is subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act 
of 1974 (5 U.S.C.§552a). Such infonnation may be disclosed only as authorized 
by this statute. Questions concerning the release of this report should be 
coordinated with the Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Inspector General. 
The contents of this report must be safeguarded from unauthorized disclosure 
and may be shared within the Department of Veterans Affairs on a need-to-know 
basis only. 

We are providing an _unredacted copy for your information only. 

Enclosure 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, OC 20420 

• 
TO~ Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 23 ( l ON23) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation - Improper Recruitment Bonus, VA 
Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System, Omaha, NE (2006-01135-
lQ-0129) 

Summary 

We substantiated that the Director of the VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care 
System (NWIHCS) improperly approved a $12,834 recruitment bonus for an employee 
when the employee voluntarily transferred to NWIHCS. The facility's! ._<b-)(7_. l_(c_i ___ __, 

l\blC
7

)(CJ I recommended approval of the bonus, thereby failing to 
provide the Director appropriate policy advice. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General (OIG), Administrative Investigations Division, 
investigated an allegation that Mr. Albert Washko, NWIHCS Director, and L..lib_H_7 )_ic_i __ ___. 

l<bJ(?)(CJ I improperly approved a 
$12,834 bonus for an employee who accepted a downgrade co return to NWIHCS. We 
investigated but did not substantiate another related allegation and do not discuss it in this 
report. 

Prior torb)(?J(CJ lwas the IM<7 J(C) 

l\bH?i-:C) lror the former VISN 14, stationed in Lincoln, i-.;~·E=-. ---=-1n---;:;:;l\b::;::H:;o;;7J:;;;;(c;;:::1 =====;1-a-=ft_e_r__, 

VlSNs 13 and 14 merged and he was not selected as theLJfor the-combinedNetwork •.. \b)(?)(Cl 

l<b)l
7

l<CJ I was detailed to NWIHCS in Omaha. He was assigned responsibility for 
improving data accuracy and management for the purpose of im rovin decision-making 
at the facility, and reported directly to Mr. Washko. In lb)(?)ICJ was 
selected for a reassignment as thel<bJ(7

)(C) I in VISN 8, Bay Pines, FL. When he 
departed NWIHCS, Human Resources Management Service staff prepared a pos~it_io=n~--. 
description covering the dutief l<bJ(7 )<CJ I had performed, classified the position as aJibH?J\CJ 

l(b)(?J{CJ _and be an writing a vacancy announcement to advertise it 
Approximately 2 weeks after (b)(?)<C) reported to VISN 8, and before the Health 
Systems Specialist position was advertised, he asked to return to Nebraska due to an 
immediate family member's unforeseen serious medical condition. 



Administrative Investigation • Improper Recruitment Bonus, 
____________ V.;...A....;...;.;;.Nebraska-Westem Iowa Health C~re System. Omaha. Nebraska 

To assess the allegation, we interviewed Mr. Washko,l(b)l7JCCl I We 
reviewed documentation associated with l<bJO){C) I recruitment bonus, his personnel 
records, pertinent electronic mail messages, and applicable VA policy. 

Results 

Issue; Whether Mr. Peters Improperly recommended, and Mr. Washko tmproperly 
approved, a recruitment bonus 

In response tol<bH7
l(CJ I re uest to return to NWIHCS, \bH?ECJ advised him that he 

could fill the newly created lb)\?Jcc1 but that he would 
need to voluntarily accept a downgrade. According to 11bJ<7>1CJ I he was "more than 
willin to do that,, and in a May 26, 2005, e1ectronic mail message to Mr. Washko and 

..,.,,_,.,,..,.,.,.,.,..------"""s'"'""ta=t=ed=--"'h'"""e_w....,as requesting "a voluntary change to lower grade .. to 
... to support my personal desire to reJocate to the 

.......... ~-.---.......------...--=--=-~=--' 
e ras a- estem owa Health Care System to meet family needs." His change to lower 

grade in Omaha was effective June 12. 2005. In conjunction with his return to NWIHCS, 

r~J(
7 )<CJ j recommended, and Mr. Washko approved, a $12,834 recruitment bonus for 

_ _ In retum.l\blC7)\C) !agreed to complete 12 months of service at NWIHCS. 
Although the initiaJ documentation related to the bonus characterized it as a recruitment 
incentive, when we asked for that documentation, jcbli?J(CJ I told us he discovered it 
should have been a reJocation incentive, and he "corrected" the paperwork. 

VA policy assigns facility directors responsibility for the "fair, equitable, and fiscally 
responsible" administra~ion of recruitment and relocation bonuses, and for ensuring that 
the bonuses are determined in accordance with the recommending and approving criteria 
defined in the policy. The policy assigns Human Resources Management Officers 
responsibility for advising management on the provisions of the policy, providing 
technical advice, and ensuring the completeness of requests. The policy prohibits paying 
a recruitment bonus to individuals who are already Federal employees. The policy in 
effect at the timel{bK'tl\CJ !requested to return to NWIHCS required that, in order for an 
employee to be paid a recruitment or relocation bonus, the approving official must 
detennine that without the bonus, "it would not be possible to fill the position with a high 
quality candidate." Current policy states that the approving official must detennine that 

. without the incentive "it would be difficult to fill the position with a high qua1ity 
candidate." Both policies require the approving official to document that, in determining 
if an incentive should be authorized, he or she considered factors such as: (l) turnover 
and pa.st success in filling similar positions; (2) differences between Federal and 
community pay for the position; (3) the work environment or location; (4) unique 
qualifications relevant to the position; and (5) labor market factors. Finally, the policies 
require that the amount of the bonus be reasonably correlated to the difficulty 
experienced in obtaining a high quality candidate. [VA Handbook 5007, Part VI, Chapter 
2, April 15, 2002 and October 13, 2005] 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Recruitment Bonus, 
VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System, Omaha, Nebraska 

l{bJ(?HCI I 1mproperly recommended. and Mr. Washko improperly approved, the 
recruitment bonus forj\61<

7J\C) !The initial June 2005 reconuncndation and approval 
for a recruitment incentive did not include documentation that these officials considered 
the factors identified above when determining if the bonus should be given, but in 
response to our request for such documentation in April 2006, they noted that the posirion 
was new and the competencies required were significantly dissimilar to other positions at 
NWIHCS, and thus comparisons to other recruitments were meaningless. They further 
noted that the cost ofliving in Omaha was not a negative factor in filling the position, and 
no special work environment, location, or labor market considerations existed. 
Regarding relevant unique qualifications, they noted that l(b)(7Jici !uniquely fit with the 
data management needs of NWIHCS as he had made significant improvements in the 
facili 's data management while he was detailed to NWIHCS. In May 2006, when 

\bJC7
KCJ and Mt. Washko amended the papeiwork to reflect that FbH 7J(Cl I received a 

relocation incentive, rather than a recruitment incentive, they wrote that the PQSition was 
unique to NWIHCS to meet the data requirements of the Director, and that .... l(b-l\

7
_· )(~C)~-­

wben previously detailed to the Director, established the current system of data 
management tools and reports. They wrote they did not anticipate that NWIHCS would 
be able to employ anyone else who possessed l(bJ(7

JiCl I unique knowledge, skills and 
abilities, at least without having to offer a full recruitment bonus to attract the individual. 

1\bJC?)(Cl !confirmed that he received the S12,834 bonus. Ile told us he was not aware 
Mr. Washko planned to offer it to him until the day he processed back in at NWIHCS. At 
the time we interviewed him in May 2006, he said that, had he not been given the bonus, 
he would have returned to NWIHCS but would not have stayed once his personal issues 
were resolved. 

Mr. Washko told us attracting talented people to Omaha had been difficultt and he 
believed in particular that fillin the newly created l1bj<

7 ><Cl I position 
with someone as qualified as tbl!7xci would have been "very difficult." He said this, 
coupled with bis knowledge that {b)(· )( l had been periodically contacted by other 
or anizations t ing to recruit him, had already left NWIHCS once, and was looking for a 

{b){lJ(CJ justified the bonus. Mr. Washko told us he wanted to demonstrate to 

Cbll7 l(C) that he desired to retain his services. He noted that the bonus paid to 
.__ __ __,was small compared to the moving and other expenses he might have had to 
pay someone else. Mr. Washko acknowledged thatl(bJ(7)(ci I never asked for a bonus 
and was surprised to receive it. 

l(bl<7
l(C) I told us that the motivation behind paying a bonus to b)(?JIC) was 

"altruistic" in nature; however, he acknowledged that the bonus ensured (bJ(?)(CJ would 
remain at NWIHCS for at least a year and rovide stability and progress in the area of 
data management. He confirmed that < it J< l had not asked for the bonus, but only 
wanted to return to NWIHCS. He said \b)ll){Cl was not in a position to "bargain" for 
any bonus because of his personal situation, and told us he and Mr. Washko believed it 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 
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Administrative Investigation • Improper Recruitment Bonus, 
VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System, Omaha, Nebraska 

was unconscionable to take advantage ofl(b){7HCJ I by not reimbursing him for the skills 
he brought to the position. l(b)(7)(C) !told us the amount paid to l(b)\7J(CJ I was equal to 
the amount of salary he lost as a result of accepting the downgrade. He said, had 

l16Rt)(C; I not taken the position, the facility almost certainly would have advertised it 
with a 25 percent recruitment bonus, and it could have taken up to a year to fill the 
position. 

Conclusion 

l<b)(?J<C) I improperly recommended, and Mr. Washko improperly approved, a $ l 2,834 
recruitment bonus for j-:bH7JtCl I InitiaUy approved as a recruitment incentive, it was 
improper because VA policy prohibits giving recruitment incentives to individuals who 
are already Federal employees. Further, whether characterized as a recruitment or a 
relocation incentive, it was improper because 1<61<7RcJ I requested and voluntarily 
accepted the position, with the downgrade, absent the bonus. He djd not know he was 
receiving it until he reported for duty. VA policy required Mr. Washko andl'bH7

J(C) ~o 
demonstrate that it would not be possible to till the position with a high quality candidate 
in the absence of a bonus, and current policy requires them to demonstrate it would be 
difficult to fill the position. In either case, the fact thatl\b)(?)(C) !requested and accepted 
the position for his own benefit, and did not know he was going to be offered the bonus, 
negates any argument that the position was otherwise impossible, or even difficult, to fill. 
Mr. Washko failed to ensure the decision to offer the bonus complied with VA policy, 
and l'b)(?)(CJ !failed to appropriately advise him. 

Recommended Adion(s) l. We recommend that the Director, VISN 23, ensures 
that appropriate administrative action is taken againstl[bHlJ<Cl I for improperly 
approving a $l2,834 recruitment bonus forl<bH 7 HCl I 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the Director, VISN 23, ensures 
that appropriate administrative action is taken againstl(bl(7J(CJ I for improperly advising 
Mr. Washko regarding the bonus paid tofbl{?)(C) I 
Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend that the Director, VISN 23, ensures 
that a bHl of collection is issued col(bJ\?J(C) Ito recover the $12,834 improperly paid to 
him. 

VA Office of Inspector General 4 
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Comments 

The Director, VlSN 23, concurred with the recommendations. His response is in 
Appendix A. We will follow-up to ensure the recommended actions are fully 
implemented. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

( ·1 ~~ ~ 0 ·;\·; 
~ J~--..~-f"- ut)) ~ ~ 

. JAMES J. O'NEILL 
Assistant Inspector General for 

Investigations 

, b . 

5 



\ 

I 

Acminlstrative lnvestigation • Improper Recruitment Bonus, 
VA Nebraska-Western Iowa He.a!th Care System, Omaha, Nebraska 

Director Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: February 9, 2007 

Memorandum 

From: Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 23 (10N23) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation, Improper Recruitment 
Bonus, VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System, 
Omaha, Nebraska 

To: Director, Administrative Investigations Div. (SJQ) 

Attached are the responses to Administrative Investigation 
Draft Report (2006-01135-IQ-0129) 

(original signed by:) 

ROBERT A. PETZEL, M.D. 

Network Director 

VA Office of Inspector General 

Appendix A 
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• Administrative Investigation - Improper Recruitment Bonus, 
VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System. Omaha, Nebraska 

Director's Comments 
to Office of Inspector Genera,'s Report 

The foJlowing Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office oflnspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the 
Director, VISN 23, ensures th.at appropriate administrative 
action is taken against Mr. Washko for irnpro erly approving 
a $12,834 recruitment bonus for \b)C?)(Cl 

Concur Target Completion Date: April 6, 2007 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the 
Director, VISN 23, ensures that a propriate administrative 
action is taken against <bl\7)<C) for impro erly advising 
Mr. Washko regarding the bonus paid t \bH?l\CJ ,__ __ __. 

Concur Target Completion Date: ApriJ 6, 2007 

Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend that the 
Director, VISN 23, ensures that a bill of collection is issued to 

l(bJ.:7HC) Ito r~cover the $12,8 34 improperly paid to him. 

Concur Target Completion Date: April 6, 2007 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System. Omaha, Nebraska 

Appendix B 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact Judy Shelly ._r_1{1_icc_1 ___ __. 

Acknowledgments Charles Millard 

• 
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VA Nebraska-Western Iowa Health Care System, Qmaha, ~braska 

Appendix C 

Report Distribution 

VA Distribution 

Deputy Secretary (00 l) 
Chief of Staff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat (001 B) 
Under Secretary for Health (10) 
Principal Deputy Under Secretary for Health (lOA) 
Deputy Under Secretary for Health for Operations and Management (LON) 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 23 (10N23) 
Management and Review Service (lOB5) 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoing in VA Programs and Operations 

Call the OIG Hotline - (800) 488-8244 

VA Office of Inspector General 9 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Director, Acquisition Operations Service (049A3) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation - Improper Contracting Procedures, 
Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 
(2006-00797-IQ-OO 19) 

Summary 

We substantiated that contracting officials in the Acquisition Operations Service, Office 
of Acquisition and Materie1 Management, VA Central Office, circumvented the 
requirement for full and open competition by non-competitively issuing a task order 
under a blanket purchase agreement to a contractor after asking that contractor to 
subcontract with a subject-matter expert specifically identified by VA. We also 
substantiated that one of these officials issued an advisory and assistance task order 
without first obtaining the required approval. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General, Administrative lnvestigations Division, investigated 
allegations regarding contracts for services to the Veterans Health Administration's 
(VHA) Chief Business Office in VA Central Office. We did not substantiate the specific 
allegations but during the course of the investi_gation, we determined that l'b)r_7)(C) l 
~K~ I 
\bJ(7)\C) I and one of his subordinates, l(b)FJ(Cl I 
\b)(7)\CJ I circumvented the requirement 
for full and open competition to acquire the services of a subjecc-matter expert the Chief 
Business Officer identified by name. We further determined thatl·:bH7J\C) I did not obtain 
approval from the Deputy Secretary prior to issuing an advisory and assistance task order, 
as required. To conduct this investigation, we interviewedl(b)\7l(CJ I the 
Chief Business Officer, a contractor representative, and others. We reviewed pertinent 
contract documentation and applicable Federal law and regulations, and VA guidance. 
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Results 

Administrative Investigation - Improper Contracting Procedures 
Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

Issue 1: Whether.,..,l<b,,....H7_)<_c_) ------~!properly competed a contract for 
the Chief Business Office 

Federal acquisition regulations require contracting officers to ensure that all requirements 
of law, regulations, and other applicable procedures are met before entering into a 
contract [48 CFR §L602J. In accordance with Federal law, the regulations require 
agencies to obtain full and open competition through the use of competitive procedures, 
unless expressly authorized by statute to do otherwise [48 CFR §6.101, 41 USC 
§253(a)(1 )(A)]. 

On l(b)(?){C) I responsible for supporting 
VHA's Chief Business Office, issued a task order in the amount of $224,998 to Native 
American Industrial Distributors, Inc. (NAID), an American Indian and service-disabled 
veteran-owned small business. The task order was for the services of a subject matter 
expert,l(b)(7)(C) I to evaluate VHA's private sector purchased care efforts. 
The Chief Business Officer to1d us he knewrbH7HCl lprior to assuming his position, as 
they had previously worked together in the private sector and in the Air Force. 

The task order for l(b)(7)(Cl !services was issued Wider an existing blanket purchase 
agreement (BPA) that the Acquisition Operations Service had previously established with 
NATD on behalf of the Chief Business Office. Under the terms of the BPA, VA would 
issue NAID a task order and, in response, NAID would submit a proposal which 
identified the individuals or entities who would perform the work through a 
subcontracting or other arrangement with NAID. If the proposal was acceptable, VA 
would award the task order. NAID's technical proposal for the BPA stated that it') 
success in satisfying customers' needs depended heavily on its ability to team with prime 
contractors and subcontractors to bring the best individual talent forward. Federal 
acquisition regulations authorize the use of contractor team arrangements [48 CFR §9.6). 

l(b)(?)(C) I told us the Chief Business Officer requested procurin (bH
7

HCJ 

services because ofl(bl\7 )(C) !background in private healthcare. \b!<7J\Cl said he 
told the Chief Business Officer he would try to identify a means by which the Acquisition 
Operations Service could do this. He said he and l<bH7 icc) I then discussed using the BPA 
with NAID to obtain l<bl<

7
)(CJ I services. According to l(b)(7J(G) I the Chief 

Business Officer did not pressure him to accomplish this procurement. 

(b)(7)(C) d h f onfirmed that the Chief Business Officer rccommen ed t c services o I--__ __.._.. 

(b){?)(C) and that he and l<bll7Hc1 I detennined they would try to obtain those 
services by using the existing BPA with NAID. ibJC7)1.c1 told us the Chief Business 
Officer did not pressure him co procure \bH

7
l(C) services. He said he discussed with 

NAID representatives the possibility of that company subcontracting withLl<b_)(7_J(_C_l __ ___, 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Contracting Procedures 
Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

and said they agreed to do so. l(bJ(?){CJ I told us his office did not compete the 
procurement because the BPA with NAID was already awarded competitively. 

NAID's Vice President of Business Development told us O:bH l\ ) advised him that a VA 
program rnana er needed a particular expert, it>J<7Hc) and told him that if NAID 
could obtain (bH

7
HCl under a subcontract, then VA could issue NAID a task order 

usin the existing BPA. l{bJFHCJ I had no business relationship with NAfD prior to 
(b)t

7
ltCi discussion with NAID regarding the potential task order. 

Issue 2: 
contract 

Whetherl(bJ(lHC) I obtained approval for an advisory and assistance 

Federal acquisition regulations define contractual advisory and assistance services as 
including services that provide assistance or advice for the efficient and effective 
management and operation of Government organizations, activities, or systems. 
According to the regulations, examples include efforts that support or contribute to 

improved organization of program management, logistics management, project 
monitoring and reporting, and data collection. The regulations further define advisory 
and assistance services as including services that provide organized, analytical 
assessments or evaluations in support of policy development, decision-making, 
management, or administration. The outputs of advisory and assistance contracts may 
include information, advice, op1mons, alternatives, analyses, evaluations, 
recoµimendations, and the day-torday aid of support personnel. [48 CFR §2.101] Office 
of Acquisition and Materiel Management guidance requires that all VHA requests for 
advisory and assistance services estimated to cost $100,000 or more be approved by the 
Deputy Secretary [IL 049-04-08, paragraph 7a]. 

On June 8, 2005, b. 'HCJ submitted a statement of objectives to a representative of 
Booz Allen Hamilton. Inc., requesting that company provide a quote to provide support 
in managing improvements to VHA' s revenue program and in helping to determine the 
future revenue cycle business model to be implemented across VHA. The statement of 
objectives specifical1y sought support in completing an oversight review addressing the 
current state and future direction of the program, including a detailed assessment of 
capabilities and a set of recommendations for movin forward. Two days earlier, on 
June 6, 2005, the Chief Business Officer told (b)(7)(c) in an electronic mail message that 
key VHA officials were ••ready to facilitate A&A approval." 

On August 4, 2005, foJlowing the identification of additional funds, fbl(7)(CJ I issued a 
request for quotations for an expanded effort. The August request for quotations sought 
contractor support to the Chief Business Office in managing VHA's revenue-cycle 
metrics. goals, and business processes. According to the statement af work contained 
within the request for quotations, contractor support was needed to (1) review various 
components of the revenue cycle, to communicate areas of concern, and to provide 
recommendations for improvement; (2) develop economic analyses, return-on-investment 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 
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studies, and business cases for efforts related to the revenue cycle; and (3) develop a 
template for extracting data related to revenue-cycle metrics. On August 26, 2005, a 
representative of Booz Allen signed a $447,493 task order issued by Mr. Nale for a time 
and material effort to accomplish the above work. 

l(bX7
l(C) !told us he did not consider the task order to be an advisory and assistance effort 

because specific technical deliverables, as opposed to advisory services, were specified, 
and the effort was not intended to improve a management process, but rather to maintain 
a process that was already established. He said that discussions with Booz Allen 
representatives disclosed that the contractor's analysis would be to determine the most 
effective tools to use in program mana ement, rather than to develop recommendations 
on how to change the program. (b)!

7 l(C) noted that the technical de1iverables were 
specified in Boaz Al1en's proposal, submitted in response to the statement of objectives. 
These deliverables included observations and recommendations; weekly program updates 
to the Chief Business Officer; preparation of the Chief Business Officer for monthly in­
process reviews and advisory board meetings; a communication plan to increase 
understanding of the program~ monthly status reports to the Chief Business Officer; and 
other support services as requested. 

Conclusion 

Withllb)(?)iC) I concurrence, rb)(7].~C) I circumvented the requirement for full and 

open competition by non-competitively issuing a task order under a BPA to NAID after 
asking NAJD to subcontract with a subject-matter expert the Chief Business Officer 
specifically recommended. While the BPA with NAID envisioned that NAJD would 
identi ex ert com anics it needed to submit proposals responsive to VA's needs, in this 
case, (b):

7
HC) made the task order contin ent on NAID subcontracting 

with the expert they wanted. We also substantiated that {bJo:?){q issued Boaz Allen an 
advisory and assistance task order without first obtaining the required approval. 
Although l<bJ(7 )(c) !contended the services did not constitute an adviso and assistance 
effort, we disagree. The statement of objectives and statement of work <b)(7){C) issued 
sought support for improving program management and decision-making, and required 
deliverables such as recommendations, analyses, and studies, all of which are consistent 
with the regulatory definition of an advisory and assistance contract. 

Recommended Action(s) l. We recommend that the Director, Ac uisition 
Operations Service, take appropriate administrative action against (bl<

7 HCl for 
allowingl(bH7 l<Cl Ito circumvent the requirement for full and open competition by issuing 
a non-competitive task order to NAlD after asking NAID to subcontract with a specific 
subject-matter expert. 

Recommended Actlon(s) 2. We recommend lhat the Director, Ac uisition 
Operations Service, take appropriate administrative action against (bJJJ(C) for 

VA Offlce of Inspector General 4 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Contracting Procedures 
Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central Office, Washingto~. ~ 

circumventing the requirement for full and open competition by issuing a non­
competitive task order lo NAID after asking NAID to subcontract with a specific subject~ 
matter expert; and for not obtaining the required approval before issuing an advisory and 
assistance contract to Booz Allen Hamilton, Inc. 

Comments 

The Director, Acquisition Operations Service, concurred with the recommendations. He 
did not provide additional comments. We will follow-up to ensure the recommendations 
are fully implemented. 

,.. 

O'NEILL/ • 
l\ss t p or Gener for 

Investigations 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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Acquisition Operations Service. VA Central Office, Washington, DC 

Director Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: November 8, 2006 

From: Director, Acquisition Operations Service 

Memorandum 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Improper Contracting 
Procedures, Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central 
Office, Washington, DC 

To: Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Contracting Procedure 
Acquisition Operations Service, VA Central Office. Washington, DC 

Director's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the 
Director, Acquisition Operations Service, take appropriate 
administrative action against l(b)(?l(Cl I for allowing 
Mr. Nale to circumvent the requirement for full and open 
competition by issuing a non-competitive task order to NATO 
after asking NAID to subcontract with a specific subject­
rnatter expert. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 12/ 15/2006 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the 
Director, Acquisition Operations Service, take appropriate 
administrative action againstrbH7JfCl lror circumventing the 
requirement for fu)l and open competition by issuing a non­
competitive task order to NAID after asking NAID to 
subcontract with a specific subject-matter expert; and for not 
obtaining the required approval before issuing an advisory 
and assistance contract to Booz Allen Hamilton, Inc . 

• 

Concur Target Completion Date: 12/15/2006 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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TO: 

SUBJECT: 

Summary 

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22 ( 1 ON22) 

Administrative Investigation - Improper Acceptance of a Gift and 
Honorarium, and Misuse of Time, VA San Diego Healthcare System 
(2005-029 5 8-1 Q-0009) 

We substantiated that a part-time physician at the VA San Diego Healthcare System 
improperly accepted a gift from a prohibited source, a cardiovascular medical products 
company that does business with VA, when he allowed that company to pay for expenses 
valued at $748.96 associated with a trip he took to the VA Southern Nevada Healthcare 
System in Las Vegas to conduct official business. The physician also improperly 
accepted a S 1,500 honorarium from that company for the dinnertime presentation he 
made in l\b)(7)(CJ I Other members of the San Diego staff who traveled to ._l<b....,l!

7
,....l(_c_1 --=----

and members of the !blt
7

HCJ staff who attended the dinner presentation. also 
improperly accepted g1 s rom the prohibited source. We also substantiated that the 
physician misused his official VA time to perform professional remunerated services for 
the company on seven occasions between 2003 and 2005. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General lnvcsti ations Division, 
investigated an alJegation that \blt7l\CJ a (b)( )(CJ at the VA S 
Diego Healthcare System, improperly accepted an expense-paid trip t <bll

7
ltCl 

from Guidant Corporation, a cardiovascular medical roducts comLp_a_n_y--='tra-:t-.d1o-es__.J 
business with VA. We aJso investigated whether \bJ\?)(Cl received honoraria from 
Guidant for performing his official duties and whet er he appropriately took leave while 
performing professional services for Guidant. (b)(7)(Ci is res onsible for working 60 
hours each biweekly pay period. We interv1cwed \bJ17)(Cl other staff at the San 
Diego Healthcare System and the VA Southern Nevada Healthcare System, and a 
Guidant representative. We reviewed documentation provided by Guidant supporting 
payments the company made to l.;bJl7J(Cj I during calendar years 2003-2005, and 

l\bH7J\CJ I VA time and attendance records. We also reviewed relevant Federal 
regulations and VA policy. 



Administrative Investigation - Improper Acceptance of a Gift and 
Honorarium, and Misuse of Time, VA San Diego Healthcare System 

Results 

Issue 1: Whetherl1...\b-J(-7 )\_c_i __ _.hmproperly accepted a gift and honorarium 
from Guidant Corporation 

Federal ethics regulations generally prohibit employees from accepting a gift from a 
prohibited source, defined as a person or corporation doing business, or seeking to do 
business, with the employee's agency. According to the regulations, gifts include 
lodging, meals. and transportation [5 C.F.R. §2635.202-204]. The ethics regulations 
further prohibit an employee from receiving compensation from any source other than 
the Government for teaching or speaking that relates to the employee's official duties f5 
C.F.R. §2635.807{a)]. According to the facility's training records,[tbll7

J(Cl I attended 
ethics training on several occasions beginning in June 2003. 

On Friday,jtbl<7l<CJ !traveled to\\bJ(l){CJ. Ito make a.presentation 
that evening to Southern Nevada Healthcare System staff m an effort to improve that 
facility's procedures for referring certain cardiology patients to the San Die o Healthcare 
System. l(bJ{?)(C) I returned to. San Diego the next day. Saturday, <bli7J<C) Five other 
San Diego Healthcare System clinical slaff also traveled to lbJ(7)!C) None of the five 
are currently VA employees. According to \bl< )( l both he and some of the other 
San Die o staff were accompanied by a guest. \bl\ i(C) told us the presentation to 
the \bJaJtCJ staff was prom ted b the fact that patients frequently were making 
several trips each from the lbl(

7
){CJ area to San Diego becausel1bJ{7l1Cl !staff were 

not ensurin that all the preparatory tests and paperwork were completed. Accordin~ to 
1b1171<c1 he and thel !bJ(7)(Cl _ ~ 

decided that a face-to-face meeting between the two staffs would be he! ful. 
l<bH7HCl l identified ten physicians, nurses, and technicians from the \bl( l( l 

facility who attended the meeting, including himself. A former lb)(, I( l 

tracked the staff's attendance at the meeting, confirmed that ten :bX7liCl 

Several are no longer VA employees. 

Guidant Corporation paid forl(b){7
){C) I trip to rbl<7HCJ • I including his air fare 

($188.00), taxicab expenses ($98.00), and one night's lod ing ($325.91). fbH7Hci I 
spouse, who is not a VA employee, flew to lbli7icc1 at her own expense.) The 
company also paid for dinner on Friday night for all attendees from both VA facilities 
($3,056.79) and for a meal on Saturday for the San Diego staff (Sl 58. t 9). Although we 
did not identify additional attendees at the Friday dinner, the Guidant representative's 
expense report noted 30 people were in attendance~ at a cost of$ l 01.89 per person. Also 
according to the Guidant representative's expense re ort nine people participated in the 
Saturday meal, including the San Diego staff, \bJ( )(CJ spouse, and the Guidant 
representative, at a cost of $17 .58 per person. (Although ethics regulations allow 
employees to acce t ifts valued at $20.00 or less, we consider the amount spent by 
Guidant on <bJt l< l and his spouse during tbe['bll?HCI I trip to constitute one gift.} 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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Honorarium, and Misuse of Time, VA San Diego Healthcare System 

According tolibl!7
lCC) I Guidant also paid the air fare and/or lodging for the orher San 

Diego staff. Finally, Guidant records document that the company paid ltb)17kc) I a 
$1,500 honorarium for making the presentation inl<61\7Hci I 

(b)(?){C) told us he did not recall how the decision was made that Guidant would pay 
for the \t>J<7l( J trip, but denied he solicited the funding. He noted that Guidant 
representatives were frequently present at the San Diego Healthcare System and may 
have heard conversations about the need for the meeting and offered to pay for it 

1oJ(7i\Cl told us he probably did not attempt to obtain VA funding because be 
ehcved money was not available and said such trips were frequently s onsored by the 

private sector. 1Cb)\7J(C) I acknowledged that the meeting in tbH7 l<Cl was VA 
mission-related. 

l(b){?HCJ I supervisor, \t>J1 1-: J told us he was aware of 
the problems with referrals rom tbH7ltCl and agreed it would be useful to have a facc-
to-face meeting with the staff there. Both he and the Chief of Staff told us the meeting 
was mission-related, but the Chief of Staff said she did not learn about it until after it 
occurred. A nurse formerly employed at the San Die o Healthcare System, who helped 
arrange the trip and traveled with \bl« h l to iblt7 liCl told us she did not know 
how Guidant became involved in the funding. ibJ:7HCl told us he was not involved 
in arranging the meeting and was not aware that Guidant funded the dinner. Rather, he 
told us he thought the dinner was paid by grant funds. The fonncr nurse who tracked the 

j<bl\7llCJ !staffs attendance at the meeting also said she did not know how the dinner 
was funded. Finally, the Guidant representative involved in this event told us he did not 
recaJI the specifics of it, but considered it a legi1imate educational activity that Guidant 
appropriately supported. 

Issue 2: Whether j\bl\7J\Cl I misused his official time to perform 
remunerated professional services for Guidant 

VA policy requires part-time physicians to be engaged in VA work during their duty 
hours unless they are in an approved leave status [VHA Directive 2003-00l, paragraph 
2f1. We identified seven occasions between 2003 and 2005 when j\t>l<7 l<CJ I did not 
take annual leave from VA while he was performing professional, remunerated services 
for Guidant during his VA duty hours. For example, on Monday, l<b)(f)<ci I 

Fbl<7HCl ] traveled toj'bl<7J(C) Ito speak at a private medical facilit He departed 
San Diego at 8: lO am and returned at 7:00 pm. Guidant paid \bl-:7HC) a $2,000 
honorarium and $145 in travel expenses for the day. However, \bl(• x l VA duty 
hours that day were 10:00 am to 4:00 pm. His time and attendance records document that 
he took no leave. 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 
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Honorarium, and Misuse of Time. VA San Diego Healthcare System 

As described below, on four occasions in 2003,l{b){7l(CJ I traveled on behalf of 
Guidant to participate as an educator for a market research program. Each time, Guidant 
paid him a $2,000 honorarium and travel expenses. 

• On Wednesday, (b)\?J(C) traveled to (b)(?)(CJ and returned 
on the morning of Thursday, \bJ(7HC) His VA duty hours on !bH7l!C) were from 
8:00 am to 2:00 pm, but he took no lt:ave for the portion of that time he was 
traveling for Guidant. Further, on l\bli7J\CJ I was inappropriately 
granted an authorized absence when he should have taken annual leave for his 
scheduled hours, 8:00 am to 2:00 pm. 

• On Monday.I Lib-i(_7H_·c_l ________ _,)took annual leave to travel lo (bJ\
7

HC) 

f bH7i<C) I His San Die 0 ai arking receipt documents that, upon his return 
the next day, (bJ( ) 1 he left the airport shortly after l 0:00 am. 
Although his V uty ours on October 7 began at 10:00 am, he took no leave. 

7)C) 'll )' J • On tbl\ t Monday through Wedncsda , 1 
' traveled to 

\bl(71ici Ile took armual leave for ibJ(l){Cl but not for 

(bl\7li l His S n Diego airport parking receipt ocument.;; that, upon his 
return on (b)(7){Cl he left the airport at 11: 17 am. l\b)d)\cJ Iv A duty 
hours onllbl\7~\CJ began at 10:00 am, but he took no leave. 

• On <bll
7

HCJ a Wednesday and Thursda , (bl(!)(C) traveled to 
\bl<7)\CJ The program was held Wednesda , \bli 7J\Cl and l(b)i7)(C) I 
returned to San Diego the next day, Thursda !b)(l){Cl Ile took annual leave 
on Fbl\7llCl ] but took no leave on < ( 1 ci His VA duty hours that day 
were from 10:00 am to 4 :00 pm. 

On those dates when l<bH7l<Cl I returned to San Diego following travel on behalf of 
Guidant, we could not determine when or if he reported for duty at the San Diego 
Healthcare System. Finally, we identified two instances in 2005 when! L..16_l{_711_c_) __ ___. 

performed professional remunerated services for Guidant durin his VA duty hours and 
was granted authorized absence to do so. The <bJ(7l<ci told us that during this 
time he was on extended sick leave and e p ys1c1an who was acting for him 
erroneously approved the two absences. These charges were corrected during our 
investigation. 

Conclusion 

l{bK?J\CJ !improperly accepted a gift valued at $748.96 from Guidant Corporation, a 
prohi.bited source! when he allowed that company to. pay for his ai~ fare, lodging. Jeals 
for himself and hts spouse, and other expenses associated with anl<bi(7HCJ _I trip 
he and other San Diego Healthcare System officials took to the Southern Nevada 
Healthcare System in l'bl<7HCl I to conduct official business. He also improperly 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Acceptance of a Gift and 
Honorarium, and Misuse of Time, VA San Diego Healthcare System 

acce ted from Guidant a cash honorarium of $1,500 for presenting information to the 
(b)(?J\Cl staff. Other members of the San Diego staff who traveled to l(bH7l\Cl I and 
members of the !bl(7 )!C) staff who attended the \bl< i:c) dinner, also im o er 
accepted a ifL As \bH 7liCl of their respective facility's \b)(!)(C) 

lbl<7l<CJ should have known that Guidant paid tH-'"'e',....,,.,ex:':"!p~e:-::n:--::::s-=es::-::o:-r--;t~c-m=-:::e-=-et:;-in::g::-::a:-:n-:-:td 
should not have allowed the employees to accept the gifts. 

rb)\?){C) I also misused his official VA time while performing professional 
remunerated services for Guidant on seven occasions between 2003 and 2005. He either 
did not take annual leave at all. took an insufficient amount of leave, or was granted 
authorized absence rather than taking annual leave. 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 22, ensures that appropriate administrative action is taken against 

l(bJ(7){CJ l for accepting a gift from Guidant Corporation, a prohibited source; for 
accepting an honorarium from Guidant for performing his official duties; and for 
misusing his official VA time to perform professional remunerated services for Guidant. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 22, ensures thatj:bi\?)\Cl \returns S748.96 to Guidant, re resentin 
the value of the gift he received associated with the l(bli7 )!C) I trip to (bJ(l){C> 

L----,,-----" 
and returns the $1,500 honorarium he accepted for speaking to other VA employees 
about his official duties. 

Recommended Action(s) 3. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 22, ensures that jl6i,7JlcJ I takes appropriate amounts of annual leave 
for the time he performed professional remunerated services for Guidant during his 
official VA duty hours, or is charged absent without leave and billed for the value of the 
time he misused. 

Recommended Action(s) 4. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 22, ensures that appropriate administrative action is taken against 

l<bJ(7J<CJ I for allowing VA staff to accept a gift from a prohibited source. 

Recommended Action(s) 5. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 22, ensures that current employees at the VA Southern Nevada 
Healthcare System who attended the rb)tt)(C) I meeting in l(bJ(7)(C) lreturn to 
Guidant the value of the gift (dinner) they received from that company. 

Comments 

The Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, concurred with the above 
recommendations, and told us that appropriate administrative action would be taken 
against lfb)(?)ICJ land that he would he directed to reimburse Guidant for all monies 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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and benefits he received in connection with the j<bHTJ<C) I trip to l'b)(r)(c) I The 
Director further stated thatl'bJ(?){CJ lwould be allowed to request 27 hours of annual 
leave to correctly account for the official VA time he misused performing professional 
remunerated services for Guidant. Finally, the Veterans Integrated Service Network 
Director told us appropriate administrative action would be taken against < 1 ' 

1 and 
1<6Jm<c) land that employees who attended the l<bJ(7

l(CJ lmeeting in (bl<7 HCJ would 
return the value of the dinner they received, The Director's comments were responsive to 
the recommendations and we will follow-up to ensure they arc fully implemented. 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Assistant Inspector General for 
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Subject: Administrative Investigation - Improper Acceptance of a 
Gift and Honorariumt and Misuse or Time, VA San Diego 
Healthcare System 

To: Assistant Inspector General for Investigations (51) 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Acceptance of a Gift and 
Honorarium, and Misuse ofTime, VA San Diego Healthcare System 

Director1s Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office oflnspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensures 
that appro riate administrative action is taken against 
\b)(7 )r,ci for accepting a gift from Guidant Corporation, a 
prohibited source; for accepting an honorarium from Guidant 
for performing his official duties; and for misusing his official 
VA time to perform professional remunerated services for 
Guidant. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 11/ 17 /06 

A Letter of Reprimand will be issued to Dr. Narayan 
concerning the acceptance of a gift from a prohibited source, 
and for misusing his official VA time to perfonn professional 
remunerated services for Guidant Corporation. In addition 
the Letter of Reprimand will direct 1'bH7l(CJ I to complete 
the training courses Ethical Conduct for Federal Employees 
and Compliance and Business [ntegrity (CBI) Program on or 
before October 30, 2006. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensures 
thatl{b)(7){C) !returns $748.96 lo Guidant, representing the 
value of the ift he received associated with thel1...<b_lt7_l,_ci ___ _. 

(bJ(7 )(C) trip to (bJl7l(C) and returns the $1,500 honorarium he 
accepted for speaking to other VA employees about bis 
official duties. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 11117/06 

--------------~-----------------· --
VA Office of Inspector General 8 



ib)(7)\C) 

Administrative lnves1igation - Improper Acceptance of a Gift and 
Honorarium, and Misuse of Time. VA San Diego Healthcare System 

The Letter of Reprimand described in Recommended Action 
l, will direct l\bJ( 7J1Cl Ito reimburse Guidant Corporation 
for all monies and/or benefits received in connection with the 

l\b)(7)(C) I trip tol{b)(7)(C) I 
Recommended Action(s) 3. · We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensures 
thatl'b)\?J(CJ I takes appropriate amounts of annual leave 
for the time he perfonned professional remunerated services 
for Guidant during his official VA duty hours, or is charged 
absent without leave and billed for the value of the time he 
misused. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 11/17/06 

rb){?)(C) I will be allowed to request Annual Leave in the 
amount of 27 hours to correctly account for his time on the 
days referenced in this recommendation. T for which 
annual leave should be re uested are (bi(i)(Cl - 6 hours 
lb)(7lfCJ 6 hours ibl\ )! 1 l hour, \bFXCl 

.!=.;:;:::;;:::===='. 
(b)I )( • 2 hours, \bH7JlCI 6 hours, j<bll7l\CJ + ~ 6 hours. ...___ ___ __, 

Recommended Action(s) 4. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensures 
that a ro riate admini rative action is taken against 
(bH7l<CJ or allowing VA staff to accept a 
g1 rom a prohibited source. 

Concur Target Completion Date; l l/l 7/06 

iblr7HCl will both receive counselings 
w 1c w1 reiterate the necessity for them to properly advise 
their subordinate employees regarding proper procedures with 
regard to traveling and or speaking on behalf of the VA. 

Recommended Action(s) 5. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensures 
that current employees at the VA Southern Nevada 
Healthcare System who attended tbej1bJ\71\CJ I meeting 
in ltbH711Cl I return to Guidant the value of the gift (dinner) 
they received from that company. 

VA Office of Inspector General 9 
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Administrative Investigation - Improper Acceptance of a Gift and 
Honorarium, and Misuse ofTime, VA San Diego Healthcare System 

Target Completion Date: 1l/l7i06 

EmpJoyees who attended the August 2003 function will 
return the value of the gift (DINNER) they received. 

VA Office of Inspector General 10 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 16 (10Nl6) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation Misuse of Official Time by a Physician, 
VA Medical Center, Ok1ahoma City, OK (2005-0 l 545-IQ-0155) 

Summary 

We substantiated that between July 1, 2003, and June 30, 2005, l1b 1
(
7

)(C) lat 
the VA Medical Center in Oklahoma City, OK, misused authorized absences, sick leave, 
and his official duty time on I 8 days to participate in a pharmaceutical company's lecture 
bureau, primarily as a presenting speaker. The company paid the psychiatrist for his 
services. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General, Administrative InvestigationJ Division, investigated 
an aUegation that l<bH71<c1 at the Oklahoma City 
VA Medical Center, misused authorized absences and his official duty time to participate, 
for compensation, in the speakers program of a phannaceutical company, Eli Lilly and 
Company. To assess the allegation, we interviewedl'b)(!J:ci lthe former Chief, Mental 
Health Service; the Chief of Staff; and other facility staff. We reviewed!(b)(?)(CJ I time 
and attendance records from July 2003 to June 2005, his request for authorized absences, 
a summary of his compensated activity on behalf of Eli Lilly during this time period, and 
Federal law and VA policy, We did not substantiate a related allegation concerning 

l(b)(7)(C) !relationship to Eli Lilly. 



Administrative lnvest~_!ion, Misuse of Official Time by a Physician. VAMC Oklahoma City 

Results 

lssue:Whetherl(bl\7JcC) lmisused official VA time by performing professional 
services on behalf of a pharmaceutical company 

Federal law requires that full-time VA physicians who engage in outside professional 
activities for remuneration fulfill a minimum 80-hour, biweekly VA tour of duty [38 
U.S.C. §7423(a)]. VA policy allm~is physicians to be absent without charge to leave to 
attend professional meetings and education and training activities that benefit VA and the 
employee. Physicians authorized to be absent for such purposes are on official business 
and are paid. The policy requires physicians to charge leave in I-day increments. 
Finally, the policy allows employees to charge sick leave when they are incapacitated for 
the performance of their duties because of personal illness, necessary medical 
examinations, or when a family member requires the care of the employee [VA 
Handbook 5011, Part Ill, Chapter 3]. 

Eli Lilly records document that on 60 days between July 2003 and June 2005J._{b-)(
7

_' H_CJ __ __. 

participated in one or more activities, for compensation, in that company's lecture 
bureau, primarily as a presenting speaker. On most of these occasions. 1-l<b_H7_l<_c, ___ _. 
charged annual leave or made presentations after his VA duty hours, 8:00 am to 4:30 pm. 
HoweverJfEh7HCJ IV A leave records document that on 18 of these days he was either 
authorized to be absent from duty for another purpose, was supposed to be on duty or, in 
one instance, was in a sick leave status when he made one or more presentations. Eli 
Lilly paidl\bH7HCJ j between $750 and $ l ,500 for each presentation. 

l-..<b..,.,l\7=-l(-=cJ,..----LV!...!A!:!....!l~ea!:!.:!v~e:....!re~co~r!..l!!d~~w.i.u~~t he was authorized to be absent from duty on 
(b)(7Jcci In an August 22, 2003, memorandum from 
~--~ through the former Chief, Mental Health Service, to the Chief of Staff, 

requested these absences so that he could make presentations, including travel .__ __ __, 

time, to the (bJ(
7 l< l and to uns ecified "inpatient psychiatry 

staff and trainees" in ib I 11 l and in \bl H 1 l(b)\7 JCC) I stated in the 
memorandum that he was not receiving honoraria for making these presentations. 
Although the copy of the memorandum we received contained no signatures, the fonncr 
Chief, Mental Health Service, toJd us he recommended approval of the absences and the 
Chief of Staff said he likely approved them. \bH 7HCJ told us he requested the absences 
to make a community service presentation in \bll7J(CJ and to speak at the VA medical 
centers in l\bJ(?)(C) I 
Eli Lilly records document that on the above datesl(b){7J(Cl l also made presentations 
for its lecture bureau, for which he was compensated, including a presentation each day at 
noon and again between 5:30 pm and 7:00 pm, and a presentation on two of those days at 
9:00 am. The resentations were made at various locations in jtbJt?i{CJ 

tb ( J (outside thel(bJ{l)(C) ] area) at m'-e-n-ta-,-l_h,._e-a...,..lt-:--h-an-d~ 

counse mg centers, ospitals, physician offices, restaurants, and ·a health insurance 
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provider's office. l(bJ\?i<Cl I made the two morning presentations and four of the noon 
resentations on days he was authorized to be absent solely to travel. In addition, 

blC
7HCJ VA leave records document that on l'bH7l(C) I the day prior to being 

authorized to speak in l(b)(?J(CI I he left work at 1 :45 pm without charge to leave, but 
with the former Mental Health Service Chiefs approval. 'That evenin t 6:30 pm, 

l<bH7 l(CI I made a resentation in l(b)(?l{CJ Ion behalf of Eli LiHy. (b)(?J(Cl told us the 
presentation in {bJr7>ici was 3 hours from l(b)FJ(C:i I Thus, he used his official 
VA time to travel for Eli Lilly. 

Eli Lilly records also document that l<bJ{?J(CI I made noon presentations on eight other 
occasions, without charge to annual leave, during the time period we reviewed. Six of 
the presentations were inl'b)<7i,c1 I including at th tbJ(7)tCJ 

l<bH7 l,cl land a community mental hea1th center; on._e_w-as....,..m.....,,..(b)"""'e""'1(c~i----r-an-d-=--o-n-e ..... 
was b tele hone. \bl( ' l told us he takes 5 to 10 minutes to reach the ( J( ) 1 

L...-..,.------' 
and 10 to 15 minutes to reach the community center, 

._a-nd-:--:th_a_t-:-h-=-is_r_e-se-n-ta-t-:-io_n_s_w_e_r_e_4:-:-5 to 60 minutes long. l1611111cl ltold us the presentation 
in (b)(

7
J\CJ was 30 minutes away, and that the former Chief. Mental Health Seivice) 

approved his absence. Regarding the presentation made by telephone,l<b)(7J<Cl ltold us 
the call lasted about 45 minutes and during that time, he interrupted his presentation to 
answer a page and tend to other official VA business. 

Eli Lilly records document that on another occasion, bJ(?)(CJ made 
a lecture bureau presentation at 2:00 pm in <bl(7)(C) Accordin to •b>(7J(Ci VA 
]eave records, however, he was in a sick leave status at the time. <b){ l< l told us he 
did not recall the event. FinaUy,fbJ\7

)lCJ !told us he participated in an Eli Lilly speaker 
training session on l(b)(7)(C) I He told us he recalled arrivin late for 
a reception that evening. Eli Lilly records document thatl{bl<7liCl I departed._1b_i{7_H_ci __ _. 

~that day on a 2: 15 pm flight. According to his VA leave records, he charged no 
leave for his absence. 

rb)(?)(C) !acknowledged that OD the days he WElS authorized tO be absent in! i...(b-)(l_)(_Cl __ __, 

he also made presentations for Eli Li1Iy, and that he made other presentations for that 
company at noon time. He told us he did not realize it was improper for him to generate 
income while on authorized absence and said he used his lunch break for aJI noon time 

resentations.l<bJ(l){C) IV A duty day includes 30 minutes for a lunch break. Further, 
{b)(7J(CJ said the Chief of Staff and the former Chief, Mental Health Service, were 
aware of his activities. These two officials totd us they knew l(bJ(7HCl j was making 
presentations for Eli Lilly, but were not aware he was doing so while on authorized 
absence or when he was sup osed to be on duty. The former Chief, Mental Health 
Service, aJso told us he knew ib)f7J(Cl was paid by EU LiJly. He denied he approved 

1o:i)(7J<CJ I making the presentations while on authorized absence or at noon. 

VA Office of Inspector General 3 
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Conclusion 

On 18 days between July 2003 and June 2005, l(b)\ll(CJ !misused his authorized 
absences, sick leave, and official duty time to make presentations, for compensation, as a 
participant in Eli Lilly's lecture bureau. Since ph sicians who are in an authorized 
absence status are on official business and are paid, (bl(

7
)( l is rohibited by law from 

generating income for himself while on such absences. lbl( HCl misled his supervisors 
when he requested authorized absences for purposes that also included generating income 
for himself. While l(bH7

i(C) I used part of his lunch break to make many of the 
presentations, by his own testimony these events exceeded the 30 minutes he is allowed 
for lunch. Finally, he improperly charged sick leave to make one presentation, and failed 
to charge annual leave when he left work early to attend speaker trainin . The fonner 
Chief, Mental Health Service, and the Chief of Staff were aware tbl\7l<Cl participated 
in the lecture bureau, but they were not aware he used official duty time to do so. 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 16, ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken against 

·:bl! l\Cl for misusing his authorized absences, sick leave, and official time; and ensure 
that (b)(YJ(C) ither takes annual leave or is charged absent without leave and billed for 
the 18 days in question. 

Comments 

The Veterans Integrated Service Network l 6 Director concurred with the 
recommendation, but noted thatl/bl<71<Ci !had resigned his VA appointment. He stated 
that Dr. Dennis was issued a biJl of collection in the amount of$7,882.17. The Director's 
comments are in Appendix A. They were responsive to the recommendation. We wiU 
follow up to ensure collection action is taken. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

~.;.,/)~&;f; 
o:i;r ~. PETROLE 

Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations 
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Appendix A 

Director Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: April 27, 2006 

Memorandum 

From: Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 16 (10Nl6) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Misuse of Official Time by 
a Physician, VA Medical Center, Oklahoma City 

To: Daniel R. Petrole 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 



Administrative Investigation, Misuse of Official Time by a Physician, VAMC Oklahoma City 

Director's Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The following Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendatioo{s) 

Recommended Actioo(s) 1. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 16, ensure that 
appropriate administrative action is taken against l1.-<b-.IF_1cc-.) ,..,,,....,--,--..... 
for misusing his authorized absences, sick leave~ and official 
time; and ensure that l(b)l

7
J(C) I either takes annual leave or 

is charged absent without leave and billed for the 18 days in 
question. 

Concur Target Completion Date: 4-27-06 

\bll 7 ~c) I has resigned his appointment as a 
{b){ll(CJ I at this medica1 center and entered private practice. 

Based on this report a bill of coJlection has been issued tol(b)(7
l(C) I 

j<bJ(?){c) !for a total amount of $7,882.17. 

VA Office of Inspector General 6 
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Appendix B 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact Judy Shelly. JL1b_H
7
_i(c_

1 
__ ~ 

Acknowledgments Stephanie A. Robinson 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: Diroctor, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22 (10N22) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation Misuse of Position, VA Greater Los 
Angeles Healthcare System, West Los Angeles, CA (Case 2004-02900-
IQ-0101) 

Summary 

We substantiated that an l(b)<7J(C) I at the VA Greater Los Ang~les 
Healthcare System used her position for pernonal gain by Jiving in Government quarters 
while she earned money leasing her own house. 

Introduction 

The VA Office of Inspector General, Administrative Investigations Dlvision, investigated 
an aJlegation that l{bl\l)(C) lat the VA Greater Los 
Angeles Healthcare System, improperly lived in VA on-station housing while she leased 
her own house to generate income. To assess the allegation, we obtained sworn, taped 
testimon from Mr. Charles Donnan, the Healthcare System Director; ~l<b_)1_7 l_rc_l ___ ___. 

CJ supervisor; and other Healthcare System officials. We reviewed 
request and authorization for VA quarters; income and expense data ..__ _____ _, 

pertaining to the ]easing of her house; and applicable Federal law and regulations, and 
VA policy. 

Results 

Issue 1: Whetherl(b)(7)\CJ I used her position for personal gain by living 
in VA quarters while she earned money leasing her own house 

The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch prohibit 
employees from using their public office for their personal gain [5 CFR §2635.702]. 
Federal law allows agencies to provide employees with quarters when warranted by 
conditions of employment or availability [5 USC §59 l l ]. The law, however, prohibits an 
employee whose pay is fixed by statute or regulation from receiving additional pay or 
al1owance, unless specifically authorized [5 USC §5536]. Thus, Office of Management 
and Budget policy prohibits Federal agencies from using Government rental quarters as a 
subsidy to employees [OMB Circular A-45, paragraph 5]. 



Administrative Investigation - Misuse of Position 
VA Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, West Los Angeles, CA 

In !tbK7JcCJ I submitted a request to rent crs at the West Los 
Angeles campus, and Mr. Donnan approved it. At the time, ____ _. and her 
spouse owned a house valued, accordin to (bll7)(C) at over 

house was locatedL,.· _.c_i --.,----::--:--------::----:-:--:---:--:-:-:-::---:--:--:----­
told us she requested to move into VA quarters when a neighbor asked if he could lease 
her house while his was undergoing construction. She said she had been trying to sell the 
house because it was too ex ensive to maintain, but had been unsuccessful and so agreed 
to the lease. <bKJ)(C) said that after she began leasing the property and had moved 
into VA quarters, her house was damaged by flooding and she was repairing it while the 
renters remained living there. l(b)f7J<CJ hold us she informed both her immediate 
supervisor wid Mr. Dorman of the circumstances prompting her request to move into VA 
quarters. She also said she asked the former Facilities Management Chief if she was 
eligible to live on-station and he told her she was. Based on financial dataj,___<b_)(7_Jt_C_l ___ _. 

provided to us. her monthly rental income exceeded her monthly mortgage payment by 
$5,364, or a total of $96,552 over the 18-month period between January 2004 and June 
2005. During this time,l\bl(7HCJ \paid $1,481 monthly to rent on-station quarters. 

Mr. Dorman told us he did not recalJl(bJt?J(C) helling him she planned to lease her 
house. He said he approved her request to move on-station because he understood that 
her house was undergoing reconstruction. He said, had he known the true circumstances, 
he would not have approved it According to Mr. Donnan, he relied on a 
recommendation b the former Facilities Management Chief, who told him he (the Chief) 
and \bJC7HCl supervisor supportedl<bi(?J(C) !request. Mr. Donnan said 
that, after he approved the rental, Ms. Weintraub's supervisor told him she did not 
support it. He said at that point, however, he did not want to rescind his commitment to 
thH7k l Mr. Donnan also noted that he thought it would be beneficial to have 
bJ(l)(CJ living on-station because she was al\bl\7)\C) IV A policy allows 
employees at certain duty stations to reside in Government quarters if the organizational 
mission requires providing service to the community or to VA beneficiaries on a 24-hour 
basis [VA Directive 7631, paragraph 2]. 

l<bl\?JtC) I supervisor told us she did not supportlib)(?){CJ I request to live in 
quarters because she thought it was inappropriate to offer a perquisite to one._F6_)(_7)<_c_i __ _, 

l<bJ\7)<Cl land not the others, particularly sincel(b)i_7J(C) lalready lived closer to 
the campus than the other Associates did. According to the supervisor, otherl._<b_ll7_lc_c_) __ __. 
complained to her about the decision. The former Facilities Mana ement Chief told us 
he did not recall recommending to Mr. Dorman that he approve {bJ(?)(CJ equcst. 

Durin this investigation, we noted that the rental amount deducted ,...fr._..o,,.,.,.,.,......, 
(b)(?)(C) biweekly pay remained constant ftoml(b)<7l<Cl luntil at least (b>!Jl<Cl 

Cbll7 )(C) Veterans Health Administration policy requires that rental rates for quarters be 
adjusted annually [VHA Handbook 7631.2, paragraph 9a]. We further noted that, 
compared to similar private rental property in the l(b)t7icci I area, Healthcare 
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System officials chargedl1.-(b_K1
_· ''_ci ___ .... J significantly less for the on-station quarters she 

occupied. 

Conclusion 

Based on financial data lbH
7

HCJ s mitted, she enjoyed a significant financial gain 
by living in VA quarters. (bl\?)(C) requested to live on-station because she found 
her own nearby house too expensive to maintain. Her request to do so while she earned 
money from the lease of that house constituted a misuse of her public office for personal 
gain. Additionally, Healthcare System officials may have charged j<blm1cl I a 
rental rate significantly lower than the prevaillng market rate. 

Recommended Action(s) 1. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Seivice Network 22, ensure that appropriate administrative action is taken against 

J{bJ(7)\CJ I for using her public position for personal gain, and give her appropriate 
notice to vacate VA quarters. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the Director, Veterans Integrated 
Service Network 22, ensure that the rental rates charged to employees living in quarters 
at the West Los Angeles campus are up-to-date and properly calculated. 

Comments 

The Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, concurred with the 
recommendations, noting that appropriate administrative action was taken against 
jlbl(~; land that she vacated the quarters in October 2005. The Network Director 
fU er stated that he would review the facility's compliance with Veterans Health 
Administration policy regarding establishing rental rates for quarters, and provide a copy 
of those findings to us. The Network Director's comments were responsive to the 
recommendations, and we will foHow up to ensure they are fully implemented. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

,-..\. ~ ' , ·J 
( / ~:i ____, I\, • ~ I• .Y· .I. . I , . -.,__,-1 ~)\f\..>· ' . 

(~ ~ (,oANIEL R. PETROLE 
Assistant Inspector Genera) for 

Investigations 
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Director Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

Date: March 31, 2006 

Memorandum 

From: Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22 (ION22) 

Subject: Administrative Investigation - Misuse of Position, VA 
Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, West Los 
Angeles, CA 

To: Assistant Inspector General for Investigations (51} 

VA Office of Inspector General 

Appendix A 
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Adminislrative Investigation - Misuse of Position 
VA Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, West Los Angeles. CA 

Director's. Comments 
to Office of Inspector General's Report 

The fo11owing Director's comments are submitted in response 
to the recommendation(s) in the Office of Inspector General's 
Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s} 

Recommended Action(s) I. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensure that 
a ro riatc administrative action is taken against 

(b)(TJ\Cl for using her public position for personal gain, 
and give her appropriate notice to vacate VA quarters. 

Concur Target Completion Date: April 7, 2006 

We have concluded that although l<bl(7)(CJ !experienced 
a persona) ain using her public position, it was unintentional. 
(bl{ )(C) vacated VA quarters on jlbH?J(CJ 

(b)(?)(C) was instructed to completc'-w-e-=-b""'b,_as-ed-:--tr-a.,....in-:-in_g_ 
fowid on www.usoge.gov, entitled, Misuse of Position 
Interactive WBT (2001 ). In addition we have formally 
counselled her regarding the findings of the OIG report. 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We recommend that the 
Director, Veterans Integrated Service Network 22, ensure that 
the rental rates charged to employees living in quarters at the 
West Los Angeles campus are up-to-date and properly 
calculated. 

Concur Target Completion Date: May 30, 2006 

We will review compliance with VHA Handbook 7631.2, 
Requirements for the Continued Operation of Quarters and 
Establishing Quarters Rental Rates, dated October 1, 2003. A 
copy of our findings will be provided to your office. 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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Appendix B 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact Judy Shelly .1 .... <b_
1
<
1
_

11
_c) ___ _ 

Acknowledgments Linda Fournier 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
Office of Inspector General 

Washington, DC 20420 

TO: VA Secretary (00) 

SUBJECT: Administrative Investigation -Alleged Reprisal of a Contract Employee 
by the Contractor, Asheville, North Carolina, 2004-02823-IQ-0157 

Summary 

We investigated an allegation that MedQuist, Inc., a VA contractor, reprised against one 
of its employees, terminating her, because she made disclosures to VA officials, an agent 
of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), and a U.S. Senator. We found that the 
allegation was not credible because of compelling evidence that MedQuist would have 
terminated the employee in the absence of such disclosures. 

Introduction 

On June 16, 2004, l(b)(?i(Cl I formerly an employee ofl\bl<7
J(CJ la VA 

contractor, alle ed in a letter to the VA Inspector General that she had been reprised 
against by fb)\ J(C) for disclosures she made to VA officials, an FBI agent, and then­
Senator John Edwards. At about the same time, l\b)(7){CJ I filed a similar complaint 
with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). OSHA is authorized 
by the Sarbanes-Oxle Act to investigate certain allegations of reprisal. Except for 
interviewing b)(?)!Cl and obtaining some documentary evidence, we suspended 
action on her a egations endin OSHA's completion of its investigation. On July 15, 
2005, OSHA notified Cb)\?)(C) it had corn Ieted its investigation and was dismissing 
the case as unfounded. OSHA advised (bll7 l(Cl of her right to file an objection to its 
findings within 30 days, but she did not do so. Subsequently, we independently reviewed 
documentary evidence submitted by IM'.7\iC) ~s well as documentary evidence OSHA 
shared with us, including its investigative report and j<bH7HC) !written response to the 
allegation. We concluded that l\bJ\?l;CJ I allegation of reprisal was unfounded. 



(b)(l)(C) 

Administrative Investigation - Alleged Reprisal of a Contract 
Employee by the Contractor, Asheville, North Carolina 

Results 

Jssue: Whetherl._(b_)<_1 i_,c_, ___ _.I officials reprised against ,_jlb_11_11_1c_l ______ ___, 

Federal law prohibits a Government contractor from discharging, demoting, or otherwise 
discriminating against its employees as a reprisal "for disdosing to a Member of 
Congress or an authorized official of an executive agency or the Department of Justice 
information relating to a substantial violation of law related to a contract .. " According 
to the law, an employee who believes he or she has suffered such reprisal may submit a 
complaint to the executive agency's Inspector General. The law re-quires that office to 
investigate the complaint and submit a report of findings to the complainant. the 
contractor concerned, and the head of the agency (41 USC §265(a), (b)J. 

ibl(
7

HCI became an employee ofl(bJi7itCl la medical transcription services company, 
(b)(7)(C) 

i l\ C) continued using the technology the acquired company had developed for 
transferring transcriptions to VA, a s stem called (b)( J(~I which transferred dara 24 
hours a day, 7 days a week. tb){?){C) was the ib)(?)(C) L------------------' 

fbJ{7)(CJ Jtold us that in I I she contacted the VA official who was then the 
Integrated Data Commwtication Utility Security Officer, to discuss concerns she had 
aboutjtblt7J\c) I practice of sending VA dictated medical records to India and possibly 
Pakistan via the Internet for transcription. She said she was concerned. about the security 
implications of sending personal infom1ation about veterans (and active duty personnel) 
to those countries. The former Security Officer confirmed that in approximate! mid-
blC7HCl contacted him and reported security concerns regarding tbH

7
l(C) 

andling of VA records. Around this time,l(b)(7J(C) I also contacted one o._r-tw-·o-o-th_e_r__. 
VA information security officials. She suggested that l\b)(ll(CJ I management learned of 

her disclosures to VA officials about 2 weeks later because at that time company 
managers called and read to her an electronic mail messa e from a VA contracting officer 
asking if \tb)(7J!C) !outsourced transcription work. ib)(?J\Cl said the managers told 
her she would be fired if she talked to anyone about the outsourcing or security 
violations. 

In l<b)(l)(C) 12002,[!b)(?)(Ci I reportedlM7l1C) I overseas outsourcing of transcription 
services to the FBI, and the followin • month. she notified l{b)(?JiCl I officials in writing 

that she had done so. In (bJ(
7 l<C1 afo .. 'I" learning that the FBI closed the issue as a 

criminal matter, (bl\?)(Cl reported the activity and her security concerns to then­
Senator John Edwards. We do not know if management was awarelib)(7)(C) I wrote to 
Senator Edwards. l(bl(l)(C) lalso filed complaints with OSHA. OSHA dismissed an 
initial complaint, filed April 2003, because it was untimely and not protected under the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and because the evidence did not demonstrate she suffered a 
material adverse action or had been subjected to a hostile work environment. 1,_\b_l<7_H_c_i _ __. 

VA Office of Inspector General 2 
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________________ E_m_,p_lo~y_e_e_b'--y_th_e_Co_n_tr_ac_tor, Asheville, North Carolina 

was aware of this complaint b 14, 2003, the date it responded to the allegations. In 
j(bJ(7)(C) 12 months after tbl\7 l<C) was terminated, she filed a second complaint with 
OSHA, which, as noted above, OSHA investigated. 

l\t>)(7HC) I told us that beginning in September 2002, when she notified l<b)(?JiCJ lof her 
contact with the FBI, she was shunned and treated poorly at work. For example, she said 
the air conditioning in her office was turned off and she was forbidden to open a window, 
the lock on her otfice door was taped so that she could not lock it, her office was the only 
one not painted, her food was stolen from the refrigerator, employees whistled under their 
breath at her, and she was ignored by other staff at work. She alleged that the reprisal 
culminated onj(o)<7l\Cl !when MedQuist management eliminated her position and 
terminated her from the company. l<bJ{711c) lsaid that, although management promised 
to help her find another position within the company, they did nothing. 

In its response to OSHA regarding l(b)\
7

JccJ I allegations, MedQuist argued that it 
would have terminated her even in the absence of her disclosures because ( 1) MedQuist 
eliminated the Autotype technology, and (2) because the company closed its rb)(?){C) 

office. '--------' 

Regarding the l(b)(
7

)(C) I technology, beginning in rb)\?)(C) I communicated with 
VA via the Department's virtual private network, "One-VPN." VA required that a single 
individual have security access to One-VPN. For MedQuist, that person was !tbl\

7
l{C) 

l(bX7l<Ci l use of l\1:>X7HCl I was problematic because VA required thatL......th_c_p-er_s_o_n_. 
acces.<ring One-VPN be the person who actually held the security access. In fact, 
however, multi Je transcribers at Med.Quist were accessing One-VPN through liblC7liC) 

with {bJ(?\(C) access scripted into the program. This arrangement required that 
Cb)!

7 1cc\ be present at all times while \bJU)(C) was operational. Electronic mail 
messages show that throughout bH J< l complained she was workin excessive 
hours to avoid having to disable her security access and leave \I:>)< 1\ l without 
connectivity to VA, except by a time-consuming manual method. VA officials gave 
rb)(,)(C) I interim authorit to access One-VPN this way, acknowlcd . it was a 
security risk. In <bl{?)(C) noted that she was aware \b)(?)\Cl was trying 
to find an alternative to (bJ(7)<Cl And, in {b)(TJ{ ) officials, including 

IM<7J!CJ I met with VA's Office of Cyber Security to discuss the company's lans to 
move to a new communication technology, which would negate the need fo lbJ<?l\Cl 

,.;..;.;,,6~-....,.---'incident brought the problem usingl<b;(7)(C) Ito a head. At that time, 
took 2 weeks off and told {b)(?)(Cl employees they could not operate 

a.,.,,..,,,.,.,.,~-,.---' 

her absence. When (b)t7 J<CJ ontacted VA to confirm this, VA ordered the 
contractor not to access One-VPN in (b)<7l<Cl bsence. According to l(bH7l(C) I this 
had the immediate effect of shutting own a computer communications to VA for all the 
medical centers it serviced. [<bJi7)(C) jimplemcntcd an emergency manual system but 
stated that the backlog of transcripts "cxp1oded," resulting in a 2-week "disaster." 
According to l(b)(7)(CJ I the incident accelerated its need lo find a new technology 
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platform. In l._(0.,..i1_7 l_(c_
1 ,---------___.I discontinued usingllbJ(7)\CJ I As a result, 

l(bJi7)ici I had no duties to perform. 

Regarding the closure ofl(b)(?)(C) lofficeJbl:7HCJ !stated that due to the 
Small Business Administration Act of 2000, that office lost a significant amount of 
revenue because the company could no longer quali as a small business and thus could 
not renew contracts it previously had. According to (b)!?)(C) revenue dropped from $8 
million to approximate! $1.5 million and by 2002 it could no longer justify maintaining 
its Asheville office. ibl(7JiCl stated it gave notice that it would lease its office munth­
to-month, and said the building owners accepted an offer to sell the building to an 
unrelated party. l·:b1t7)1c1 lwas terminated the same day the office closed,l._(b_J(7_x_c_i _ ____, 
ltb)(7)\C) I 

In response tol(b)(l){C) J allegations of changes in her work environment,l._(b_ll_7 1_,c_i -~ 
stated it had no idea what she was referring to when she alleged her air conditioning was 
turned off. Her office also housed a significant number of computers, and l.._(b-l(7_11_·c_1 ___ _, 

argued that if it turned off the air conditionin which it denied doin , its equipment 
would have heen damaged. OSHA's re ort of <b)(7)\Cl initial (b)t7l<C) allegations 
to the agency states that, according to (bJ(

7JiC) the day she com lained about the air 
conditioning being off it was corrected. Further, according to <blt7KC) the reason 

l(b)\7l(Ci !was asked to stop opening a certain window was because that window was 
broken, and the reason her office was not painted was because it would have been 
difficult to continue using the com utcr servers, which were in her oflice, while the 
painting was in progress. (bl(l)(Ci denied allegations that !tbi\7JtCl I work 
environment became more hostile, and OSHA determined that electronic mail messages 
she submitted as evidence of harassment did not appear to represent anything more than 
the disputes and disagreements found in a typical workplace. Finally, OSHA stated that 

l<bJ\7){Cl I believed most of the harassment was orchestrated by the former office 
manager, but said l(b)f7Jcc) !did not provide sufficient evidence demonstrating the 
manager had discriminatory motives and noted that the two did not have a good 
relationship prior to her disclosures. 

In response to \<b)(7)(Cl I allegation that l'b)(?l\Cl I did little to help her find other 
employment within the company ,!tb)l

7
)(C) I argued it made numerous etforts. l .... (b_H_

7l_(c_, __ ~ 
noted that its Regional Vice-President made inquiries to identify suitable sitions for 

jtb)(7)1C) lincluding distributing her resume to technical groups within (b){7)(C) and 
meeting with a Re ional Applications Specialist to discuss jobs posted on l'-<b_)F_. ll_c_; __ ___, 
intranet. (b)(7)(C said it had no other facility that used j<bJl7)(C) I so it could not 
transfer 1bl(7)(Cl an<l allow her to continue with that technology. In any case, 

(bl\7)(C) told (b){l)(C) she could not leave the rb)(7)(C) I area and could do only 
limited travel. In its investigation, OSHA did not substantiate that l\b)(7)(CJ I made little 
effort to find l(b)i7!(C) !employment. 

------··---
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Administrative Investigation - Alleged Reprisal of a Contract 
__ Em~~oyee by the Contractor, Asheville, North Carolina 

l<bJ(?)(C) I was not the onl~(b){?)(C) lcmployec of thcl'b)(lJICl !office terminated when 

that office closed. The office's billing and payroll coordinator told OSHA investigators 
that she was terminated from the company on or about March 31, 2004. She attributed 
her termination to the transfer of her responsibilities to another l<bJ(?)(Cl I office. In 
addition, both she and a l'b)(7J\CJ I representative noted that three other positions in the 

l(b)(?J(C) I office were eliminated. The l<b){?)(Cl I representative stated that these were 
part-time clerica] positions. He said one of the clerical employees resigned in 
anticipation of the office closing and the other two were terminated. The employees who 
remained onl'bJ(?)(C) ]payroll were account managers, who began working from their 
homes when the Asheville office closed. Account managers are liaisons between 

llbl-:7J<C) I transcribers and its clients. 

Conclusion 

The evidence demonstrates that l<bJ:7 l<C) I termination ofl<bJ(?)(C) I was unrelated to 
the disclosures she made to VA, the FBI, or Senator John Edwards. Althoughl .... :b_H_7l·_:c_J _ __, 

management was aware in l<b)(?)iCJ I of l(b)(!)(CJ I disclosure to the FBI, and 
may have known of her disclosures to VA and Senator Edwards, they terminated her 
because they no longer needed her services as thej-:bH7HCJ I The 

l(b)(?)(C) I system did not have the security features VA required to allow it to properly 
monitor who was accessin its One-VPN network. Although VA allowed, as an interim 
measure, multiple \bH 7l\Cl transcribers to us~(b)(7J(Cl I with l<bJ(?){Ci I access 
scripted into the program, this was problematic for both l<bl\7J<C) 
because libJ(?)(C) I had to be present whcnl(b)(!)(C) lwas,_o_p_er_a-ti_n_g_. -E=,-le-c-tr_o_n-ic_m_a_i_l _. 

messages submitted by both parties disclose that l(b)r})(C) ~elationship with company 
officials significantly deteriorated because of her (correct) insistence that only she was 
authorized access to One-VPN and had to monitor the system whenever it was operating. 

l(b)(7 J(C) I apparently did not contact VA to determine the validity of her assertions until 
l{b)(?J{C) I at which time they were directed not to access One-VPN in her absence. 
The incident in l<b)(?)(C) I when l{bi'JJIC) I took 2 weeks of leave accelerated 

\bH?J\CJ desire to abandon l<bJ:?)(C) I and they did so within the next 2 months. If 
<bJ\7liC) officials harbored any ill-will towardsl'b)i7JCC) I it is reasonable to assume 
such ill-will was because of their frustration, or at least misunderstanding, over her 
refusal to breach her securit with One-VPN. lbis issue loomed so large throughout 

l(b)(7)(C\ lthat to assert f.b)(?)(CJ flicials tem1inatedlM:7i(C) I for any other reason is not 

credible. 

C . h (b'J(7)t'C) d . . d. . (b)(?)<C) , d . , .oncurrent wtt ec1s1on to 1scontmue use o was its ec1s1on to 
close the (bJi7l(C) office. Four other positions, in addition to (b)\7 )(C) were 
eliminated. Cb)(?J(CJ was unwilling to relocate outside the <bl\?J<C) area. Regardless 
of whether <b){?)(C) could have made a greater effort to find her other employment in 
the company, such as a position she could have performed from her home, its business 
decision to close the office appears to be legitimate and credible. 

VA Office of Inspector General 5 
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l<bli7Hci !allegation that she was terminated byl1b)(?)(cJ I for disclosing information 
to VA, the FBI, and Senator Edwards is not credible in light of compellin evidence that 

l(b)(7)(Cl I would have . taken that action absent such disclosures. \blC7HCJ had a 
legitimate business reason for discontinuing t11el!bl<71ic; !system. Since ·:b HCl was 
the CbH J( l her <luties and position were necessarily affected. 
Regarding tbll 7J(C) allegation that she was treated poorly at work as reprisal for 
making disclosures, OSHA previously determined that the ev)dence represented nothing 
more than the disputes and disagreements found in a typical workplace. 

VA Office of Inspector General 

DANIEL R. PETROLE 
Assistant Inspector General for 

Investigations 
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Appendix A 

OIG Contact and Staff Acknowledgments 

OIG Contact l(b](7'1(C) 

Judy Shelly,~ ____ _. 
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DEPARTMENT OF iTERANS AFFAIRS 

Office of Ins tor General 
Washlngto ,DC 20420 

TO: Under Secretary for Health ~O) 

SUBJECT: Administrative lnvestigatio l Financial Irregularities, VA Medical 
Center, Washington, DC 

Summary 

We substantiated that the former <bJ<7J<C> at the VA Medical Cent r in 
Washington, DC, instructed a subordinate t ~remove aged financial records from A's 
central accounting system and that the Medi ·hi Centerl<6X7><C> !was awar this 
action was being discussed but, despite havi $been advised it was improper, allowe the 
records to be removed. We concluded th \removal was intentional and was do e to 
improve the facility's financial indicators. tAlthough we found no evidence tha the 
manipulation of the financial records resulte iin misappropriations, we did determine that 
some accounts needed management attcntio ! I 

! 

' 

Introduction I 
The VA Office of Inspector Genera), Admin ~rative Investigations Division, investi ted 
an allegation that managers at the Washingt ·, DC, VA Medical Center were respon ible 
for the intentional removal of certain finan tl records from VA's accounting syste in 
order to meet applicable perfonnance stan ju-ds. The allegation was raised duri g a 
DeJoitte & Touche audit at the medical cent t. To assess the allegation, we intervi ed 
the medical center's current and former <b>17J!CJ managers, the ... <b_} __ > ---~---' 
the Director, other knowledgeable VA e ~loyees, and members of the Deloitt & 
Touche audit team. We reviewed the Deloi · & Touche draft report, a prior relevan VA 
Management Quality Assurance Service re ort, pertinent correspondence, and Fe eral 
law and VA policy. Following the Deloitt ! and Touche audit, we also reviewed ash 
receipts and deposit procedures, and unap led deposit Suspense Account activiti s to 
determine whether funds were misappropriat tl. 
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Administrative Investigation, FinJncial 
lrre ularities, VA Medical Center, Washin to , DC 

Results 

Issue 1: Whether managers at the W $hington1 DC, VA Medical Center 
directed staff to remove financial record from the accounting system 

! 

Federal law requires executive agencies t ~stablish internal accounting controls j~hat 
assure revenues and expenditures are pro rly recorded and accounted for [31 vSC 
§3512(c)J. VA policy provides that the fi ancial accounts of the Department ar the 
official source of all financial statements a 41 reports, and that accounting policies and 
procedures must provide full disclosure oft b results of financial operations throu an 
orderly system for controlling and recordin i financial transactions on the accrual asis 
[MP-4, Part V, Chapter l, Section lA.01 J 1A.03J. The policy requires that hen 
undelivered orders and accrued services ~ve been outstanding for an unreaso able 
length of time, the fiscal activity must not ~ the initiating office, which in tum must 
determine and report back on the status of each authorization or order [MP-4, Parit V, 
Chapter 3, Section 3B.03jJ. Regarding ac ¢iunts receivables, VA policy requires :that 
when collection action has been suspende j or ref erred elsewhere for collcction,i the 
receivable is to remain part of the total outsl pding receivable balance of the Depart*cnt 
[VA Directive 4669, paragraph 2g]. · ! 

! i 
I 

This issue was presented to a US Attorney a d criminal prosecution was declined. 1 

' 
In April 2005, during Deloitte & Touche's udit of VA's fiscal year 2005 Consoli ted 
financial statements at the Washington'. DC Medical Center, the medical center's t en-
~> · _ Jad ·ised the auditors that senior manageme tat 
the facility had recently instructed her offic : to remove certain records relating to ged 
accounts receivables, undeHvered orders, ~nd accounts payables from the ce~tral 
accounting system in order to obtain fav ~able financial indicators. Based on •this 
disclosure, Deloitte & Touche's November 05 draft report (see Appendix A) idendfied 
a "distinct" reduc~ion that occurred in March l005 in the ~eported balances of the metical 
center's non-medical care collection fund a counts receivables, accounts payables, and 
undelivered orders. The auditors reported that the balances in these three categ ries 
between February 2005 and April 2005 dee eased by a total of over $22.8 million, I and 
involved the removal of 1,126 records. Th :Y said this action raised the medical c~ntcr 
from a "red light" indicator (more than 30 p ¢ent of the account balance is more th~ 90 
days old) to a "green light" indicator (at leas ro percent of the account balance is 60 ays 
old or less). The Dcloitte & Touche draft dport concluded that this "manipulatio ~, of 
the balances appeared to be intentional in or ~r to present to the users of the information 
a more favorable circumstance than was th !case, and that the action compromise9 the 
integrity of VA 's financial reporting mechan ~ms. · ' 

Prior to this incident, in July 2004, VA' i Management Quality Assurance Set!vice 
conducted a revenue review at the Washing n, DC, Medical Center and found a sjtilar 
situation, in that aged medical accounts rec lvable records had been removed fro .. 

1 
the 

l 
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central accounting system at the time those iaims were referred to an outside sour~, for 
collection. In a Management Letter to t e Deputy Under Secretary for Healt for 
Operations and Management and to the Vet tms Health Administration's Chief Fin cial 
Officer, the Service Director communicated ¢oncern about this practice and noted ~at it 
was contrary to VA policy. i · 

i ; 
~(b~~~X~)----~ ' I 

'--:-:---:----;:;:;::;;;;:;::;~;;..bec.:..::..::a::.:m=-=.e 1at the Washington, DC, Medical C~nter 
..,,....,;,.;.,,.,,~--------..:;;;a;;;;.nd.;;;....;.w.:...;;a;;.;;;s_i;:,:;r.:::.;omoted tp l(b)(7l(C 1 I her current posiltion, 

Prior tb l<bl(7XC> I she was employed at another 
'::-r:r--:c--r:~........,-----rt-o':'""ld:--us__,· that a lone or mor · s ·n March 2005 with 

Associate Director~ 
._a_n_,d_o_t.,..he_rs_,-th_e_p_art_i_c-ip_a_n-ts-d1-. s-cu_s_s-ed-t-hc-1 ,_r_g_e_n_u_m_b_e_r_o_f_a_g_e_d_r__.ecords in the sy~tem, 

their effect on the facility's financial indicat rs, and how to immediately move to a *1ore 
favorable position. She said she explained llh. at to properly improve the indicator, her 
office needed to first determine, through r ·searching each aged record in the sy tern, 
whether that record should, in fact, be wri n off. She said she explained that the only 
way to improve the indicators immediate! ! was to remove all the aged records1 and 
research each one at a later date. (bl< <Cl told us she was not suggesting th,t the 
latter option be taken, but was only explain' · how to get a "green light" indicator. She 
said, following this discussion, she asked < (

7
l(Cl what he wanted her to do, and/said 

he told her to remove the aged records. 

r)(f)(C) I i;:rovided us an electronic ~ii message, which ){ )( sent t I her 
(with a copy to r><7xci Ion March 24, 2 ,5. According to the message, '-(b_X_c_1 __ _. 
directed her to 11close out all aging obligat ~ms and payables that are greater than 120 
day[s]." He noted that the process was a te '.porary measure and that a complete reyiew 
of all the affected records needed to be pr tided to him and tol(bJ<7>tCl lby June 30, 
2005. j<6><7l<t} !attached to this messag Ian earlier set of electronic messages, dated 
February 22, 2005, in which l(bl<7>CCJ I au lforizedl(bH7l<Cl I to "decrease purcpase 
order[s] that are over 120 day[s] old where ijc vendor has not invoiced for paymen and 
attempts have been made to contact the v ridor." l<bX7l<CJ I told us she di not 
recall receiving this set of messages until 't asked her to research her electronic ail 
account, and said she could not comment on how she may have interpreted Cbl<7J<CJ .___ ______ __. 

March 24 instructions to her in the context o ~he February 22 messages. \ 
I 

The following day, March 25, lblm<cl sent another electronic messag~ to 
tX7><C> I directing her to remove ce ~in accounts receivable records a ain ·as a 
temporary measure, and to review the rec zl.ds and report to him and to (b < > c> by 
June 30. The accounts receivables referenc ~ in this message represented funds ow'd to 
the medical center by employees who had b en on leave without pay and had not repaid 
their share of the cost of health insuran benefits they received during that ~imc. 
According to a Deloitte & Touche auditor, }!iesc records were part of the I, 126 records 
removed from the accounting system in Mar h and April 2005. 
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~-:"'T"'""-~------------------r!told us he left his position as {b)( l 
....__.---Jat the Washington, DC, Medical C hter in l(b)<7l(C} I He ackn,_o_w_l_ed_g_e.,...d_h_e__. 
instructed l<b><7xcl . · I to remove fr th the accounting system aged accounts 
receivable records relating to employees {1ho had been on leave without pay,! but 
repeatedly told us he did not recall instructi ' her to remove other a ed records. He.said 
that, during multiple meetings with <bl( l( l stated that the ~arge 
number of aged records needed to be redu ed and repeatedly asked how that could be 
done. Further, according to (b)(?J(CJ asked what the Washington, loc, 
Medical Center was doing wrong, as othe ! facilities were meeting their perfonnbce 
expectations. In early 2005, l<b){7)(c~ lgav (b><7HC> a written counseling rega~ii-ng 
his performance on the financial indicator , 1 and said that, by the enki of 
March 2005, h~s office was reporting week y or bi-weekly to j<b><7J(C) I on its pro4ress 
and plans for reducing the balances. 'lb oe times during our initial interview ;with 

jtb)flxcr I he testified that l<b><7XC> I dire 'led him to remove aged records relatiqg to 
employees who had been on leave without p y. However, during a second interview .with 
him 9 days Jater, he told us f6R7)<Cl I did r t specifically direct that to happen but! told 
him to "fix" the problem. J 

r)fl}(c) ltoJd US it W3S possible that he qid instructl{b)(?)(C) Ito remove ~ged 
records from other account balances, but ii !!le did so, he said it would have been pnly 
after many discussions with l<bX7ltc> I He 6ld us he knew it was wrong to remov~ the 
records without first detenninin . on an indi idual basis if that was the appropriate cqurse 
of action. He noted that the <bX7><C> andl(bX7>(C} !engaged lin a 
"heated" discussion because s e was adama ~ that aged records not be removed from the 
accounting system without first properly res arching the appropriateness of doing soJ He 
said he was aware that in 2004 the Ma ' ement Quality Assurance Service rdiscd 
concerns about aged medical accounts rece tables being improperly removed froni the 
central acco.untin s stem, and noted tha las a result, those transactions had t~ be 
reversed. ( ><

7
>< l said the !bl! < l was severely understaffed and not abJe to 

do the research required to remove aged rec rlds. He said he did not intend to violat~ VA 
policy in March 2005, but wanted to ren jye the records to obtain a more acc~rate 
reflection of the medical center's financial sl tus. • 

; I F7)(c) I confinned that he and the (bl(
7

l(Cl ~ff had many meetings discussing fin~: cial 
indicators and the need to take action to imp chve them. He did not recall any discus ions 
specifically focused on accounts receivable tcords relating to employees who had . een 
on leave without pay. He said the staf discussed with him the need to resdarch 
individua1 records to determine if each sh uld properly be written off and rccall~d a 
group discussion about removing aged recor t and researching them later. He said hJ did 
not recall anyone advisin~ him that research ~ .. g the records after they were removclwas 
wrong or problematic. j<b~~(C} !told us h idid not know the fiscal staff was goi g to 
remove the records, and said he expected improvement in the indicators would e a 

' ' i 
I 
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lengthy and gradual process. He said he did rtot learn the records were removed unti~ the 
~etwork Chief Financial Officer called t discuss the situation in early April 2005. 
Fma1ly,j<6X7><c} · I acknowledged he was fa : iliar with the findings of the Management 
Quality Assurance Service's 2004 review i the Washington, DC, Medical Center and 
knew the practice of removing medical ace tints receivable records from the acco~ting 
system was wrong, but he said he did not late the concerns from that review to qther 
(non-medical care) aged records at the time. I 
The durin ucstion told us that, duri g a 
meeting with <bJ(7K l staff around <bX?J(C) (Cl instructed the sta to 

'--------.-.-----~~-------' 
im rove the financial indicators " 'eans." She said that, in the presen of 

iacusscd that they would remove the re ords 
an con uc t e appropnate research at a lat ti date. She said the discussion concern~ all 
aged records. not just those relating to em oyees who had been on leave without :pay. 
Finally, she told us she argued against rcmo lng the records rematurely and, as a result, 

l11>X7XC> lwas "so upset with me during the 1 10nth of tbll7l(Cl 

A medical center employee who was tempo rily detailed to the (b)( >!C> urin the 
time in ~vuestion told us she was in a meetin !flear the end of March 2005 with <b><

7
><C> 

thej(b){7)() land others. She said (bJ(7HC> told the rou they need d to 
im~rove the financial indicators, and tha ! the \bH7J(C) explaine to 

j<bl<7 c) l the proper procedures that need · to be followed before removing an ged 
record. She said she did not hear (b)(?!!Cl specifically direct that the record be 
removed. Further, she told us that, during nc meetin , the (bJ( l<CJ and 
rb)('fXCJ. lwere engaged in a conflict bccu SC the ibJ(?)(C) told him il wa not 
proper to remove records without first rese' thing the appropriateness of doing so. She 
said it was her impressionfbl<7

><
0

> !did not 1ant to hear that. I 

Issue 2: Whether the Manipulation o financial Records Resulted in ! 
Misappropriations I 

The results of the VA Consolidated Fina ¢ial Statement Audit for fiscal year ~005 
showed that the VA medical center in ashington D.C. intentionally manipu{ated 
financial records in an effort to secure a f; iJorable performance metric. The Vetdrans 
Health Administration (VHA) used the "r . light-green light" system to measure! key 
operational elements in fiscal operations. (!Jreen lights are assigned to facilities jwho 
report that 70 percent of their accounts rece vable balances are 60 days old or less. !Red 
lights are assigned to facilities who repo ti more than 30 percent of their accdunts 
receivable to be more than 90 days old. A ~it tests conducted by Deloitte and Toµche 
confirmed ·that the VA medical center cl $ed long outstanding accounts recciv4tble, 
accounts payable, and undelivered order counts from official records and ret~ined 
unofficial records to keep track of these ace nts (Sec Appendix A to review Deloittq and 
Touche's draft report). The VA medical ce1 tcr manipulated this data to achieve a green­
light performance metric. 1bese actions co promised the intcgrit y of the VA· s finicial 

' l 
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l . : i 
reportmg process, and placed the accounts that were removed at risk of being lost to 
recovery or needed follow-up actions. · · 

There was no evidence of misappropriati 
1

s but some accounts needed manage ent 
attention. During our review, we determin . that the balances recorded in the uno 1cial 
accounting records for Accounts Receivable tlhat were inappropriately reduced durin the 
period February to April 2005 were consiste t with the balances recorded in the Financial 
Management System (FMS) as of January 80, 2005. Receipts for Federal Emplpyee 
Health Benefit (FEHB) Accounts Receiva !es that were reduced were recorded in the 
Suspense Account. Vendor Accounts Rece tables that were reduced were offset by the 
Austin Finance Center and were not record ti in the Suspense Account. 1be follorving 
conditions were identified: . ' 

• Accounts Receivables that were remo\ • from official records or inappropri~tely 
reduced had not been reestablished in V ~s accounting system. J 

• Cash receipts recorded in the Suspen ·c Account during fiscal year 2005 iere 
deposited in the medical center's Federal Reserve account. 

• Amounts transferred from the Suspense ccount were not misappropriated. 

• Procedures for verifying Federal Reserv ~eposits needed to be improved. 
I 
I 

Accounts Receivables Need To Be Reesta I 

During the period February to April 2005, (bi\?)(CJ inappropriately decreaseJ 269 
long outstanding Accounts Receivables va ued at about $263,230 in order to acttieve 
favorable indicators in the monthly financi Ii reports. 1 These long outstanding acctunts 
were removed from official fiscal recor ,, and recorded on an in-house elect onic 
spreadsheet. At the time of our review, thes ~ccounts had not been reestablished in MS 
for current employees or vendors, or in the lhtegrated Funds Distribution, Control ~oint 
Activity, Accounting and Procurement for rrner employees. As a result, the Acc1unts 
Receivables are still not being controlled by ,A's accounting system. · 

I 

Cash Receipts Were Deposited 

We validated that cash receipts collected b ahe Agent Cashier in fiscal year 2005 ~ere 
deposited in the Federal Reserve Accoun .: We reviewed 80 cash receipts tot11ling 
$93,424. l l and the corresponding deposits y the Agent Cashier. We identified 20 ~ash 
receipts totaling $40, 12 I.37 that were rec ded as unappJied deposits in the Sus~ense 

I . 

' This amounl ..n.d from tho oontracto<'• •<Port« m .~oo in"'°""" cooeivable "'"""' wo indudod ,.L .• 
for deceased employees, employees that had returned tot tj medical center rolls, and employees with debts thar were 
subsequently waived, which the contractor excluded. \ 
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Account Our review also included six *ceipts totaling $ l ,081.66 relating to the 
Accounts Receivables that were reduced in rs. I 
Federal Employee Health Benefits - Our ·ivicw of Field Service Receipts (VA ~onn 
1027) prepared by the Agent Cashier di ¢1osed that six employees with Acclunts 
Receivable, totaling $1,081.66, that were r Uuced in FMS made cash payments t the 
Agent Cashier. The payments were made tb satisfy debts that were created whe the 
medical center paid the employees' contrib fon for FEHB while the employees were on 
Leave With-out Pay. The receipt amounts dsted in the manual accounting records were 
consistent with the amounts recorded on ttc Field Service Receipts and the Deposit 
Tickets (Standard Fonn 215). To verify hat the deposits were made to the Fe' eral 
Reserve Bank, we compared the amounts fr tn the Deposit Tickets with the CashLi k II 
screens available through the Federal Res f!ve Bank's onHnc customer access sy tern. 
The CashLink II system tracks all deposits u {ng predetermined numbers from the de osit 
tickets. The bank's records concerning th ! deposits were consistent with the me icaJ 
center's records. I 
Unapplied Deposits Were·Not Misapprop ~ated 

We found no evidence to show that funds 'trc misappropriated. An unapplied de~osit 
(UD) is created in Suspense Account F387 iin FMS when the purpose of a remitt nc(\ 
the appropriation, fund, or receipt account t be credited cannot be determined at the time 
of receipt The remittance is deposited t >' the UD account until disposition c be 
dctennined. VHA financial performance s andards require that all UDs are rese hed 
and credited to the appropriate account 1jhin 90 days. If a deposit remains i the 
Suspense Account for more than 90 days, th I financial indicator on the monthly finicial 
report for the entire Suspense Account will t ln red. . 

' 

As of November 8, 2005, the medical c rtter Suspense Account contained 65 s 
totaling $89,041. We reviewed each U ! to determine the source of the dep sits, 
appropriateness of the credits to each UD, a d the current status of the UD. While w did 
not identify any misappropriations of fund ! from the Suspense Account, we iden ified 
four payments to a FederaJ employee health ~cnefits plan that were made in error. lso. 
some UDs had been in the Suspense Accou t since FY 2003. Our review disclosetthat 
UDs occurred as a result of cash collect ~ms from employees and vendors, pa roll 
deductions, returned checks, and transfers from the Austin Finance Center and ther 
medical facilities. l I 

i 
We traced all disbursements from the l ) Suspense Account to associated p blic 
vouchers or the transfer of the funds to the ~ appropriation. For all cash disburse ents 
to employees we verified that reimburseme \ts were mailed to the employees' addr sses 

I 
of record. i 

VA Office of Inspector General 7 
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Our review of the 65 VD found that 37 had ~en applied to the appropriation, or ret~med 
to the employee or vendor as shown below: , i 

Returned To N Amount 

Canteen 96.03 
Total $37,806.89 

The four payments totaJing $2,262.64 to !he FEHB Plan were made in error. . The 
payments should have been returned to th !appropriation. On December l, 2005~ the 
Fiscal Officer told us that an Accounts Rec ~vable for this amount would be estabJi hed 
and a bill of collection issued in order to g U the funds back from the FEHB Plan, The 
remaining 28 UDs, totaling $51,234.11 had ~11 not been applied to the appropriatiod and 
are currently under review. 

We also reviewed cash received by the Ag ~t Cashier that could not be identified ~ the 
time of receipt and was posted to the Susp nse Account. During the period Octob r I. 
2004i through October 30, 2005, the mcdica center Agent Cashier received cash fro 20 
employees or vendors totaling about $40,12 ]37 that was recorded in the Suspense und. 
Our review of the Federa] Reserve depo u records showed that these receipts ere 
deposited in the Federal Reserve account, a q that the amounts deposited were consi tent 
with the amounts recorded on the Field Serv ~e Receipts and Deposit Tickets prcpar d by 
the Agent Cashier. I 

i 
Procedures for Depositing Receipts Need Improvement 

During our review, we learned that the cdical center was using an armored car 
contractor to make deposits to the bank bu no formal consignment of the receipts was 
made to the contractor. For example, the contractor was only required to sign ~ log 
indicating the number of items received fro l!thc Agent Cashier, with no reference t the 
dollar value of the receipts. Additiona ly, the Agent Cashier was not rout nely 
reconciling the medical center's deposits wit 1i records from the Federal Reserve Ban . 

1 

The Fiscal Officer stated that the bank provi ~d deposits slips to VA Central Office long 
with the deposits slips for all other VA me foal facilities. However, the Agent Ca hier 
could not locate anyone in VA Central fficc that was receiving the deposit lips. 
Therefore, neither the Agent Cashier nor ~iscal Service cou1d provide copies o any 
deposit slips from the bank, nor bank state hts certifying that the amounts deposit by 
the armored car contractor were true am jcorrcct. The Agent Cashier could ave 
perfonncd the reconciliations by using the _ thLink l~~slcm but did not have acce~s to 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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' ' 
the system. The Fiscal Officer stated that t Agent Cashier would be provided acce!ss to 
the CashLink II system and wm be required to reconcile medical center deposits wi~ the 
bank,s receipts. 

1 

I 
Conclusion j 1 

' 

W~~t~) I directed l'bi('l)(C) I who *as his subordinate at the time, to rerhove 
aged fiscal records from VA 's accounting s '~tern, knowing that such action was wJong. 
In writing, he instructed he: to remove acco pts receivab~e records .relating to empl~yees 
who had been on leave without pay, and !reasonable mterpretatron of the Marco 24, 
2005, electronic message he sent to (bH

7
J<Ci is that he also instructed h'r to 

remove all accounts payable records more han 120 da s old. Further, while we qould 
not conclusively determine whether (bJ\7l(C) knew )(Cl was removing ~ged 
records at the time it was happening, accord' ,g to his own testimony, he was aware i~ was 
an option being discussed. He was also ~ware that concerns about simiJar ac~vity 
relating to aged medical accounts reccivabl . had been raised less than a year earlie and 
was in violation of VA policy. We questi rt l<bl<7

>(C) I statement that no one ad ised 
him that researching the records after the 'ere removed was wrong, as several (b x l 
fb!7~~) lstaff told us he and th (b)<7l(Cl ad a heated discussion abo~ the 
proper procedures for removing records. At he time the option of removing aged r~ords 
from the accounting s~stem was discussed in meetings with libl<7J<Cl I he should ~ave 
specifically directedl<6X }(C) I staff not o follow through with it or, at least, dir4cted 
them to discuss the propriety of that optio !With the Network Chief Financial Officer. 
We concluded that the removal of the ag : records was intentional and, accordi11g to 
everyone we interviewed, was done to impn ~e the facility's financial indicators. I 
Regarding whether the manipulation of fin ncial records resulted in misappropriatlons, 
we concluded that it did not. However, ve determined that some accounts nebded 
management attention. . l 

. ' . I 
Recommended Action(s) 1. We rcco mend that the Under Secretary for Health 
ensures appropriate administrative action i i taken against l(bJ(7 J\C) I for dircctihg a 
subordinate to remove aged records from t · VA accounting system, an action he knew 
to be improper. , j 

Recommended Action(s) 2. We reco tnend that the Under Secretary for H~alth 
ensures appropriate administrative action i !taken against l<b)(?)(CJ I for allowing ~ged 
records to be removed from the VA accou ting system, an action his staff advised; him 

• I ' 

was improper and that he should have know :was improper. I 

Recommended Action(s) 3. We rcco1 rnend that the Under Secretary for Health 
require that the VISN and Medical Cente !Directors ensure that: (a) inappropri~tely 
reduced accounts are reestablished in V A's ¢counting system; (b) Accounts Receivables 
are established and bills of collections are i foed for the four erroneous payments tt the 

I 
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FEHB plan; and (c) procedures are estab i~hed to verify all deposits to the Federal 

I Reserve account. 
I 
i 

Comments \ 

The Under Secretary for Health concurred i~h the above findings and rccommendatlons. 
Regarding the recommendations to take jappropriate administrative action a~inst 

1<6)(7xc> I the Under S ~retary stated that he would condu~1 an 
administrative board of investigation and ta e appropriate action based on the result . A 
member of the Under Secretary's staff told ~s the administrative board of investig tion 
would determine the level of administrati : action warranted. The Under Secretary's 
comments are responsive to the recommen ations, and we will follow up to ensure the 
planned actions are implemented. 

VA Offiee of Inspector General 

/J~R.~ 
DANIEL R. PETROLE 

Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations 
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Apperdix B 

Date: 

From: 

Subject: 

To: 

Under Secretary fc Health Comments 

Department of 
Veterans Affairs 

January 26, 2006 

I 
I 

I 

Under Secretary for Health ( H )I 
j 

Memorandum 

Administrative lovestigatio1 l ~ FinanciaJ Irregularities, 
I 

VA MedicaJ Center, Washin
1 

fon, DC 
I , 

Assjstant Inspector General fen ~nvestigations (51) 
i 

l. I have reviewed tht! drnfi lr~port and I concur with your 
findings and recommend ~ions. My response to the 
recommendations is endo.s~Jt 

! 
2. Thank you for the opportur i~y to review the drafl report. 

(original signed by) 

Jonathan B. Perlin, MD, PhD, J~SHA, l'ACP 

; 
I 
' I 
I 

[ 
! 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

' 

I 
-~-
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Under Secretary fo1 4ealth's Comments 
to Office of lnspec k: r General's Report 

I 
I 
I 

The following Under Secret2 v for Health's comments arc 
submitted in response to the nl< ommendation(s) in the Office 
oflnspector General's Report: 

OIG Recommendation(s) 

Recommended Action(s) I. I We . recommend that the 
Under Secretary for Health emJres appropriate administrative 
action is taken againstr1bJ(7)(C) I for directing a subordinate 
to remove aged records from t~e VJ\ accounting system, an 
action he knew to be improper I 

I 

Concur Target Cc fupletion Date: 02/28/2006 

' VHA will conduct an Admini ,(rative Board of Investigation 
on the financial irregularities <1 !the V AMC Washington, DC. 
The Under Secretary for I Ibalth will take appropriate 
administrative action based on ;osc results. 

I 
Recommended Action(s) 2. ! We recommend that the 
Under Secretary for Health ens ires appropriate administrative 
action is taken againstl(bJ(?)(C) for allowing aged records to 
be removed from the VA ace dun ting system, an action his 
staff advised him was impro )fr and that he should have 
known was improper. , 

i 

Concur Target Cc tj1pletion Date: 02/28/2006 
' 

VHA will conduct an Adrnini ~ative Board of Investigation 
on the financial irregularities a ~he VAMC Washington, DC. 
The Under Secretary for J faith will take appropriate 
administrative action based on ~osc results. 

VA Office of Inspector General 
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'' 
Recommended Action(s) 3. ! We recommend that the 
Under Secretary for Health ~equire that the VISN and 
Medical Center Directors en· 4re that: (a) inappropriately 
reduced accounts are rccst2~1ished in VA's accounting 
system; (b) Accounts Receival ks are established and bills of 
collections are issued for the qur erroneous payments to the 
FEHB plan; and (c) procedur $ arc established to verify all 
deposits to the Federal Reserve ~ccount. 

Concur Target 0 ~plelion Date: 02/28/2006 

i 
I 
I 

' --------------·-···· ·--·--·-···----------------
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AppendixD 

Report Di tribution 

VA Distribution 

Deputy Secretary (00 I) 
Chief ofStaff (OOA) 
Executive Secretariat {OOlB) 
Under Secretary for Health ( 10) 
Management Review Service ( 1 OBS) 

To Report Suspected Wrongdoi 

Call the OIG Hotli 

VA Office of Inspector General 

In VA Programs and Operatic. s 

- (800) 488-8244 
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